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WELCOME MEMBERS OF PUBLIC 
 
OPENING PRAYER 
  
Heavenly Father, we ask you to give your blessing to this Council, direct and prosper its deliberations 
to the advancement of your glory, and the true welfare of the people of the Pyrenees Shire. 

Amen 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF COUNTRY 
 

We acknowledge the people past and present of the Wadawurrung, Dja Dja Wurrung, and Djab 
Wurrung tribes, whose land forms the Pyrenees Shire. 
 
We pay our respect to the customs, traditions and stewardship of the land by the elders and people 
of these tribes, on whose land we meet today. 
 
 
APOLOGIES 
  
 
NOTICE OF DISCLOSURE OF INTEREST BY COUNCILLORS AND OFFICERS 
 
 
CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES 
 

Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 21 August 2018 
Closed Meeting of Council held on 21 August 2018 
Special Meeting of Council held 28 August 2018 
 
 
BUSINESS ARISING 
 
 
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND SUBMISSIONS ON AGENDA ITEMS 
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ITEMS FOR NOTING  
 

ASSET AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

1. PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT REPORT 
Katie Gleisner – Manager Planning and Development 
File No: 66/02/02 – 08/02/02 – 50/24/02 – 46/02/02 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update on activities within Planning, 

Development and Regulatory Services, during August 2018.  
 

This report includes four parts: 

 Part A: Planning 

 Part B: Building  

 Part C: Environmental Health 

 Part D: Local Laws 
 

PART A: PLANNING 

The planning activity statistics for July and August 2018 are summarised in the table below:- 
 

Month Applications received Applications determined 

July 2018 11 4 

August 2018 16 12 

 

The following chart identifies the total number and phase of permit applications within Council’s 

planning system including applications received in August 2018 and where in the planning system 

each application sits: 

 

Status of planning permits August 2018 
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Key projects   
Council planning staff have made further presentations to a Government Land Sales Standing 
Advisory Committee hearing regarding the Victorian Government’s proposal to rezone and sell the 
former Beaufort Primary School site.  As part of the process, Council has been seeking the 
application of planning policies that better reflect the significance of the primary school site to 
Beaufort, and better address issues such as heritage significance, flood management and 
integration of the site with the surrounding township.   
 

Given community interest in the site and the difference in policy positions between Council and the 
Department of Treasury and Finance, which is proposing the rezoning, Council has asked that the 
Victorian Government fund an independent urban design expert to work with community groups, 
Council and DTF to develop a planning framework that is suitable for the site.  This is particularly 
important given the repeatedly unsatisfactory proposals put forward by DTF. 
 

Council is now awaiting a report from the committee, which will provide recommendations to the 
Minister for Planning on the proposed planning scheme amendment proposal.  The Minister will 
then make a decision on the proposed planning scheme amendment. 
 

The committee has finalised two additional reports, regarding the rezoning of former DELWP 
depots at 6 Lawrence Street and 31 Camp Hill Road in Beaufort.  Council understands these have 
been provided to the Minister for Planning, but is not aware of any timelines for public release of 
this information. 
  
Statutory planning  
Council has received a planning permit application for a Telecommunications Facility at the Lexton 
Recreation Reserve.  The application is exempt from any public notice requirements or third party 
review rights in the Pyrenees Planning Scheme as the proposed facility would be funded under the 
Commonwealth Black Spot program.   
 

As the site is located on a Crown Land section of the Lexton Recreation Reserve, Council is currently 
awaiting confirmation of DELWP’s consent for the use of the site. 
 

Planning staff have observed an increase in the number of planning permit enquiries being made 
relating to the construction of dwellings within the Farming Zone. This increase highlights the 
continued interest in investment and development within the municipality, but triggers a need for a 
review of our Planning Scheme to develop appropriate objectives, strategies and policies for 
development within the Farming Zone. The review will provide Council with a consistent approach 
to decision making. Staff will now commence collecting figures relating to these specific enquiries 
to inform the direction of a strategic approach to residential development. 
   
Strategic issues   
Council staff are finalising a series of framework plans to guide land use and urban design across six 
townships as part of the Pyrenees Futures project.  Detailed streetscape plans are being drafted for 
Avoca’s town centre in response to community engagement conducted last year. Key themes 
include the need for more shade, seating and consistent character in the area.  The streetscape 
plans will be placed on exhibition along with the first series of Pyrenees Futures framework plans in 
coming months.  
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Planning summary 

1.    Council continues to perform above the state regional local government average for permit 
application turn-around times. 

2.     Council is finalising framework plans for six towns, to be exhibited as part of the Pyrenees 
Futures Project. 

3. Council continues to be involved in negotiations regarding the Victorian Government’s 
proposal to rezone and sell the former Beaufort Primary School site.  Council is advocating for a 
planning approach that appropriately recognises the importance and complexity of the site.  

 
PART B: BUILDING 
 

Activity 

The building activity statistics as at 31/08/2018 are summarised in the table below:  
 

CATEGORY NUMBER COMMENT 

Permits issued by Council 1 Total value $22,500.00 

Permits issued by private Building 

Surveyor 

4 Total value $564,814.00 

 

New applications made to Council 0  

In process 

 

2 

5 

Close to issue 

Further information not supplied or 

insufficient information provided to 

enable permits to issue within 

timeframe. 

 

Key projects & compliance  

The Building Department has experienced a surge in mandatory building permit inspections this 

month as the weather improves and builders increase their workloads prior to Christmas.  
 

The Building Department will be following up on building permits that are due to lapse or have 

lapsed and compliance inspections on illegal building works will continue. 
 

Council’s MBS and Building Inspector inspected a property for compliance with a court order. A 

further Court appearance is scheduled in September for a plea, fine and on the question of legal 

costs. 
 

VicRoads have approved the protection requirements for verandah repairs to be undertaken at a 

major intersection in Beaufort and on Neill Street. 

 

Council plan / legislative requirements 

- Council Plan 2013-2017  
- Building Act 1993 
- Building Regulations 2018 
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Financial / risk implications 

The Municipal Building Surveyor must have regard to any relevant guidelines under the Building Act 

1993 or subordinate regulations. The building services department must ensure that a responsive 

service is provided that meets the demand of the building industry within the municipality. 

 
PART C: ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH 
 

Activity: wastewater 
 

Period 

Applications to Install 

New or Alter Existing  

Septic Tanks Received 

Permits to 

Install 

Issued 

Approval to 

Use Issued 
Fees Paid 

1st - 31st August 2018 2 2 7 $1140 

Wastewater activity statistics for August 2018 

 

Monthly wastewater activity (August 2017 to August 2018) 

 

Period Septic Tank Inspections 
Domestic Wastewater Management 

Plan (DWMP) Inspections 

1st - 31st August 2018 9 7 

Wastewater related Inspections 

 

Domestic Wastewater Service Agent’s Reports received (below).  
 

Period Service Reports Received 

1st - 31st August 2018 10 
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Of the 10 service reports received, 3 were for servicing conducted in August, 2 for July, 2 for April 

and 3 for servicing in 2017.  

 

Activity: food, health & accommodation premises 

Food Act 1984 and Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 Premises activity statistics for August 2018 

are summarised in the table below.   

 

Period 

New  

Premises 

 

Routine 

Inspections and 

Assessments 

 

Follow 

Up 

Inspections 

Complaints 

Received 

about 

Registered 

Premises 

Food 

Recalls 
Fees Paid 

1st - 31st 

August 2018 
5 14 

 

1 0 1 $450 

   

1. Tobacco Inspections There were 7 Routine Tobacco Education Visit Inspections conducted at 

food premises during August.  Education visits ensure that food premises have appropriate no 

smoking signage and that they are complying with the Tobacco Act 1987.   

2. Mobile and Temporary Food Premises in the Shire (Streatrader).  At 31st August 2018 

Pyrenees Shire had 33 premises registered, 68 low risk notifications and 173 current 

Statements of Trade (SOT).   Annual compliance assessments were completed at two 

registered mobile food premises during August.   

Activity: immunisations 

Immunisation sessions in August were conducted as normal in Beaufort and Avoca as well as 

opportunistic services performed by the Shire’s Maternal Child Health Nurses (MCHN) throughout 

the month.    

Session Type 
Number of Clients & 

Vaccines 

2 Month -  4+ 

Yr Old 

Secondary 

School 
Adult 

MCHN Opportunistic 
Clients 14 0 0 

Vaccines  25 0 0 

Beaufort Sessions 
Clients 4 0 0 

Vaccines  7 0 0 

Avoca Session 
Clients 6 0 0 

Vaccines  8 0 0 

Immunisation activity statistics for August 2018 
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Key projects   

The implementation of the Domestic Wastewater Management Plan continues with letters and 

surveys being sent out to properties in some of the high risk, unsewered township areas, to assist 

with organising inspections of their properties.  Work continues on the review of existing records 

and the setup of electronic records for all properties within declared potable water catchment 

areas. 
 

The installation of No Smoking signs at playgrounds, sports areas and other outdoor areas used by 

children is being implemented over the next few months. 

   

Compliance issues  

Minor issues are being monitored with registered food premises with current non-compliance. This 

includes regular temperature records, ongoing cleaning issues and accredited Food Safety 

Supervisor requirements.   

 

Council plan / legislative requirements 

- Council Plan 2013-2017 
- Domestic Wastewater Management Plan 2015-2018 
- Food Act 1984 
- Public Health & Wellbeing Act 2008 
- Tobacco Act 1987 
- Environment Protection Act 1970 
- Code of Practice for Septic Tanks 
 

Financial / risk implications 

The Environmental Health Officer (EHO) must work with regard to various legislative requirements 

with respect to Food Safety (Food Act 1984), Public Health (Public Health & Wellbeing Act 2008, 

Environment Protection Act 1970), Tobacco (Tobacco Act 1987) and Wastewater (Environment 

Protection Act 1970, Domestic Wastewater Management Plan, Code of Practice for Septic Tanks).    
 

It is necessary for the EHO to adapt to any changes in regulations whilst still providing a service that 

meets the demands of residents within the municipality and complies with legislation.     

 

Environmental health summary 

1. EH received one Public Health and Well Being (PHWB) Act Nuisance complaint in August.     

 
PART D: LOCAL LAWS AND ANIMAL CONTROL 

 

ACTIVITY 

 July 2018 August 2018 

Cats impounded 3 1 

Dogs impounded 1 0 

Stock impounded 13 0 
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Infringements issued 1 1 

Prosecutions 0 0 

Impoundment and infringement statistics 

As at 31 August, there were 627 cats and 2,495 dogs registered within the municipality. 

**Note that the July report showed an error in the total number of dogs registered. 

 

Key projects 

 Council’s Local Law Review project team has received and reviewed the Draft General Local Law 
and are continuing to develop a range of administrative processes to support implementation. 
Please see Council Report – Local Law Review for further information. 

 Business improvement projects to strengthen local law administration are continuing. 

 Officers continue to investigate a range of complex animal keeping matters. 
 

Council plan / legislative requirements 

 Council Plan 2013-2017 

 Domestic Animals Act 1994 

 Domestic Animal Management Plan 2012-2016 

 Council Local Laws No. 2, No. 3 and No. 4 
 

Local laws and animal control summary 

 The Draft General Local Law and Draft Procedure Manual is currently under review by an 
internal project team. 

 New internal processes are being developed to strengthen Council’s administration of its Local 
Laws. 

 Council continues to investigate compliance matters across the Shire relating to public safety, 
roadside signage and unregistered domestic animals, and is cooperating with RSPCA on various 
issues. 

 Two unregistered domestic animal businesses were located and both are cooperating with 
Council Officers to become compliant. 
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2. LOCAL LAWS REVIEW PUBLIC CONSULTATION 
Douglas Gowans – Director Assets and Development Services 
File No: 46/02/06 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the progress of the Local Law review project 
and the drafting of the proposed Pyrenees Shire Council General Local Law 2018.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Pyrenees Shire Council undertook a review of its current Local Law No. 2 Environment and Local 
Law No. 3 Streets and Roads throughout 2017 and 2018.  The review and development has been 
completed in accordance with the Best Practice Guidelines, including extensive internal 
consultation and comparison with other Councils.  This process has resulted in the development of 
the proposed Pyrenees Shire Council General Local Law 2018.  The proposed new Local Law will 
replace Local Law No. 2 and Local Law No.3. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
The final draft of the proposed General Local Law 2018 has been completed by Beck Legal and 
provided to us for further review and formal community consultation.   

The draft has been prepared in a format that is clear and easy to understand and aims to meet both 
Council and community expectations and maintain the safety and amenity of the Shire.   

There are new laws that will affect business as well as the general community.  Most of the 
proposed new local laws are familiar and merely an up-to-date revision of what the existing laws 
were in a context that is easier to understand and apply.   

The main changes to the general community in the proposed Local Laws are in relation to 
regulations around: 

- Amenity and safety of property; 
- Shipping containers; 
- Camping and temporary accommodation;  
- Excess animals; and  
- Fees for permits. 

The main changes for businesses are in relation to: 

- Display and sale of goods on roadsides or footpaths; 
- Outdoor eating facilities on roadsides or footpaths;  
- Advertising signs on roadsides, footpaths and public places; and 
- Fees for permits. 

A comprehensive Procedure Manual has been prepared to work alongside the General Local Law 
2018.  This manual correlates directly to the General Local Law document and contains details of 
the processes and procedures to be considered when making decisions on permit applications.   
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In conjunction with these two documents extensive work has been completed on the development 
of a new administrative framework for processing of all Local Law matters.  This system includes 
one standard permit application form for all applications, a set of further information forms for 
more complicated permit types, and a suite of administrative forms and procedures that aim to 
standardise the assessment of all permit applications.   

During the next month further internal consultation will be conducted with the relevant Council 
staff who were either involved in the original consultation or who work in departments that have 
an interest in issues covered by the proposed local law.   

Informal notification will also be provided to business groups and the general community via the 
website, social media, direct communication (where appropriate) and press release 

It is proposed that the draft Pyrenees Shire Council General Local Law 2018 will be presented to 
Council in October to give Public Notice and begin formal Section 223 submissions from the 
Community.   

A detailed Community Impact Statement will be provided to the community and written 
submissions will be accepted for a period not less than 28 days after formal Public Notice is given.  
Once the submission period has concluded Council will be asked to consider the submissions 
received and determine whether any changes should be made to the proposed General Local Law 
2018.   

Depending on the number of submissions and the amount of changes required it is proposed that 
the final draft will be ready for Council to adopt by ordinary resolution in December 2018 or 
January 2019 and the new Local Law will commence operation on the day Council makes it.   
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and 
facilitate growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
 

5.7 - Develop and enforce appropriate Local Laws and policies to protect amenity and 
environmental values which are reflective of community expectations. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
 
 
CONCLUSION 
The Local Law Review project is a major strategic undertaking for Council. 
 
It will result in the preparation of new local laws that better reflect the expectations of Council and 
which address the contemporary amenity, environment and control issues in the community.   
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CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

3. CUSTOMER ACTION REQUESTS – AUGUST 2018 
Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services 
File No: 16/08/04 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
 
 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to update Council on our Customer Action Request System (CARS) for 
the month of August 2018.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Council has operated an electronic Customer Action Service Request system (CARS) for a number of 
years enabling residents to lodge service requests.  Requests can be lodged in person, via 
telephone, via Council’s website or by using a smartphone “Snap Send Solve” application.   
 

Since December 2012, CARS has been promoted on a regular basis in Council’s Public Notices 
published in the Pyrenees Advocate.   
 

Service requests are received for maintenance issues – potholes, road conditions, drainage, 
signage, slashing and overhanging branches.  Additional services were added to the CARS system 
including – pools, local laws, building maintenance and compliance. 
 

Council receives between 400 and 1000 customer action requests per annum. 
 

ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
99 CARS were received in August 2018, a 3% increase on the previous month.  75 requests were 

closed in August, resulting in 175 outstanding.  As at the 31st August 2018 the status of CARS was as 

follows: 

 4% decrease in 2016 outstanding CARS 

 3% decrease in 2017 outstanding CARS 

 27% increase in 2018 outstanding CARS  

 16% increase on total CARS outstanding 

 Of the 175 outstanding CARS 39 relate to natural disasters, a reduction of 2 from the 
previous month. 

 For the month of July 75 CARS were closed 
 

The largest groupings of open CARS requests relate to: Building Maintenance (29); Road 
Maintenance (31) and Natural Disasters (39).   
 

A CARS working group is undertaking a review of the CARS system and a process for following up on 
outstanding requests plus implementing an awareness/training program is underway to improve 
both clear-up statistics and understanding of the nature of the requests to enable better reporting. 

 

Reports detailing outstanding CARS are detailed below. 
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Year Sep-17 Oct-17 Nov-17 Dec-17 Jan-18 Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 % Change

2016 54        53        53        38        38        31        29        29        29        24        24        23        -4%

2017 124      97        120      113      90        56        49        44        38        32        31        30        -3%

2018 0          0          0          0          39        52        68        81        56        71        96        122      27%

Total 178     150     173     151     167     139     146     154     123     127     151     175     16%

Total Received 76 85 100 49 76 70 62 62 76 69 96 99 3%

Total Outstanding Cars Requests
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COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 1 - Leadership 
 

1.1 - Communicate the Council's decisions, policies and activities and the reasons behind them, in a 
form relevant to ratepayer needs and expectations in accordance to Council's communication strategy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
3.1 CARS Analysis – August 2018 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial implications associated with this report 
 
CONCLUSION 
Attention to resolution, inspection and acknowledgement of customer requests continues, however 
the recent upward trend in outstanding CARS continues. 
 

Ongoing focus and effort is required to reduce the level of outstanding requests and processes to 
improve status follow-ups and awareness programs are being implemented. 
 

Jul-18 Aug-18 Change

16 15 -1

1 3 2

10 12 2

4 7 3

12 16 4

1 0 -1

0 0 0

22 29 7

3 4 1

3 1 -2

1 1 0

3 3 0

23 31 8

0 1 1

4 5 1

7 8 1

41 39 -2

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

0 0 0

151            175            24

Design & Assets

GIS

Dogs

Livestock Act

Total

Waste 

Roads Unsealed

Road Maintenance 

Natural Disasters

Pools

Park & Reserves

Local Laws

Fire Hazard

Bld Compliance

Road Maintenance

Footpaths

Roadside 

Environmental 

Planning

Bld maintenance

Roads

Streetlights

Drainage

Open Requests - Type
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4. COUNCILLOR ACTIVITY REPORTS 

Cr David Clark – Ercildoune Ward 

August 

Thu 02 Constituent Meetings Lake Goldsmith & 

Waubra 

Fri 03 MAV Board Meeting Melbourne 

Sun 05 Father & Daughter/ Mother & Son Art Exhibition Avoca 

Mon 06 MAV Audit Committee Meeting Melbourne 

Tue 07 Upper Loddon & Avoca Landcare Network  Lexton 

Thu 09 MAV new CEO meeting Melbourne 

Thu 09 CHCV Mayor's & CEO's Meeting Bannockburn 

Fri 10 Ballarat Waste to Energy Heads of Agreement Ballarat 

Mon 13 Highlands LLEN Committee of Management Ballarat 

Tue 14 Councillor Briefing Avoca 

Thu 16 MAV Rural Councils Forum Melbourne 

Sat 18 Vietnam Veterans Day Commemoration Stawell 

Tue 21 MAV CEO Induction Melbourne 

Tue 21 Councillor Briefing and Council Meeting Beaufort 

Thu 23 CVGA Strategic Planning and Board Meeting Maryborough 

Fri 24 Declaration of Beaufort Ward Election Beaufort 

Mon 27 MAV Special Board Meeting Teleconference 

Mon 27 Beaufort Scouts Annual Presentation Night Beaufort 

Mon 27 Upper Mount Emu Creek Landcare Network Invermay 

Tue 28 Community Facility Announcement – Lexton Hub Lexton 

Tue 28 Council Statutory Meeting Beaufort 

Wed 29 MAV Special Board Meeting Melbourne 

Wed 29 Acciona Stakeholder Dinner Melbourne 

Thu 30 Interview – Rainbow Arts & Culture Foundation Beaufort 

Fri 31 MAV Human Services Committee Melbourne 

Fri 31 MAV Special Board Meeting  Melbourne 

September 

Mon 03 Landsborough Mobile Tower Launch Landsborough 

Thu 06 Constituent Meeting Waterloo 

Thu 06 Stronger Communities Program Teleconference 

Fri 07 Meeting with Cr Damian Ferrari Beaufort 

Tue 11 Councillor Briefing Session Lake Goldsmith 
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Cr Robert Vance – De Cameron Ward 

August 

Fri 10 RCV Meeting Melbourne 

Tue 14 Councillor Briefing Avoca 

Wed 15 AGM Moonambel Events Committee Moonambel 

Tue 21 Councillor Briefing and Council Meeting Beaufort 

Fri 24 Declaration of Beaufort Ward Election Beaufort 

Tue 28 Community Facility Announcement – Lexton Hub Lexton 

Tue 28 Audit & Risk Committee Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 28 Council Statutory Meeting Beaufort 

September 

Mon 03 Landsborough Mobile Tower Launch Landsborough 

Tue 11 Councillor Briefing Session Lake Goldsmith 

 

Cr Ron Eason – Avoca Ward 

August 

Tue 14 SHIC Meeting St Arnaud 

Tue 14 Councillor Briefing Avoca 

Tue 21 Councillor Briefing and Council Meeting Beaufort 

Fri 24 Declaration of Beaufort Ward Election Beaufort 

Tue 28 Community Facility Announcement – Lexton Hub Lexton 

Tue 28 Audit & Risk Committee Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 28 Council Statutory Meeting Beaufort 

Fri 31 Pyrenees Community Food Pantry AGM Avoca 

September 

Tue 11 Councillor Briefing Session Lake Goldsmith 

 

Cr Tanya Kehoe - Mount Emu Ward 

August 

Tue 14 Councillor Briefing Avoca 

Wed 15 Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee 

Meeting 

Beaufort 

Tue 21 Councillor Briefing and Council Meeting Beaufort 

Tue 28 Council Statutory Meeting Beaufort 

September 

Tue 11 Councillor Briefing Session Lake Goldsmith 
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Cr Damian Ferrari - Beaufort Ward 

August 

Tue 28 Council Statutory Meeting Beaufort 

September 

Tue 04 Meeting with Pyrenees Shire Council CEO, Jim Nolan Beaufort 

Fri 07 Meeting with Pyrenees Shire Council Mayor, David Clark Beaufort 
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5. ASSEMBLY OF COUNCILLORS 

MEETING INFORMATION 

Meeting Name Councillor Briefing Session 

Meeting Date 14 August 2018 commenced at 12noon and closed at 6.20pm 

Meeting Location Avoca Hay Coop (12noon – 1.00pm) 
Avoca Rural Transaction Centre (1.00pm onwards) 

Matters  
Discussed 

1. Avoca Community Bank Proposal 
2. Surplus Government Land (FROR) Notification 
3. Homebush Road Rail Crossing, Avoca 
4. Draft Infringements Procedure 
5. Induction Program for new Councillor 
6. Environment Presentation 
7. Statutory Meeting Date 
8. Special Council Meeting 
9. Council Agenda Review 
10. Discussion with Sarah De Santis (Labor Candidate for Ripon) 
 

ATTENDEES 

Councillors Mayor Cr David Clark (arrived 2.30pm)   
Cr Ron Eason 
Cr Robert Vance  
 

Apologies Cr Tanya Kehoe  
 

Staff Jim Nolan (Chief Executive Officer) 
Douglas Gowans (Director Asset and Development Services) 
Kathy Bramwell (A/Director Corporate and Community Services) 
Ray Davies (Manager Economic Development and Tourism) – Item 1 
 

Visitors Trevor Davey (Siltforce) – Item 6 
Sarah De Santis (Labour Candidate for Ripon) – Item 10 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES 

Matter No: Councillor 
making 

disclosure 

Particulars of disclosure Councillor left 
meeting 

 

N/A    
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MEETING INFORMATION 

Meeting Name Councillor Briefing Session 

Meeting Date 21 August 2018 commenced at 2.00pm and closed at 5.43pm 

Meeting Location Beaufort Council Chambers 

Matters 
Discussed 

1. Visit Ballarat 
2. Pick My Project 
3. Central Highlands Integrated Water Management Plan 
4. Central Highlands Regional Partnership 
5. Central Highlands Councils Victoria Legal Entity 
6. Major Projects Update 
7. Council Agenda Review 
 

ATTENDEES 

Councillors Mayor Cr David Clark   
Cr Tanya Kehoe  
Cr Ron Eason  
Cr Robert Vance 
 

Apologies Douglas Gowans (Director Asset and Development Services) 
 
 

Staff Jim Nolan (Chief Executive Officer) 
Kathy Bramwell (A/Director Corporate and Community Services) 
Martin Walmsley (A/Director Asset and Development Services) 
Ray Davies (Manager Economic Development and Tourism ) – Item 1 & 3 
 

Visitors Stuart Simmons (Visit Ballarat) – Item 1 
Lucy Ibrahim (Visit Ballarat) – Item 1 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES 

Matter No: Councillor 
making 

disclosure 

Particulars of disclosure 
 

Councillor left 
meeting 

 

N/A    

 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the items for noting be received. 
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ITEMS FOR DECISION 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
 

6. SPONSORSHIP REQUEST – AVOCA CUP RACES 
Ray Davies – Manager Economic Development and Tourism 
File No: 32/13/06 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to seek Councils consideration of a request for sponsorship by Avoca Shire 
Turf Club 
 
BACKGROUND 
Council has supported Avoca Shire Turf Club (ASTC) with sponsorship support for its race meetings for 
many years. 
 

During the last five years sponsorship for the races has fluctuated between $2,000 and $4,000 (plus 
GST) per year. 
 

This season the ASTC is seeking support from Council of $4,000 which will make a small contribution 
towards additional facilities being planned for patrons, more specifically toilets and showers for those 
that camp at the site, a practice which has occurred over cup day weekend for many years. These 
facilities would potentially increase tourism yield by encouraging more people to camp at the site. 
 

Councils Tourism Strategy includes as a strategic objective to continue to provide event sponsorship 
for events that promote visitation to the region.  
 

The Avoca Cup Races attracts a crowd of between five and six thousand people and is therefore one of 
the Shires premium events, with patrons coming from across the State, including Melbourne, Geelong 
and Ballarat. In most years this results in booking of all local accommodation and some from 
neighbouring Shires, increased activity by campers and RV travellers, and promotes the regions nature 
based and wine tourism assets.  
 

Around 400 patrons camp at the turf club site for the races while many of the other patrons remain in 
the region over the weekend and some for a number of days in the lead up to and days after the Avoca 
cup weekend to take in the benefits the region has to offer during mid spring. 
 

The Councils latest data on tourism visits indicates that day visitors spend $83- on average while 
overnight visitors spend $109 per day with an average stay of three nights and an economic 
contribution on average of $321. 
 

The ASTC Committee is run by volunteers and the local community benefits greatly from each race 
day. The club have fantastic working relationships with many community groups who assist in 
organising and running the event. These include, Avoca Landcare Group, Natte-Bealiba Football Netball 
Club, Avoca RSL, Avoca CFA, Avoca Rec Reserve Committee, Avoca Men’s Shed, Amphitheatre CFA, 
Avoca Primary School and many more. 
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The club makes financial contributions to these organisations for their assistance in excess of $10,000 
each season. A volunteer team of up to 170 are also rewarded and many of these are local and 
regional residents. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Councils’ sponsorship support over a number of years has contributed to the marketing reach and 
success of the event which has assisted lift the profile of the Avoca Cup and the region as a desirable 
place to visit, a key function of the sponsorship fund. 
 

With the Avoca Cup having such a strong presence in Country Racing Victoria’s spring racing season, 
and the degree of economic activity generated, the sponsorship support by Council is considered to be 
well justified. 
 

In terms of Councils recently adopted sponsorship approval policy, for any request for support of 
amounts above $2000- (plus GST) the decision rests with Council. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and 
facilitate growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
 

5.4 - Increase the visitor economy by immplementing the Pyrenees Shire Council Tourism Strategy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
The ASTC sponsorship application is limited to $4,000 (plus GST). 
 
CONCLUSION 
Councils’ sponsorship of this longstanding event has brought excellent benefits to the regions tourism 
industry and local community groups. 
 

In this context continuing sponsorship support by Council is considered to be warranted. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council approves sponsorship of the 2018 Avoca Cup for the amount sought of $4,000. 
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7. WINE GROWTH FUND ROUND 3 
Ray Davies – Manager Economic Development and Tourism 
File No: 62/10/08 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to inform Council of the current status of the Grampians Pyrenees Wine 
Tourism Marketing Masterplan project and to seek endorsement of Councils commitment to 
contribute to stage three of the project. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In May 2016 Grampians Tourism together with Ballarat Regional Tourism (Trading As Visit Ballarat), 
completed a successful funding bid for a $30,000 grant from round one of the Victorian State 
Governments Wine Growth Fund. This was to enable completion of the Grampians Pyrenees Wine 
Tourism Masterplan (Wine Masterplan) which was finalised in September 2018.  
 

The two tourism regions were acting on behalf of a partnership including the Grampians and Pyrenees 
winemakers, Ararat Rural City Council, Northern Grampians Shire Council and Pyrenees Shire Council. 
 

A subsequent submission led by the two tourism boards was also successful in Wine Growth Fund 
Round Two (WGF2). Council committed contributions of $5,000 per year in 2017-18 and the 2018-19 
financial years towards the second phase of the project with an overall budget of $120,000. Horsham 
Rural City Council has been included (also as a financial partner) in the regional collaboration for the 
WGF2 project.  
 

The objective of WGF2 was to:- 

 Engage a project manager who will work with councils, tourism agencies, wineries etc. to roll 
out the priority actions recommended in the masterplan, and with alignment to the three key 
pillars of “product, profile and people”;  and 

 Focus on developing marketing and PR activity which will lift the profile of the region.  
 

The Project Manager was recruited earlier this year, and commenced work in late June 2018 with a 
budget of $30,000 allocated towards marketing collateral and PR initiatives to promote a broad region 
covering four municipalities. 

 

There is currently an opportunity for the region to continue its efforts to deliver the actions from the 
Wine Masterplan following the announcement of WGF Round Three. The funding guidelines indicate 
projects may commence in February 2019 with applications due to close on 5 October 2018. 

 

The expression of interest for funding is the first stage of a two stage application process, followed by 
formal application if the EOI is successful. 
 

The purpose of applying to WGF3 is to allocate funds towards:- 
1. Extending the role of the Project Manager by six months and  
2. Allocate an amount of around $80,000 towards product development, branding and marketing. 
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ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Councils Growth Strategy acknowledges the importance of the wine industry as a “key propulsive 
sector” …. 
 

“The Pyrenees Wine Region is highly regarded by industry commentators yet remains largely 
unknown in the market place despite there being in excess of 20 cellar doors that cater for 
tourism visits. Council can support the local industry by:-  

• Leveraging support from regional tourism boards and Tourism Victoria to promote 
the region’s wine industry and cellar doors through marketing, industry 
development and product development initiatives  

• Provide in kind support to assist with initiatives of the Pyrenees Grapegrowers and 
Winemakers and its marketing group  

• Support food and wine events that promote the region’s wine brand and product”  
 

Councils Tourism Strategy advises that Council will “Support Pyrenees Grapegrowers and Winemakers 
to implement the Pyrenees Wine Tourism and Marketing Plan to increase awareness of the Pyrenees 
brand in the markets.” 
 

The project partners from the region are seeking the same commitments from Local Governments in 
this round of funding as for WGF Round Two, i.e. for Pyrenees Shire Council an amount of $10,000- 
which in this case will be required in a single financial year rather than being split over two financial 
years. Like WGF Rounds One and Two, contributions will be made by Grampians Tourism, Visit Ballarat 
and the Grampians and Pyrenees wine regions.  
 

The purpose of this submission is to:- 
1. Extend the tenure of the project manager by six months;  and 
2. Provide a sum estimated at $80,000 to deliver more of the priority actions of the Wine 

Masterplan, in particular the completion of work on branding and marketing of the region to lift 
its profile in the tourism market. 

 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and 
facilitate growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
 

5.4 - Increase the visitor economy by immplementing the Pyrenees Shire Council Tourism Strategy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Visit Ballarat as the applicant, is seeking a commitment of $10,000 from Pyrenees Shire Council to 
extend the role of the project officer by six months and to allocate a higher level of spending towards 
completion of branding and marketing development. 
 

Due to the shorter term tenure of the proposal the commitment is preferred to be made as a sum of 
$10,000 in the 2019-20 financial year, rather than splitting the sum over two years as with WGF2.  
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CONCLUSION 
Supporting the Visit Ballarat proposal for WGF3 will assist access the resources required to effectively 
deliver the recommendations of the Wine Tourism Marketing Masterplan aimed at increasing wine 
tourism in the region. 

 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council endorses a commitment of $10,000 in the 2019-20 Council budget to support a 
regional funding application for under round three of the Wine Growth Fund.  
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8. VISITOR CENTRE TOUCHSCREENS 
Ray Davies – Manager Economic Development and Tourism 
File No: 62/20/02 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 
 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to inform Council of investigations into installing Touchscreens at the 
Avoca and Beaufort Visitor Centres to allow visitors to access information out of operating hours.   
 
BACKGROUND 
This report considers the advantages and disadvantages of installing touchscreens, costs involved and 
different software programs that were investigated, following councils’ review of visitor centre 
operations and changes to operating hours in late 2015. 
 
Role of the Visitor Information Centre 
Visitor Information Centres have many roles which include:   

 To provide visitors with insights into the region and distribute information about tourist products 

 Provide a central location (in a fixed building/structure) for visitors to gain access to timely, 
accurate and impartial visitor information and advice.  

 The prime purpose of a Visitor Information Centre is to enhance the visitor experience, encourage 
visitors to stay longer and undertake additional activities, exceed visitors’ expectations and 
encourage visitors to return to the region.  

 Staff and volunteers sharing their passion about the region and providing quality and accurate 
information, by providing exceptional customer service and effectively promoting the range of 
visitor experiences and services available. 

 Support local businesses and tourism operators within a region. Many local business and tourism 
operators are reliant on the services of the Visitor Information Centre to provide additional 
business and ensure a high standard of visitor servicing in the area. 

 

WA Tourism has identified the top three features that visitors look for in a visitor centre are: 
1. Knowledgeable, professional staff, skilled in customer service 
2. Unbiased and authoritative information; and  
3. Regional displays and stories. 
 

Tourism operators describe the most important aspects of visitor centres as:  

 Having knowledgeable staff that provide information about the region; product offered and 
upcoming events;  

 Offering a web presence to educate and attract visitors to the local area;  

 Providing brochures and flyers; and  

 Providing leads and referrals to local businesses. 
 
Currently only 10% of domestic visitors use a visitor centre, however those that do use a Visitor Centre 
stay more than twice as long as those who don’t.  
 

The predominant age group of people who were using VICs in 2010 were 45-64 year olds (37%), 25-44 
year olds (36%) and 65 years and over (23%). There is very low use of Visitor Information Centres by 
people aged 15-24 years. 
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Why Touchscreens can be effective 
Technology is unlikely to render visitor centres redundant, but it does present opportunities for new 
attraction, engagement and information provision channels if resourced and managed correctly. 
 

The key information sources used when influencing people to visit a region are Internet (49%) and 
been there before (39%). People visiting friends and relatives (VFR) makes up almost half of visitors to 
the local region. Local VICs (after the visitors’ arrival) were used by 24% of respondents as an 
information source. An average of 4% of respondents uses a local VIC as an information source prior to 
arrival. 
 

Each generation has its own distinct characteristics; one of such is how they use technology. The 
following statistics illustrate how each generation currently uses technology: 

 Baby Boomers aged 54-72  
- 60% of seniors aged 65 are conversant with the internet 
- 86% of younger boomers and 84% of older boomers own cell phones 
- 49% of younger boomers and 43% of older boomers own a laptop 
- 34% would surf the website on their phone 

 

 Generation X aged 42-53 
- 92% own a cell phone 
- 69% own a desktop 
- 61% own a laptop 
- 5% own a tablet 
- 45% surf the web to compare prices 

 

 Generation Y aged 23 -41 (Millennials) 
- 95% Own a cell phone 
- 5% own a tablet 
- 56% surf the web to look for a better price 

 

 Generation Z aged 22 and earlier 
- Gen Z receive their smart phone earlier than any other generation (usually in their teenage 

years) 
- 74% have used augmented reality 
- Gen Z think it appropriate to use technology or talk/text on their phone at any time and use 

technology for everything! 
 

People’s expectation on service and human interaction can depend on their age and confidence with 
technology. The younger generations, Z and Y in particular are tech savvy and are confident locating 
information using smart devices.  
 

Touchscreens will provide round the clock support but will only be accepted by the public if it is easy to 
navigate. 

 
What Touchscreens can’t provide and why human interaction is preferred 
The roles and responsibilities of Pyrenees Visitor Information Centres varies greatly compared to many 
other V.I.C’s across Victoria. Pyrenees V.I.Cs often act as gateway centres, where visitors undertake a 
broad range of activities, well beyond that required by the accreditation guidelines, including:  

 Provision of emergency information;  
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 Avoca Visitor Centre Provides Council services for the North End of the Shire 

 Library Services including outreach 

 Provision of tourism business mentoring and education and training  

 Informing and engaging with residents, building an understanding of tourism in the community 
and strengthening VFR markets  

 Providing a hub for the tourism industry in the Pyrenees region. 
 

Visitor Information Centres may not attract people to the region however they can influence the visitor 
to experience and spend more and make the visitors stay more personable and enjoyable which can 
encourage return visitation to the region. In some circumstances visitors are influenced to move to the 
region through their experiences while visiting. While a touchscreen can provide information, it cannot 
replicate face to face experiences and then tailor the information to individual’s needs. 
 

Anecdotally Baby Boomers and more often Gen X prefer human interaction to using technology to 
source information. These generations find information by staff to be more genuine and true to what 
they will find on the internet. What many won’t know is that in a recent survey of 1000 Millennials, 
many in this age group actually prefer person-to-person interactions over digital options in most 
situations. In fact, rather than feeling like an anonymous username on the other end of a screen, they 
want to feel a brand understands and respects them as individuals. “Despite growing up in the digital 
age, Millennials haven’t abandoned person-to-person contact,” according to Mattersight CEO Kelly 
Conway. “Contrary to popular belief, we found that most Millennials prefer to communicate in-person 
and over the phone because it allows them to have the most meaningful conversations.” 

 
Case Studies of Touchscreens implemented in other regions 
To date, there are no Visitor Information Centres in Victoria that are using external touchscreens for 
visitors to access information out of hours.  
 

Newcastle 
In November 2010, Newcastle’s Hunter Street Visitor Information Centre was closed and moved to the 
Maritime Centre at Honeysuckle. In 2011, 16 visitor Information centre touchscreens were installed at 
various locations around the city to provide visitors with essential information. These touchscreens 
were paid for by individual tourism operators.  
In 2014, Newcastle Council removed all of their touchscreen Visitor Information Centre Kiosks that 
were installed three years prior because they were outdated and consumers did not find them helpful.  
The Economic Development Officer at Newcastle Council said the kiosk had reached the end of their 
lifespan and did not perform in a way that satisfied consumers. They were too costly to update and the 
technology they used was outdated and could not operate in a wireless environment. Consumers 
indicated that they did not find the kiosks helpful and high percentage said they would not use them 
again. 
 

New York City 
The Visitor Space in downtown Manhattan was transformed from a stereotypical Visitor Centre into a 
new model that swaps printed brochures and maps for numerous interactive digital interfaces. Using 
the extremely high tech touchscreens, they could assist their 47 million tourists and transfer the 
information to their mobile devices laden with ‘wayfinding’ information and the occasional printout. 
NYC Tourism stated “Visitors were overwhelmed by hundreds of brochures in a dark uninspired space. 
Keeping up with the printed materials and all of the events that changed on a daily basis across five 
boroughs was nearly impossible.” 
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The NYC Visitor Centre developed 4 x 32inch cybertouch touchscreens through which guests can begin 
their NYC Journeys. They could access the answers to visitors’ top 100 questions, removing that burden 
from staff. This information could be accessed in 10 languages. Users could email the information to 
themselves. 
 

Three interactive map tables were installed where users could explore the map according to 11 
different themes and within a specified walking distance, this information could then be transferred to 
the customers hand held device. 
 

NYC Tourism states “Handheld technology is not necessarily rendering traditional urban wayfinding 
obsolete but rather enhancing it. 
 

Since the NYC Visitor Centre was transformed into a Cybertouch Paradise in 2009, the centre has 
removed several of their touchscreens and reverted back to putting on more staff.  
 

Surfcoast Shire 
Surfcoast Shire Council investigated installing Touchscreens in some of their Visitor Centres 
approximately two years ago. The proposal has not proceeded at this point for the following reasons:-  

 Digital does not replace face to face contact.  The question is how you blend bricks and digital. The 
trend to digital/web is turning back and Surf Coast Visitor Centres were getting the full age range 
of people wanting to ‘check’ they are getting the best experience. In fact, there has been an 
increase in visitors and younger generations utilising the Visitor Centre 

 The cost and the compatibility of the current website and touchscreens.  There was conflicting 
information regarding website compatibility with touchscreens at the time.  As with most 
technology, most companies offer a full package with their own software, ongoing costs, etc.  
When establishing external touchscreens it requires recreating the tourism website in different 
format with ongoing issues such as, renewing content (and the costs of keeping it updated) and 
replacement of redundant technology.    

 
Product Options and Quotes: 
While there are commercial options for touchscreens specific to tourism these generally require 
investment by tourism operators to list their services. This option has been discounted as a 
consideration due to the likelihood that tourism operators are nowadays using their own digital 
strategies to attract business. In this circumstance it was considered more plausible that a touchscreen 
that linked to Councils tourism web site www.visitpyrenees.com.au at no additional cost to local 
tourism operators would result in more content being available on local things to do and see and 
places to stay. 
 

Three quotations were sought for supply and installation of these types of touchscreens. 
In each case Council would need to engage its web developer to create an equivalent version of the 
tourism web site that secures the use of the touchscreen so that internet use is restricted to content 
available through www.visitpyrenees.com.au 
 

A quotation for this has not been pursued at this time and the following quotes are for supply of the 
infrastructure and not the content that would appear on the screens. 
 

Quote 1. 
Touchscreen supply and installation including Wi-Fi connectivity and software required at a cost of 
$16,363- (plus GST) per unit. 
 

http://www.visitpyrenees.com.au/
http://www.visitpyrenees.com.au/


18 SEPTEMBER 2018 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION 

32 
 

Quote 2 
Total cost per touch screen of $5,865.00 ex GST with an ongoing monthly support fee of $50- ex GST. 
This technology is similar to that used by real estate agencies. 
 

Quote 3 
Cost per touchscreen (excluding software requirements) of $10,415.50 (plus GST). 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Installing touchscreens at Pyrenees Visitors’ Centres may not effectively address and respond to visitor 
enquiries as people using visitor centres in general tend to use this service to obtain personally 
delivered advice on attractions, accommodation and points of local interest to obtain advice tailored 
to their individual needs and interests. A touchscreen does not cater for visitors seeking those personal 
qualities.  
 

Visitors comfortable with using a touchscreen are also more likely to be comfortable with using their 
smart phones and their own mobile devices when searching for information, thus rendering 
touchscreens less relevant. 
 

Touchscreens / ipads would be useful devices to use internally within the centre during opening hours 
and are great tools to use when interacting with customers.  However, for them to be effective and 
offer a personal experience, they should be used in conjunction with helpful and knowledgeable local 
staff.   
 

Rather than installing external touchscreens, improving Councils tourism web presence by developing 
interactive maps on the existing website is likely to be a more effective way of conveying this 
information. This would allow people when searching our website to be able to precisely locate the 
location of a business and they can then simply click on the icon for contact details and opening hours.  
 

Further investigations concerning costs need to be conducted in regard to interactive maps and web 
site efficiencies and effectiveness. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and 
facilitate growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
 

5.4 - Increase the visitor economy by immplementing the Pyrenees Shire Council Tourism Strategy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Council allocated a sum of $35,000 to the 2017-18 budget to allow for installation of technology that 
support Councils visitor services. 
 

The investigations that are summarised in this report indicate that investing in touchscreens is unlikely 
to support this objective. 
 
CONCLUSION 
Investment in enhanced functionality of Councils tourism web site is likely to be a more cost effective 
way than TV Touchscreens of providing information to visitors to the region.  
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OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council investigates options of further optimising its web presence in the visitor economy 
rather than investing in touchscreens at the Avoca and Beaufort visitor centres. 

 

 
 



18 SEPTEMBER 2018 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION 

34 
 

ASSET AND DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 
 

9. TERMITE DECLARED AREAS WITHIN PYRENEES SHIRE 
Craig Fletcher – Municipal Building Surveyor 
File No: 08/08/10 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

PURPOSE 

The purpose of this report is for Council to formally adopt and declare the entire Municipal area as 

being likely to be subject to attack by termites in accordance with Regulation 150 of the Building 

Regulations 2018. 

 
BACKGROUND 
Regulation 51(2) of the Building Regulations 2018, provides that a person can request a certificate in 

writing from council which specifies amongst others thing whether a particular allotment is designated 

as being likely to be subject to attack by termites. 

 

51 Requests for information from relevant council 
2) Any person may request the relevant council to provide in relation to any building or land 

details as to whether the building or land is— 
a. in an area that is liable to flooding within the meaning of regulation 5(2); or 
b. in an area that is designated under regulation 150 as an area in which buildings are likely 

to be subject to attack by termites; or 
c. in an area for which a bushfire attack level has been specified in a planning scheme; or 
d. is an area designated under regulation 152 as likely to be 
e. designated land; or 
f. designated works. 

 
Council has received requests for information regarding termite zones within Pyrenees Shire. 

Previously Council officers adopted a practice of determining that properties south of Lexton were not 

in a termite zone. This previous determination was not formally adopted by council. 

 

ISSUE / DISCUSSION 

Anecdotally Council’s officers have been advised that there are a number of buildings South of Lexton 

that have had evidence of termite attack.  In addition a locally pest control company has verbally 

advised that they have seen approximately 10 dwellings in the Snake Valley region that have been 

subject to attack by termites. 

 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Regulation 150 of the Building Regulations 2018, provides that   

“A council may designate areas within its municipal district in which buildings are 
likely to be subject to attack by termites”. 
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Further Regulation 151 of the Building Regulations 2018, provides that despite anything to the contrary 

in performance requirement BP1.1 of the BCA Volume One and performance requirement P2.1.1 of the 

BCA Volume Two— 

a. a primary building element is only required to be protected against attack by termites if it is 
part of a building being constructed in an area designated under regulation 150; and 

b. a detached Class 10 building is not required to be protected against termite attack. 
 

If adopted by council then this requirement of the Building Regulations 2018  will mean that the 
construction of all new buildings and additions are required to be protected against termite infestation 
in accordance with Australian Standard AS3660.1 – 2000 Termite management – Part 1: New Building 
work. The only exceptions apply to detached Class 10 buildings, such as a shed, garage or carport. 
 
In declaring the entire Municipality as being likely to be subject to attack by termites the council has a 
requirement to advise the Victorian Building Authority and provide a map in accordance with 
Regulations 148 and 149 of the Building Regulations 2018; 
 

 148 Mapping of designated special areas 

 

A council must prepare maps for all designated special areas within its municipal district. 

 

149 Alteration to and creation of designated special area 

1) If in a municipal district a designated special area is altered or a new designated 
special area is created a relevant council must, as soon as practicable— 
 (a) amend the map for the designated special area that has been altered; or 

 (b) prepare a map of the new designated special area that has been created. 

2) A council must advise the Authority within 7 days if a designated special area within 
its municipal district is altered or if a new designated special area is created. 

3) The relevant council must lodge with the Authority within 7 days copies of designated 

special area maps amended or prepared under regulation 148 or subregulation (1). 

4) A council must make an up to date copy of each designated special area map 

applicable to its municipal district that has been prepared under regulation 148 or 

subregulation (1) available to the public for inspection without charge at the offices of 

the council during normal business hours. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Nil 

 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
If Council did not declare the entire municipality as an area likely to be subject to be attacked by 
termites, this could expose Council to litigation if termite attacks occurred.  
 
CONCLUSION 
A decision by council is required to formalize the extent of the Municipality that should be declared as 
being likely to be subject to attack by termites. 
 



18 SEPTEMBER 2018 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION 

36 
 

OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 
 

1. formally adopts and declares the entire Municipal area as being likely to be subject to 
attack by termites in accordance with Regulation 150 of the Building Regulations 2018 and 
prepare a map of the municipality to reflect decision.   

2. advises the Victorian Building Authority of this declaration in accordance with Regulation 
149 of the Building Regulations 2018. 
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10. TOWNSHIP ENTRANCE SIGNS 
Douglas Gowans – Director Assets and Development Services 
File No: 58/14/04 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 
 
 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to seek Councils support for the Township Stone Entrance Signs Upgrade 
and proposed Beautifications Programs 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Pyrenees Shire Council has 26 stone township signs. The majority of these stone signs were 
constructed in 2007.  
 

Solar lights were installed to illuminate 15 of these stone signs at various times up to 2014.  
 

At the time of construction, there were minimum attempts made to beautify or enhance the 
immediate area surrounding these stone structures. 
 

There are 20 township entrances on main, link or collector roads without stone signs. Council 
supported a budget allowance in 2016/17 to start to address lighting issues at various stone entrance 
signs. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
During July 2017, council’s assets team completed an inventory and condition assessment of council’s 
stone township signs.  
 

The stone structures on all 26 sites are in good condition. However, solar lights at a number of sites 
were identified as either not functioning or functioning intermittently. The quality, performance and 
durability of these solar lights and panels, is by today’s standards, questionable. 
 

These Township Stone Entrance Signs audits identified the need for four programs to complete the 
enhancement of township entrances and the township identification initiatives: 

 Solar Light Upgrade Program 

 Solar Light Installation Program 

 Beautification Program 

 Construction of new Stone Entrance Sign  
 

In an attempt to program works on the 26 existing stone entrance signs, the sites are prioritised firstly 
by township hierarchy then by road hierarchy ie, a Main, Link or Collector Road. 
 
Solar Light Upgrade Program 
The condition and inventory survey rated 15 sites with existing solar lights that were either not 
functioning or functioning intermittently. Current Council funding will record the purchase and 
installation of 15 solar lights and panels in the 2018/19 financial year. See attachment 1 Fig.1.2. 
 
Solar Light Installation Program 
The condition and inventory survey identified the need for 11 new solar light installations to existing 
stone signs. See attachment 1 Fig.1.2.  
No funds are currently available for this program.  
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Beautification Program 
The Beautification Program is unfunded. However, at the request of the former Beaufort Ward 
councillor, Cr O’Connor, a beautification test site was constructed on the Beaufort-Lexton Road at the 
Beaufort township entrance. See attachment 2 Fig.2.1. 
Attachment 2 outlines a 5 year Beautification Program for all existing stone entrance signs. No funds 
are currently available for this program.  
 
Construction of new Stone Entrance Sign Program 
The audit survey identified locations at township entrances on roads that have a hierarchy of a Main, 
Link or Collector Road, that do not have stone entrance signs. Twenty sites were identified and are 
detailed in attachment 3. Quotes for construction of new stone signs have been sought from three (3) 
appropriately qualified contractors. No responses have been received to date. 
 
No funds are currently available for this program to be initiated.  
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 1 - Roads and Townships. We will plan, manage, maintain and renew infrastructure 
in a sustainable way that responds to the needs of the community. 
 

1.2 - Maintain and renew Council's facilities and built assets in line with community service needs. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
10.1 Township Stone Sign Solar Lights 
10.2 Township Stone Signs Beautification Program 
10.3 Construction of new Stone Entrance Sign Program 
10.4 Beautification example 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 

Solar Light Upgrade Program 
The 2017/18 allocation of $10,000 saw a bulk purchase of 10, new and improved solar lights, panels 
and posts. Council made a further allocation in the 2018/19 Budget of $15,000 to purchase an 
additional five solar lights, panels and posts, and to undertake the installation of the Solar Light 
systems at fifteen sites identified in the survey. 
This will effectively complete the Solar Light Upgrade Program. 
 
Solar Light Installation Program 
This program requires an additional 11 Solar light systems to be purchased and installed. Estimate for 
these works is $16,000.  
 
Beautification Program 
This five year program requires beautification and landscape works to be developed and constructed 
at 26 locations for budgetary amount of $12500 per year, continuing over the 5 years of the program. 
2 Fig.2.1. 
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Construction of new Stone Entrance Sign Program 
This program identifies twenty township entrances without stone entrance signs. Once quotes have 
been received from the stone masons and construction contractors, a program can be developed and 
support for this program can then be sought as part of future budgetary processes.  
 
CONCLUSION 
Council have previously indicated a desire to progress and support the implementation of the Stone 
Township Entrance Sign initiatives described in the programs outlined above.  
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council continues to support the implementation of the Stone Township Entrance Programs 
and refer any additional budgetary requirements to future budgetary processes. 
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CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 

11. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & PERFORMANCE STATEMENT FOR YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2018 
Shana Johnny – Manager Finance 
File No: 32/28/04 Part 7 
Declaration of Interest:  As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is for Council to give in principle approval to the Financial Statements and 
Performance Statement for the year ended 30 June 2018.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Council currently has Crowe Horwath as its external auditor under subcontract by the Victorian Auditor 
General’s Office.  Crowe Horwath conducted the external audit on the 2017/18 Financial Statements 
during the period 6 - 12 August 2018. The audited draft Financial Statements and Performance 
Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 were tabled at the Pyrenees Shire Council Audit and Risk 
Advisory Committee meeting on Tuesday 28th August 2018. The Committee has recommended that 
Council sign the statements in their final form. 
 

The audited financial statements must be submitted to the Minister within 3 months of the end of the 
financial year (30 September 2018). The Financial Reporting process includes presenting the 
statements to the Audit Advisory Committee, the Committee making a recommendation to Council, 
Council approving the statements “in principle” with the understanding that the Auditor General’s 
Office may still require changes to be made. This process is required to be completed prior to 30 
September 2018. Meeting this timeline ensures the audited financial statements can be included in the 
2017/18 Annual Report 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Throughout 2017/18 Council continued to work on balancing the expectations of the community with 
the need to ensure that the financial foundations of Council remain strong and capable to meet the 
challenges of the future. 
 

Council continually seeks to find the right balance between community expectations and financial 
responsibility. A commitment to cost restraint and the provision of value-for-money services for the 
community, combined with the continual refinement of the Long Term Financial Plan constitutes the 
financial framework that Council uses to address this balance.  This financial framework remains 
imperative and continues to drive Council’s financial decisions. 
 

It is important to review these 2017/18 financial results in light of the long-term financial objectives 
developed by Council. These are to: 

 Maintain a strong cash position. 

 Ensure that Council remains financially sustainable in the long-term. 

 Continue to be debt free after Council’s final loan repayment was made in September 2016. 

 Continue to pursue recurrent grant funding for strategic capital works from the state and 
federal governments. 

 Maintain the existing range and level of services available to communities within the Shire. 

 Ensure adequate revenue to maintain a sustainable level of services for the community. 
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 Ensure that the renewal of critical infrastructure is funded annually over the timeframe of the 
Long Term Financial Plan. 
 

The following is a snapshot of our 2017/18 financial position: 

 $23.3 million revenue including $2.6 million in flood recovery grants and $3.7 million of grant 
income received in advance. At 30 June 2018, Council was awaiting grant reimbursements of 
$2.7m for flood recovery works undertaken during the year 

 $5.55 million Capital Expenditure program delivered. 

 Rates and waste charges comprised $9.6 million (41 per cent) of total revenue. 

 Operating deficit of $2.43 million.  

 Cash holdings of $8.6 million at year end.  

 Council continues to be debt free since September. 
 

Operating Result 
Council has an operating deficit of $2.42 million in 2017/18 compared with a $3.33 million surplus for 
2016/17. This deficit can be attributed to Council awaiting reimbursement ($2.7m) for flood recovery 
works undertaken during 2017/18. Of the 5.38m flood recovery works undertaken in 2017/18, 
Council has been reimbursed by $2.68m.  
 

The fluctuations in operating result in recent years are primarily due to Federal Assistance Grants 
being paid in advance in certain years.  Despite this advance relating to a particular year, the current 
accounting standards require that these funds be included as income in the year of receipt. 

 

 
 

Cash holdings 
Cash holdings at the end of the financial year are $8.68 million.  This figure includes $3.89 million 
funds required for capital works carried forward from 2017/18 which will be undertaken in 2018/19 
and $3.7 million in unspent grants to be carried forward.  This cash also backs the $2 million 
employee leave liability that sits on the balance sheet. At 30 June 2018, Council was awaiting 
reimbursement ($2.7m) for flood recovery works undertaken during 2017/18. 
 
Council’s aim is to continue to retain moderate levels of cash. This will provide Council with the 
flexibility to respond to future opportunities or unexpected events. These may include the potential 
to strategically acquire an asset or to respond to natural disasters such as flood or fire events. 

 

-10

-5

0

5

10

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

($
m

ill
io

n
s)

 

Operating Surplus/(Deficit) 



 

18 SEPTEMBER 2018 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION 

46 
 

 
 

Sustainable Capital Expenditure 
Council aims to ensure that its assets are maintained in a condition that allows them to continue to 
deliver the services needed by the community at a standard that is acceptable to users.  During 
2017/18, Council spent a total of $5.55 million on capital expenditure across the Shire, including $4.89 
million on renewing existing assets. 

 

 
 

Council’s 2017/18 capital expenditure continued to address the challenge of renewing community 
assets. It is anticipated that in future, capital expenditure will be maintained at a realistic level with a 
high degree of dependence on funding from government grants.   
 

Asset renewal is measured as capital expenditure relative to asset depreciation.  Council continues to 
face a significant challenge to fund the renewal of critical long-lived community infrastructure in the 
longer term, although it was pleasing to note that the Council’s investment in asset renewal has been 
steady over the years. 
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Meeting the continual renewal of Council’s vast asset base remains an ongoing challenge for all 
Councils.   

 

 
 

Financial Sustainability 
Council is committed to operating without bank debt where possible, and made the final loan 
repayment in September 2016.  In 2016/17 interest on borrowings and debt redemption consumed 
$0.5 million.  In future years the funds used to pay interest and redeem debt can be allocated to other 
Council priorities which strengthen Council’s financial sustainability in the medium term. Council 
strives to operate in a financially responsible manner while responding to community needs and 
striving for excellence in service delivery. 
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Council is mindful that the cost of rates is borne by ratepayers.  Council is working towards lowering 
this level of annual rate increase in order to reduce the impact on ratepayers, and the State 
Government’s “Fair Go Rates” rate capping system has acted to reduce the annual rate rises from 
2016/17 onwards. 

 

 
 

Council has many current and future demands on funding, highlighting the need for strong, long-term 
planning and the targeted allocation of resources. This is achieved through the preparation and annual 
review process of the Council Plan which is supported by Council’s Strategic Resource Plan. Ultimately, 
these documents are guided by longer-term visions and plans including the Long Term Financial Plan, 
which projects Council’s financial direction for the next ten years. This enables Council to identify and 
analyse trends of significance and provide for sound financial planning and decision-making. 
 

The continued revision and refinement of the Long Term Financial Plan enables longer-term 
conversations with the community and this makes possible long-term goals that assist in creating 
engaged and vibrant communities. 
 

This financial snapshot for the 2017/18 financial year gives a brief overview of Council’s financial 
performance and the significant factors that impacted on the financial resources used to support the 
achievement of long-term community service and asset management objectives.  A more detailed 
analysis of the financial performance for 2017/18 can be found in the Annual Financial Report which is 
available on Council’s website and is attached to Council’s physical Annual Report. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 4 - Financially Sustainable, High-performing Organisation. Our organisation will 
respond to community needs, attend to our core business, and strive for excellence in service delivery 
in an ethical and financially responsible manner. 
 

Pursuant to Section 132 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council is required to give “in principle” 
approval of the 2017/18 Financial Statements and Performance Statement. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
11.1 Draft Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 – circulated separately 
11.2 Draft Performance Statement for the year ended 30 June 2018 – circulated separately 
11.3 Representation Letter – circulated separately 
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FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Financial implications of this report are covered within the financial statements 
 
CONCLUSION 
In accordance with Section 132 of the Local Government Act 1989, Council is required to give “in 
principle” approval of the 2017/18 Financial Statements and Performance Statement. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council, pursuant to Section 132 of the Local Government Act 1989, gives ‘in principle’ 
approval to the Financial Statements and Performance Statement in their final form after any 
changes recommended or agreed to by the auditors have been made for the year ended 30 June 
2018. 
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12. FINANCE REPORT 1 JULY 2017 – 30 JUNE 2018 
Shana Johnny – Manager Finance 
File No: 32/28/04 Part 6 
Declaration of Interest:  As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 
 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to update Council on the operating and capital performance for the 
2017/18 financial year and confirm the carry forwards for the 2018/19 financial year.  
 
BACKGROUND 
Council at its Meeting on 13 June 2017 adopted the budget for the 2017/18 financial year and at the 
19th September 2017 Council meeting approved the carry forward of incomplete projects from 
2016/17 to 2017/18 to form the 2017/18 current budget.  
 

This report compares Council’s actual result for 2017/18 with the 2017/18 forecast as well as 
determining the operating and capital carry forwards from 2017/18 to 2018/19. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
In summary, Council’s closing working capital position as at 30 June 2018 after allowing for 
expenditure and income that has to be carried over until the 2018/19 year is a deficit of $1,460,000. 
This deficit can be attributed to Council awaiting reimbursement of $2,721,000 for flood recovery 
works undertaken during 2017/18. Total cost of flood recovery works undertaken in 2017/18 was 
$5,385,000. 
 

In March 2018, Council allocated $1,200,000 of the Cumulative Working Capital Surplus towards a 
number of projects.  $1,100,000 of expenditure carried forward into 2018/19 relate to this allocation. 
The intention was to retain $639,000 after allocation. 
 

The surplus occurs as a result of a number of variations in the operating and capital expenditure areas. 
 

Year Cumulative Working 

Capital Surplus 

Working Capital Surplus 

Utilised 

2013/14 $633,000 $421,000 

2014/15 $320,000 $nil 

2015/16 $638,000 $nil 

2016/17 $1,839,000 1,200,000 

2017/18 ($1,460,000) -  

 

A detailed finance report containing the following reports is attached to this report: 

o Summary Finance Report by Strategic Objective 
o Working capital report 
o Detailed Finance Report by Strategic Objective 
o Capital works report 
o Income Statement 
o Balance Sheet 
o Cash Flow Statement 
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Variance Analysis (note that any apparent adding errors will be due to rounding) 

Operating Strategic Objectives 

Below is a summary of operating income and expenditure for the year ended 30 June 2018 by Strategic 

Objective.  

1 – Leadership 
Forecast 

$’000 
YTD Actual 

$’000 
Variance 

 $’000 
Carryover  

$’000 

Income -10,392 -11,967 1,576 1,635 

Less: Expenditure 3,631 3,236 395 85 

Net -6,760 -8,731 1,971 1,720 

 

 Income was higher than forecast due to the prepayment of $1,635k of the 2018/19 Financial 
Assistance Grants. 

 Expenditure was lower than forecast by $395k due to lower Councillor expenses of $41k, Council 
election expenses of $27k spread over 3 years, Lower internal audit expenditure of 28k, property 
valuation costs of $27 due to valuation expenses being spread over two years, lower governance 
costs of 31k, lower Fringe Benefits Tax of $30k and temporary staff vacancies during the year. 

 Income carry forwards of $1,635k relate to the adjustment of the 2018/19 Financial Assistance 
Grant which was received in advance during June 2018 and recognised as income in 2017/18. 

 Expenditure carry forwards of $85k relate to human resources, corporate training, council 
elections and property valuation expenses. 

2 – Community 
Forecast 

$’000 

YTD Actual 

$’000 

Variance 

 $’000 

Carryover  

$’000 

Income -1,641 -1,552 -89 0 

Less: Expenditure 3,926 3,304 622 122 

Net 2,285 1,752 532 122 

 Income was lower than forecast due to pending flood insurance claims of $61k and non-receipt 

of the budgeted swimming pools income of $41k. Under the new swimming pools contract, the 

revenue collected is offset against the cost. 

 Expenditure was lower than forecast by $622k due to lower than expected expenditure in Parks 

& Gardens $84k, Snake Valley Sewerage Scheme $40k, Community capital projects 28k, CHSP 

System Development $56k, Supported Playgroup 30k, Local Area Planning $28k, funded war 

memorial projects $18k, Walk to School program $11k, Youth Outreach program $16k, Freeza 

$7k, Library Services $23k and Animal control $21k. 

 Expenditure carry forward of $122k relates to Snake Valley Sewerage Scheme $40k, Supported 

Playgroup 30k, funded war memorial projects $18k , Walk to School program $11k, Youth 

Outreach program $16k and Freeza $7k. 
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3 – Roads 
Forecast 

$’000 

YTD Actual 

$’000 

Variance 

 $’000 

Carryover  

$’000 

Income -1,101 -2,174 1,073 1,069 

Less: Expenditure 9,893 9,781 112 113 

Net 8,792 7,607 1,186 1,181 

 Income was higher than forecast by $1,073k due to the prepayment of $1,069k of the 2018/19 
Financial Assistance Grants.  

 Expenditure was lower than forecast primarily due to work in progress associated with signage 
improvement $50k and drainage – extra works $50k.  These two projects were part of the $1.2m 
working capital reallocation in March 2018. 

 Income carry forwards of $1,069k relate to the adjustment of the 2018/19 Financial Assistance 
Grant which was received in advance during June 2018 and recognised as income in 2017/18. 

 Expenditure carry forward related to the above mentioned signage improvement $50k, Drainage 
– extra works $50k and aerial imaging 12k spread over two years. 

4 – Commerce 
Forecast 

$’000 

YTD Actual 

$’000 

Variance 

 $’000 

Carryover  

$’000 

Income -288 -286 -1 0 

Less: Expenditure 1,159 1,116 43 26 

Net 871 830 42 26 

 Expenditure was lower than forecast by $43k due to CAP projects $21k and promotional 

expenditure $20k.  

 Expenditure carry forward of $26k relate to the CAP projects $21k and economic development 

expenditure $5k.  

5 – Environment 
Forecast 

$’000 

YTD Actual 

$’000 

Variance 

 $’000 

Carryover  

$’000 

Income -1,597 -1,655 58 0 

Less: Expenditure 2,538 2,382 156 65 

Net 941 727 214 65 

 Income was higher than forecast due to increase in Planning Fees $14k, Transfer station income 
$4k, community resilience grant $20k and Facility Energy audit grant 10k.  

 Expenditure was lower than forecast by $156k due to under spend in Planning Enforcement 
$17k, Waste management $52k and Emergency Planning $29k. 

 Expenditure carry forward of $65k relates community resilience grant $20k, Pyrenees future 
$35k and Facility Energy audit grant 10k. 
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Total - Operating result 
Forecast 

$’000 

YTD Actual 

$’000 

Variance 

 $’000 

Carryover  

$’000 

Income -15,018 -17,635 2,616 2,704 

Less: Expenditure 21,147 19,819 1,328 411 

Net 6,129 2,185 3,945 3,116 

 

Capital Works & Major Projects 

Below is a summary of capital works expenditures for 2017-18. Total capital works expenditure in 
some instances was lower than the forecast as a result of the timing of land purchases and non-receipt 
of Government Funding. The carryovers are indicated in the column on the right. 

Capital works and major 
projects 

Forecast YTD Actuals Variance Carryover 

Council Roads 2,512 2,006 -506 412 

Roads to Recovery and 
Roads To Market 

341 -137 -478 827 

Floods 0 2,722 2,722 0 

Land 490 -480 -970 958 

Land Improvements 291 -118 -409 435 

Recreation 1,199 217 -982 1,027 

Buildings 899 207 -692 692 

Furniture & equipment 381 142 -239 216 

Plant purchases 660 422 -238 183 

Net capital expenditure 6,773 4,981 -1,792 4,751 

Total Expenditure 25,471 11,402 -14,069 7,627 

Total Income -18,698 -6,421 12,277 -2,875 

 

Overall Working Capital Position 

Working Capital Result 
Forecast 

$’000 
YTD Actual 

$’000 

Opening Balance – General 6,838 6,838 

Operating Result -6,129 -2185 

Capital Result -6,773 -4,981 

Add Back Depreciation 6,702 6,702 

Add Back Bad & Doubtful Debts 1 1 

Add Back Snake Valley Sewerage Debtors   31 

Closing Working Capital Result 639 6,406 

Less Carryover – Operating   -3,115 

Less Carryover – Capital   -4,751 

Surplus/(Deficit) 639 -1,460 
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Explanation for deficit   

Net Deficit  -1460 

Add: Flood reimbursements expected 30 June 
2018 

 2721 

Less: CHSP overpayment  350 

Working capital surplus  911 

Working capital forecast  639 

Variance  272 

 

During the year, Council allocated $1.2m of the working capital surplus at 30 June 2017 towards a 
number of projects.  At 30 June 2018, $1.1m of this surplus allocation was yet to be spent and is part of 
carryover.  

At the end of the year, after allowing for carried forward adjustments, Council had a working capital 
deficit of $1.46m. At 30 June 2018, Council was awaiting reimbursement of $2.7m for flood related 
works undertaken during the year.  Council was also holding $350k as overpayment received from the 
Commonwealth Home Support Program. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 4 - Financially Sustainable, High-performing Organisation. Our organisation will 
respond to community needs, attend to our core business, and strive for excellence in service delivery 
in an ethical and financially responsible manner. 
 
Under Section 138 of the Local Government Act 1989, at least quarterly a report comparing expenses 

and revenue to budget must be presented to the Council.  

ATTACHMENTS 
12.1 Finance Report 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018 – circulated separately 

 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Financial Implications associated with this report have been covered in Issue/Discussion. 

 
CONCLUSION 
Council’s closing working capital after allowing for carried forward works and adjusting for flood 
reimbursement expenses would reflect sufficient funds retained to allow for contingencies that are 
hard to predict.   
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 
 

1. Receives the End of Year Finance Report for the period 1 July 2017 to 30 June 2018. 

2. Adopts the 30th June 2018 carryover adjustments to the 2018/19 Budget as detailed in the 

above report. 
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13. S11 DELEGATIONS UPDATE 
Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services 
File No: 16/20/08 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 
 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider a review of the S11 Instrument of Appointment 
and Authorisation. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The Local Government Act (1989) (Section 98) requires Council to regularly review all delegations, 
appointments and authorisations that are in force or have been made by Council under this section. 
 

Council is advised by Maddocks Lawyers in preparation of Instruments of Delegation. Advice is 
received after each sitting of Parliament on the changes to legislation affecting local government. 
 

In addition, reviews are undertaken when changes in personnel occupying Authorised Officer roles 
occur. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
S11 Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation 

 

The S11 Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation has been revised and updated to reflect the 
following changes in specific roles, following the appointment of a new contract Local Laws Officer: 
 

 A position title change – changed from ‘Local Laws Officer’ [LLO] to ‘Community Safety & 
Amenity Officer’ [CSAO]. 

 New officer appointments: 
o Katie Gleisner as Manager Planning & Development 
o Shana Johnny as Manager Finance 
o Kathy Bramwell as Director Corporate & Community Services 
o Dennis Nikoltsis as Community Safety & Amenity Officer 
o Tori Cochrane as contracted Environmental Health Officer 

 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Under Section 98 of the Local Government Act (1989) Council is required to regularly review all 
delegations, appointments and authorisations that are in force or have been made by Council. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
13.1 S11 Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation - September 2018 – circulated separately 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
It is a requirement under the Local Government Act (1989) for Council to regularly review all 
delegations, appointments and authorisations that are in force or have been made by Council. 
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CONCLUSION 
In order to legally allow staff other than the Chief Executive Officer to enforce provisions of legislation, 
Council must review its Delegations at regular intervals throughout the year, or when significant 
changes occur. 

 

Amended Delegations once approved by Council will remain in force until further reviews are 
conducted following ongoing legislation changes. 
 
OFFICERS RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council, in the exercise of the powers conferred by section 224 of the Local Government Act 
1989 (the Act) and other legislation referred to in the attached S11 Instrument of Appointment 
and Authorisation (the instruments), Pyrenees Shire Council (Council) resolves that:  
 

1. The members of Council staff referred to in the Instrument be appointed and authorised, 
as set out in the Instrument. 

 

2. The Instrument comes into force immediately the common seal of Council is affixed to the 
Instrument, and remains in force until Council determines to vary or revoke it. 

 

3. Council affixes the Common Seal to the Instrument. 
 

 

 

 



 

18 SEPTEMBER 2018 – PYRENEES SHIRE COUNCIL – ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL 

AGENDA – ITEMS FOR DECISION 

57 
 

14. AUDIT & RISK COMMITTEE 
Kathy Bramwell – Director Corporate and Community Services 
File No: 16/24/10 
Declaration of Interest: As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 
 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to provide Council with an update of the Audit and Risk Committee 
meeting held on the 28th August 2018. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In accordance with Section 139 of the Local Government Act 1989 Council is required to establish an 
Audit Committee.  The Committee meets three times a year and the attached report is an update of 
the meeting held on 26 August 2014. 
 

Section 139 of the Local Government Act requires the following: 
 

1. A council must establish an audit committee. 
2. An audit committee is an advisory committee. 
3. An audit committee must be constituted in the prescribed manner. 
4. An audit committee has the functions and responsibilities prescribed for the purposes of this 

section. 
5. (4A) Section 76D and 79 apply to all members of an audit committee as if they were members 

of a special committee of the Council. 
6. The Minister may make guidelines for the purpose of this section. 
7. Guidelines made under subsection (5) must be published in the Government Gazette. 
8. A Council may pay a fee to a member of an audit committee who is not a Councillor or member 

of Council staff. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
A brief overview of the issues considered by the audit committee is now provided for Council’s 
information. 
 

1. Year-end financial statements for the year ending 30th June 2018: 
a. Adopt the draft financial report and performance statement in principal in their final 

form after any changes recommended or agreed to by the auditors have been made for 
the year ended 30 June 2018. 

b. Recommends that two Councillors and the Chief Executive Officer sign the Final 
Financial Report and Performance Statement in their final form after any changes 
recommended or agreed to by the auditors have been made for the year ended 30 June 
2018. 

c. That the Principal Accounting Officer, Ms Shana Johnny, is authorised to make non 
material changes to the Financial Report and Performance Statement that may arise as 
a result of the audit. 

d. Receive the Draft Closing Report to the Audit & Risk Committee for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2018 including the Draft Final Management Letter via email once 
completed. 

2. Internal Audit Report – Legislative Compliance 
3. Internal Audit Report – Past Issues Status Update 
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4. Internal Audit Report – Review of Waste Charges 
5. VAGO Audit Report – Local Government Insurance Risk; which included the noting of Council’s 

insurance procurement and assurance strategy for the 2019-2020 financial year. 
6. Australian Aged Care Quality Audit follow-up outcome 
7. IBAC report – Corruption and misconduct risks associated with employment practices in the 

Victorian public sector 
8. Governance, Risk & Compliance Report 
9. Internal Auditor’s recent reports and publications of interest to councils 
10. Compliance update 
11. CEO’s Report – Current Issues for Pyrenees Shire Council 

 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 4 - Financially Sustainable, High-performing Organisation. Our organisation will 
respond to community needs, attend to our core business, and strive for excellence in service delivery 
in an ethical and financially responsible manner. 
 

4.4 - Develop our systems to support and enable our people to deliver efficient and quality services 
which are cost effective. 
 
Section 139 of the Local Government Act as detailed above. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
14.1 Minutes of the Audit & Risk Committee meeting 28th August 2018 – circulated separately 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
All financial issues have been addressed in the Issue/Discussion section. 
 
CONCLUSION 
In accordance with the Local Government Act 1989 the Pyrenees Shire Audit and Risk Committee met 
on the 28th August 2018.  This report summarises the items considered by the Committee. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council notes the minutes of the Audit and Risk Committee meeting held on the 28 August 
2018. 
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
 

15. BEN MAJOR TRACK 
Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
File No: 0530 
Declaration of Interest:  As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to seek Council direction in respect of changing the management status 
and financial commitment to the upgrade and maintenance of Ben Major Track to support a private 
business proposal. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Council has been in discussions with the owners of land at Mount Lonarch about their proposal to 
establish a tourism enterprise in the form of a camel touring operation.  The owners also have 
intentions to compliment the experience with camping, and it is proposed that a dwelling also be 
constructed on the site. 
 

The land shown as lot 8A on the attached plan is located north of the Ben Major state forest in the 
parish of Amphitheatre. The land is zoned Rural Conservation Zone. This requires that the proposed 
use and any associated structure or business signage would require a planning permit in accordance 
with the Pyrenees Planning Scheme. The owners have been provided with advice from Council’s 
planning staff, and have also sought their own private planning advice. 
 

A major consideration in respect of any planning approval is the need for legal all weather access. 
 

Legal access to the land is shown on title via an undeveloped road reserve from the north. There is no 
physical road on the road reserve and it is not considered practical or affordable to construct a road 
there due to the steep terrain, the native vegetation, and the length of road that would be required.  
Physical access currently exists from the south via the Ben Major track.  This track is an operational 
track under the management of the Department of Environment Land Water and Planning (DELWP). 
The track runs through the Ben Major State Forest and adjoins the Ben Major Nature Reserve for part 
of the length.  
 

The track is primarily a bush track for DELWP operations which has been gravelled and some 
improvement work has been carried out by DELWP in early 2018. There are no culverts installed and 
the road is subject to erosion. While the first 1.5km of the track from Amphitheatre Road is through 
forest, the next 1.7km of road which runs along the northern perimeter of the forest (to the property 
owner’s main entrance) is in part contained within a government road reserve, although it is unclear 
how much of the road is actually contained within the road reserve.  While the 1.7km length may be in 
part within a road reserve, it is currently managed by DELWP.  It is not contained on Council’s register 
of public roads, and Council is not the relevant road authority.  The track has native vegetation on both 
sides for the full 3.2km length. A CFA officer at a recent site visit advised that the standard of the road 
would meet CFA emergency access requirements. 

 

While there is provision within legislation for DELWP to issue a licence for the use of a forest access 
road for private property access, (thus providing a legal means of access) DELWP has advised that 
current policy prevents licences being issued in these circumstances.  
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DELWP has however confirmed that it would be willing to transfer the road management to Council 
subject to the road being properly surveyed, and a gazetted as a public road. Council would need to 
formally resolve that the road was required for public access, and commit to construct and maintain 
the road to a standard consistent with the road classification and Council’s Road Management Plan. 
 

At a meeting with the owners and Council officers on 28 June 2018, the above options were discussed, 
and at a site meeting involving Council, DELWP and Parks Victoria representatives on 23 August 2018, 
DELWP representative confirmed that DELWP would not entertain the issue of a licence for the road 
due to the state policy position. This is consistent with advice provided by the department to the 
property owner in April 2017.  
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
To assist Council in considering whether to proceed to have the road surveyed and gazetted, and to 
accept responsibility for the road as a public road on Council’s roads register, an assessment has been 
undertaken by Council’s contract engineer to determine the associated works and costs. 
 

The first consideration is the appropriate classification for the road; if the purpose is primarily to 
provide fire access or if the primary purpose is for local access to property. The tables provided below 
in this report outline the estimated costs associated with each classification. While the Fire Access 
category is included in this report, this classification would not be consistent with Council’s Road 
Management Plan in the event that the intended purpose was for access to a residence. 
 

The second consideration is for Council to decide who should meet the cost. While there is an 
economic benefit to the community associated with the establishment and operation of a tourism 
business, the primary beneficiary will be the land owner, and an improved legal access is likely to 
increase the value of the property. Council may consider a contribution to the overall costs having 
regard to the long term economic and community benefit.  
 

At the time of preparing this report, the peak economic output of the proposed business is not known. 
In broad terms however, the REMPlan economic modelling suggests that for every additional direct job 
created in recreational tourism, there is a direct output effect on the economy of $0.181M annually or 
a total effect (includes direct, supply chain and consumptive effect) of $0.239M annually. The total 
economic output from all sectors in the Pyrenees Shire is $533M annually. 
 

In respect of costs, Council may also consider the option of entering into an agreement with the 
property owner under section 173 of the Planning and Environment Act to formalise any land owner 
contribution or obligations in respect of the road. This would require Council and the property owner 
to come to an agreement about the amount and timing of such contributions. 
 

The costs below provided by Council’s contract engineer identify the estimated costs associated with 
surveying the road, the preparation of an agreement as described above, as well as the costs to 
upgrade the road to an appropriate standard subject to the relative road classification. 
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Option 1- Based on Fire Access classification (note that fire access tracks within PSC are not designated 

for residential access): 

Item Estimate of costs 

Survey $ 15,300 

173 Agreement $   1,000 

Initial works to floodways and gravel road $ 50,000 

Internal costs to be recouped $   2,500 

Total $ 68,800 

 

Option 2- Based on Local Access 2 (gravel) classification: 

Item Estimate of costs 

Survey $   18,500 

173 Agreement $     1,000 

Design (inc. geotechnical testing) to IDM standards $   15,000 

Construction (4m wide pavement, drainage and floodways) $ 321,200  

Internal costs to be recouped $      3,500  

Total $ 359,200 

 
The timeframe for completion of such works, and having regard to Council’s current commitments 
would be in the order of 1-2 years. 
 

It is important to understand that any native vegetation removal that may be required to meet 
engineering design standards would require separate planning approval and there may be a need for 
native vegetation offsets to be provided. 
 

The costs above do not consider the ongoing costs associated with the maintenance, renewal and 
management of the road. These costs would be in excess of $1000 per annum for maintenance, and 
the road would possibly require resheeting in approximately 20 years at a cost of around $60,000. 
 

It is also necessary to understand that, a Council decision to adopt and upgrade the road, or to enter 
into a S173 agreement, does not guarantee that a planning approval should and will be granted for the 
proposed activity. This will be subject to further consideration against the provisions of the planning 
scheme, referral responses and any notification outcomes. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and 
facilitate growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
 

5.4 - Increase the visitor economy by immplementing the Pyrenees Shire Council Tourism Strategy. 
 

The change of management and improvement of the road is considered an Advisory Activity under the 
Land Use Activity Agreement between the State of Victoria and the Dja Dja Wurrung Clans Aboriginal 
Corporation formed under the Traditional Owner Settlement Act 2010. This would necessitate 
notification and agreement with the Dja Dja Wurrung.  
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The use of the tracks within the Ben Major state forest will require a tour operators licence for the 
commercial activity from DELWP. 
 

The proposed tourism operation will require a planning approval under the Pyrenees Planning Scheme. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
15.1 Ben Major Track Map 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
The financial costs associated with any Council decision are out lined in the report above. 
 

The administrative costs associated with the above are not included in the above. 
 

Council has not allocated any funds in its budget for this activity. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The property owners of lot 8A Parish of Amphitheatre require legal access in order to make a planning 
application for the use and development of a tourism business. The proposed access to the land is 
from a track currently managed by DELWP, and DEPWP is not agreeable to issue a licence over the 
track to provide legal access, but supports in principle the transfer of the road to Council responsibility, 
which would require survey and gazettal.  
 

Should Council resolve that the road is reasonably required for public access, and agree to adopt the 
road on its register of public roads, Council may undertake works to upgrade the road to a suitable 
standard or enter into an agreement with the land owner for the upgrade, and ongoing costs.  
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council  
 

1. determines that the Ben Major Track is reasonably required for public access, and 
2. agrees to meet the costs associated with the survey, gazettal of the track to a public road, and 

the road upgrade to a suitable “fire access” standard to a maximum amount of $20,000, and 
3. agrees to adopt the road in accordance with the Road Management Act 2004 and include the 

road on Council’s register of public roads, and 
4. agrees that the above is subject to an agreement between Council and the property owner of 

Crown Allotment 8 section A, Parish of Amphitheatre to be made in accordance with section 
173 of the Planning and Environment Act 1987 requiring the property owner to meet the 
balance of costs associated with the upgrade, survey, gazettal and preparation of the 
agreement, and to pay to Council $1000 per annum for ten years for the annual maintenance 
of the road. 

5. agrees for the Chief Executive Officer to negotiate the details of the agreement with the 
property owner. 

6. determines that the actions in 1-5 above are subject to all relevant regulatory approvals being 
in place and the consent of the Department of Environment Land Water and Planning for the 
road management to be transferred to Council responsibility. 
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16. GLUT ROAD REQUEST 
Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
File No: 6270 
Declaration of Interest:  As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is for Council to consider a request from the owners of Cave Hill Creek for 
Council to undertake works to upgrade Glut Road to a sealed road standard. 
 
BACKGROUND 
The following request was received in writing on 4 September 2018 from the owners and operators of 
Cave Hill Creek: 
 

“I am writing to request the Pyrenees Shire investigate sealing the 1.1km of The Glut Rd 
from the Raglan Elmhurst Rd to Cave Hill Creek. I am hoping you can support a move to 
initiate feasibility and engineering studies and explore ways to secure funding for an 
upgrade to proceed. I believe recent increases in traffic volumes on the Glut Rd, and our 
intentions to continue to grow Cave Hill Creek support the need for an upgrade. Improved 
access and safety for our guests and staff would clearly improve the quality of tourism 
experience we offer as Cave Hill Creek continues support the local community and 
economy.   
 

By way of background: 
 

 We estimate there are on average 50 vehicle movements including 5 heavy vehicles 
per day associated with Cave Hill Creek (please note significant seasonal and event 
related variabilities exist) 

 In addition, The Glut Rd also provides access to: 
o Beeripmo walk, Richards campground and The Glut picnic area 
o DELWP traffic accessing Mount Cole State Forest 
o CHW weirs on the Cave Hill Creek and Fiery Creek 
o CHW main (Beaufort water supply to Musical Gully) runs underground 

alongside the road 
o 2 private residences 

 

As you are aware Cave Hill Creek is a major driver of visitation and a significant employer 
in the Pyrenees Shire.  Our commitment to tourism excellence and innovation is well 
known. We were winners at the 2016 and 2017 RACV Victorian Tourism Awards.  We are 
constantly reinvesting, reviewing our tourism offering and seeking ways to improve our 
guest experiences.  In 2017/18 we:  
 

 completed construction of new manager's residence and bike shed 
 hosted >18,000 bed nights  
 employed 14.33 FTE across 71 different employees (added another 2 full time staff 

post 30 June) 
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I feel now is a time for action. We have made multiple approaches to the Pyrenees Shire 
about this over the years including multiple discussions with the late Michael O’Connor 
and Ray Davies, in 2009 I assisted Phil Diprose with traffic flow data in support of the 
upgrade to the Raglan Elmhurst Rd, and other attempts as far back as 2005, 2002 and 
1992! “ 

 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
Glut Road is a road that has been adopted by Council and contained on Councils register of public 
roads as an Access Road. 
 

The road is currently unsealed and the width of the road is constrained by native vegetation with trees 
in close proximity to the road edge.  
 

Council’s engineering services team advises that the road could be upgraded to a sealed road standard 
on the basis of a modified standard design having regard to the width constraints. The modified design 
would be based on a 4.2 meter wide seal and constructed shoulders/drain of approximately 0.6 meters 
on both sides. The early estimated cost of the upgrade over the 1100 meter length is $200,000.  Prior 
to any referral to budget Council officers will undertake a more detailed costing of the project. 
 

Council’s Asset Management Policy reflects a position of renewal before new and upgrade for 
roadworks, and Council’s performance statement for 2017/18 identifies that Council is meeting 
approximately 70% of its road and bridge depreciation. Nevertheless, Council also undertakes upgrade 
and new works where the needs of the community change, and in response to economic activity. Road 
upgrades have in recent years been undertaken on Raglan – Elmhurst Road, Trawalla Road, and 
Moonambel – Natte Yallock Road to name just three. 
 

Cave Hill Creek is a significant business in the Pyrenees Shire as outlined in the above submission, and 
Council may reasonably consider the request. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 5 - Development and Environment. We will undertake forward planning, and 
facilitate growth in our local economy while protecting key natural and built environmental values. 
 

Strategic Objective 1 - Roads and Townships. We will plan, manage, maintain and renew infrastructure 
in a sustainable way that responds to the needs of the community. 
1.1 - Ensure local roads are maintained and renewed in line with adopted plans and strategy to provide 
a safe transport network and meet community needs. 
5.3 - Grow the economy by implementing the Pyrenees Shire Council Growth Strategy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
The estimated cost for the upgrade of the road to sealed road standard is contained above. 
Council has not budgeted for the upgrade of Glut road in its 2018/19 budget for capital works. 
 

The impact of the upgrade on Council’s long term maintenance and renewal demand is influenced by: 

 A reduction in regular maintenance grading 

 A reduction in future periodic resheeting 

 The need for resealing the surface approximately every 20 years. 
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CONCLUSION 
A request has been made for Council to consider the upgrade of 1.1kilometers of Glut road to be 
sealed, and the following recommendation is made. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council  
 

1. refers the matter of the upgrade of Glut Road to its 2019/20 budget process for 
consideration 

2. writes to the owners of Cave Hill Creek advising them of Council’s decision 
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17. CENTRAL HIGHLANDS COUNCILS VICTORIA – LEGAL ENTITY 
Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
File No: 44/06/12 
Declaration of Interest:  As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is to support Central Highlands Councils to become an incorporated 
association pursuant to the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and to authorise the Chief 
Executive to join the association once membership is available.    
 
BACKGROUND 
Pyrenees Shire Council is one of eight member Councils that make up Central Highlands Councils 
Victoria (CHCV) which is an unincorporated grouping of local governments. The City of Ballarat is 
currently Chair and Acting Secretariat of CHCV. The member councils are Moorabool Shire Council; 
Golden Plains Shire Council; Pyrenees Shire Council; Hepburn Shire Council; Central Goldfields Shire 
Council; Northern Grampians Shire Council; Ararat Rural City Council and the City of Ballarat. 
The purpose of CHCV, as an alliance of Victorian councils, is to further a strong economic and social 
future for the region. CHCV works collaboratively on issues and advocates for projects of mutual 
importance to make a positive impact on communities in the region. 
 

CHCV is currently an unincorporated entity and to further the advancement of its purpose its current 
membership intends to become an Incorporated Association pursuant to the Associations 
Incorporation Reform Act 2012 with membership being limited to the eight Central Highlands Councils 
noted above.  
 

The incorporation of CHCV will allow it to: 
 

 maintain a strategic oversight of the priorities and issues of the Central Highlands region;  

 continue to investigate, plan and facilitate activities or functions of benefit to Members and the 
region; and 

 undertake such functions and duties to the benefit of Members and as the committee of 
management determines. 
 

The Association will not have the power to bind any of the Members to undertake any activities or 
functions. 
 

As the CHCV is currently unincorporated, the Pyrenees Shire Council, together with all other member 
councils is exposed to liability in respect of its operations. To address this, and to enable CHCV to 
operate with greater independence and ease, it is proposed to incorporate CHCV as an incorporated 
association.   
 

Pending approval from the Registrar of Incorporated Associations, CHCV will be called ‘Central 
Highlands Councils Victoria Incorporated’ and will operate in accordance with the Rules of the 
Association. 

 

As the thresholds set out in the Local Government Act 1989 would not be reached therefore a further 
risk assessment is not required. 
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If the CHCV continues operating as an unincorporated association, there is a risk that its individual 
members, including Council, will be exposed to liability if the CHCV fails to properly conduct its 
business.  Furthermore, it will be unable to enter into contractual arrangements on its own behalf – 
instead relying on the Secretariat or nominated Council to do so. 
 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
The benefits CHCV being incorporated include that it: 

 is recognised as a separate legal entity, with protection from debts for members and perpetual 
succession; 

 has the power to own and hold property, enter into contracts and otherwise act as any other 
legal entity would; 

 cannot distribute profit to its members; 

 must operate in accordance with a set of rules, including a statement of purpose; and 

 is operated by a committee of management and a secretary, which are responsible for ensuring 
that all legislative obligations are complied with, and purposes are being achieved. 
 

It is not expected that the manner in which CHCV operates will be significantly different from its 
current operations. The funding of the Association’s operations will remain proportional to the relative 
size of a member’s population determined through ABS census data as will the election of a Chair by 
representatives appointed by member Councils.  
 

The committee of management will continue to determine the funding requirements for the 
Association and each member then contributes to the Association’s operating costs in accordance with 
that member’s relevant proportion.  
 
Local Government Act Implications 
Should Council resolve in favour of the recommendation it will be participating in the formation and 
operation of a separate legal entity. To do this Council must satisfy the requirements set out in Section 
193 of the Local Government Act 1989 and have regard to the risks involved, the investment involved, 
and total risk exposure of Council. 
 

Under the Local Government Act 1989, if a council determines that its cost of incorporating does not 
exceed the greater of $100,000 of 1 percent of Council’s revenue, then a risk assessment report does 
not need to be considered by Council.  
 

The total investment involved in Council's participation in the formation of the association is limited to 
$0. As per the above, Council will be required to continue paying membership fees, as fixed by the 
committee from time to time, relative to Councils population, but will not be required to invest 
anything in respect of the incorporation. The total risk involved in Council's participation in the 
formation of the Association is limited to $0. Any liability for the activities of Association is limited to it, 
not to the individual members. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 2 - Relationships and Advocacy. We will build and maintain effective relationships 
with community, government and strategic partners, and advocate on key issues. 
 

2.2 - Work with other LGAs to develop strategy for the delivery of Shared Services. 
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2.3 - Maintain strategic partnerships, and participate with peak bodies for support and to enhance 
advocacy. 
 
Relevant Legislative Consideration 

 Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006 

 City of Ballarat Council Plan 2017-2021 

 Local Government Act 1989 

 Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 

 Central Highlands Regional Strategic Plan 
 

Reporting and Compliance Statements 
 

Implications Considered in Report? Implications Identified? 

Human Rights Yes Yes 

Social/Cultural Yes No 

Environmental/Sustainability Yes No 

Economic Yes No 

Financial/Resources Yes Yes 

Risk Management Yes Yes 

Implementation and Marketing Yes No 

Evaluation and Review Yes No 

 
Human Rights – It is considered that this report does not impact on any human rights identified in the 
Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities Act 2006. 
 
Financial/Resources – Councils relevant proportional contribution as membership to CHCV is included 
in the Budget 2018/19 at $4,000. Pyrenees Shire Council’s relevant proportion is 3 percent as a 
percentage, representative of the proportion that our population bears against the total population of 
all members combined. This financial commitment would continue whilst Council remained a member 
of the Association and will be reviewed and updated by the committee of management in accordance 
with the Associations rules from time to time. Council’s investment in the formation of the Association 
is $0.  

 
Risk Management – As per Section 193 (Entrepreneurial Powers) of the Local Government Act 1989, 
officers have considered the risks associated with formation of this separate legal entity. On balance, 
Council is at a greater risk whilst CHCV remains unincorporated. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
Nil 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
Refer above 
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CONCLUSION 
This report seeks Council’s support for Central Highlands Councils to become an incorporated 
association pursuant to the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and to authorise the Chief 
Executive to join the association once membership is available. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council: 
 

1. Authorises the Chief Executive Officer to apply to have Pyrenees Shire Council join Central 
Highlands Councils Victoria Incorporated upon its registration. 

2. Appoints the Mayor as the Pyrenees Shire Council’s representative for Central Highlands 
Councils Victoria Incorporated. 

3. Notes that the proposed incorporation of Central Highlands Councils Victoria and Council’s 
membership does not involve an investment and/or risk exposure that exceeds the 
thresholds set out in s 193(5C) of the Local Government Act 1989. 
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18. RURAL COUNCILS VICTORIA – RULE CHANGES 
Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
File No: 44/06/22 
Declaration of Interest:  As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 

PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is  to seek support from Council for changes to the Rural Councils Victoria 
incorporated rules.     
 
BACKGROUND 
The secretariat for Rural Councils Victoria Inc. (RCV) has advised that it proposes to make some 
changes to its rules to modernise them and to make them consistent with current activities. The 
secretariat has advised that: 
 

“The current Rural Councils Victoria (RCV) Incorporated Rules were adopted in 2016.  
 

Since that time, the first committee election process and first Annual General Meeting 
have been held.  
 

A number of inconsistencies, contradictions and onerous requirements in the Incorporated 
Rules have since been identified.  
 

The RCV Committee has prepared a revised version of the Incorporated Rules, along with 
an explanatory document outlining the rationale for each of the changes (both documents 
are attached to this email).  
 

In accordance with the current Incorporated Rules, Rule 77 states that the rules may only 
be altered by a special resolution at a general meeting.  
 

It is proposed that a final revised version of the Incorporated Rules be presented as a 
special resolution at the RCV Annual General Meeting scheduled for Wednesday 17 
October.  
 

The RCV Committee is now seeking feedback from members on the proposed changes to 
the Incorporated Rules, as well as any others that may have been overlooked during the 
review process.  
 

All feedback will be considered by the RCV Committee when preparing the final revised 
version to be presented at the Annual General Meeting. “ 

  

ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
The proposed changes are primarily administrative, and not considered significant, and Council’s 
support is recommended. 
 

A copy of the proposed changes are attached to this report. 
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
 

Strategic Objective 2 - Relationships and Advocacy. We will build and maintain effective relationships 
with community, government and strategic partners, and advocate on key issues. 
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2.3 - Maintain strategic partnerships, and participate with peak bodies for support and to enhance 
advocacy. 
 
ATTACHMENTS 
18.1 RCV – Incorporated Rules – proposed changes – circulated separately 
18.2 RCV – Incorporated Rules – explanation of proposed changes – circulated separately 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
There are no financial risks associated with this proposal. 
 
CONCLUSION 
The proposed rule changes to the RCV incorporated rules are circulated for Council consideration and 
Council support is recommended 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

That Council  
 

1. Supports the proposed changes to the Rural Councils Victoria proposed rule changes with 
or without amendment. 

2. Authorises Cr Vance to vote on behalf of Pyrenees Shire Council on the proposed rule 
changes at the Annual General Meeting of Rural Councils Victoria. 
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19. CENTRAL VICTORIA GOLDFIELDS – WORLD HERITAGE LISTING 
Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
File No: 62/12/10 
Declaration of Interest:  As author of this report I have no disclosable interest in this item. 

 
 
PURPOSE 
The purpose of this report is  to seek Council support for the proposed Central Victorian Goldfields 
world heritage listing. 
 
BACKGROUND 
Council has recently received correspondence from the Mayors of Ballarat and Bendigo seeking the 
support of Pyrenees Shire Council and commitment for the development of a nomination for World 
Heritage listing of the Central Victorian Goldfields. The letter is copied below: 
 

“We are writing to you and the Mayors of the other eleven Councils who form the 
central Victorian Goldfields Region to seek your Council’s support and commitment to 
take the next step with us towards the development of a nomination for World 
Heritage Listing (WHL) of the central Victorian Goldfields. As many of you would know 
this has been a project with a long gestation.  
 

A workshop on 29th June 2018 of key stakeholders comprising six municipalities 
including the City of Ballarat and the City of Greater Bendigo reaffirmed the direction 
of the WHL proposal and worked through the key elements. The deliberations of that 
workshop cover the overall financing, resourcing and governance of the development 
of the WHL.  
 

From that workshop a summary of the rationale, objectives, benefits and key stages 
and resourcing of the WHL bid has been produced and is set out in the World Heritage 
Listing Bid document attached.  
 

This document provides a road map for a three-stage process to recognise the Central 
Victorian Goldfields as Australia’s Premier Heritage Region leading to a proposal for 
World Heritage listing of a collection of sites and buildings that are in public ownership. 
As you will see this proposal is pitched for its capacity to stimulate jobs, investment and 
raise the profile of the whole region at the national and international level.  
 

The opportunity has arisen to make a forceful case to back this bid and seek funding in 
the order of $400,000 from the state government, $200,000 from the 13 municipalities 
over two years with the Cities of Ballarat and Greater Bendigo committing $30,000 
each and the remaining $40,000 from the other eleven Councils. Other funding from 
regional sources is expected to contribute between $100,000 and $200,000.  
 

The overall funding requirement for the first two years covering the key development of 
the WHL bid is set out in the table below: 
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 Year 1 Year 2 

State Government  $400,000  -  

Other regional sources  $50,000 - $100,000  $50,000 - $100,000  

City of Greater Bendigo  $30,000  $30,000  

City of Ballarat  $30,000  $30,000  

Other 11 local governments  $2,000 (each)  $2,000 (each)  

 
Achieving World Heritage Listing is a complex process which may take several years with 
no guarantee of success, but as the attached material shows, participants have agreed 
that each step of that journey would be a strong value add in terms of building the 
awareness of the region to drive added visitation and liveability and increasing 
employment opportunities while sharing the rich and diverse stories of the area. The 
whole action will better promote and market the Goldfields region.  
 

If your Council would like more information or a more detailed briefing on the World 
Heritage Listing proposal this can be arranged by contacting Trevor Budge, Manager 
Regional Sustainable Development, City of Greater Bendigo on 5434 6288 or email 
t.budge@bendigo.vic.gov.au or Susan Fayad, Coordinator Heritage and Cultural 
Landscapes, City of Ballarat on 5320 5677 or email susanfayad@ballarat.vic.gov.au  
 

I hope your Council will join with the Cities of Ballarat and Greater Bendigo and other 
municipalities and key stakeholders in seeking to advance this exciting and rewarding 
opportunity. Please ask your CEO to notify CEO’s Justine Linley at Ballarat 
(justinelinley@ballarat.vic.gov.au) or Craig Niemann at Greater Bendigo 
(c.niemann@bendigo.vic.gov.au) of your Council’s intention to support the Central 
Victorian Goldfields Region World Heritage Listing Bid proposal and the funding 
contribution outlined above, by 30 September 2018. The financial contribution for each 
of the two years as outlined above is subject to the external State Government and 
regional contributions being obtained as this external funding is essential to the project 
proceeding.” 

 
ISSUE / DISCUSSION 
The matter of the world heritage listing has been under consideration for a number of years, and the 
attached letter identifies a renewed intent to have the value of the region recognised in this way. 
 

While the process to achieve world heritage listing is complex, it is likely that there will be significant 
economic benefits long term should the application succeed, and the initial ask of $2000 is considered 
a reasonable investment by Pyrenees Shire Council in the short term.  
 
COUNCIL PLAN / LEGISLATIVE COMPLIANCE 
Strategic Objective 2 - Relationships and Advocacy. We will build and maintain effective relationships 
with community, government and strategic partners, and advocate on key issues. 
 

2.3 - Maintain strategic partnerships, and participate with peak bodies for support and to enhance 
advocacy. 
 
 
 

mailto:susanfayad@ballarat.vic.gov.au
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ATTACHMENTS 
19.1 Central Victorian Goldfields – World Heritage Listing Bid – circulated separately 
 
FINANCIAL / RISK IMPLICATIONS 
The cost to participate is $2000.  
There is no specific budget for council’s participation, however the activity could be funded from 
Council’s project planning budget. 
 
CONCLUSION 
Council has recently received correspondence from the Mayors of Ballarat and Bendigo seeking the 
support of Pyrenees Shire Council and commitment for the development of a nomination for World 
Heritage listing of the Central Victorian Goldfields. 
 
OFFICER RECOMMENDATION 

 
That Council agrees to join with the City of Ballarat, the City of Bendigo and other councils to seek to 
take the next steps towards application for the Central Goldfields World Heritage nomination.  
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COUNCILLOR REPORTS AND GENERAL BUSINESS 
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CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS 
 

20. CLOSURE OF MEETING TO MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
That pursuant to the provisions of Section 89(2) of the Local Government Act 1989, the meeting be 
closed to the public in order to consider personnel and contractual matters that may prejudice the 
Council. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the meeting be closed to members of the public under Section 89(2) of the Local Government 
Act 1989, to consider reports on the:- 
 

21.   Supply and Delivery of one 16,000 KG GVM Cab Chassis Truck with Horizontal Discharge 
Body 
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22. RE-OPENING OF MEETING TO MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 
RECOMMENDATION 

That Council, having considered the confidential item, re-opens the meeting to members of the 
public. 

 

 

 
CLOSE OF MEETING 
 
Meeting closed at       

 
Minutes of the meeting confirmed   ............................................................ ……….   

 
      2018   Mayor 
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Mayor
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Tanya Kehoe


Councillor


Date : 18th September 2018


Beaufort


Chief Executive Officer


Date : 18th September 2018


Beaufort


Certification of the 


Financial Statements


In my opinion the accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989, the


Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014, Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional


reporting requirements.


Shana Johnny CPA


Principal Accounting Officer


Beaufort


In our opinion the accompanying financial statements present fairly the financial transactions of Pyrenees Shire Council for the year


ended 30 June 2018 and the financial position of the Council as at that date.


As at the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars in the financial statements to be


misleading or inaccurate.


We have been authorised by the Council and by the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify the


financial statements in their final form.


David Clark


Jim Nolan
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Pyrenees Shire Council Comprehensive Income Statement


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


Note $'000 $'000 


Income


Rates and service charges 2.1 9,640              9,134              


Statutory fees and fines 2.2 201                 184                 


User charges 2.3 762                 829                 


Grants - operating 2.4 9,476              12,505            


Grants - capital 2.4 2,515              2,811              


Contributions - monetary 2.5 18                   157                 


2.6 52                   216                 


Fair value adjustment for non-current assets classified as held for sale 5.1 -                  273                 


Other income 2.7 635                 275                 


Total income 23,299            26,384            


Expenses


Employee costs 3.1 (6,394)             (6,389)             


Materials and services 3.2 (12,336)           (9,678)             


Bad and doubtful debts 3.3 (1)                    (34)                  


Depreciation 3.4 (6,704)             (6,646)             


Borrowing costs 3.5 -                  (5)                    


Other expenses 3.6 (291)                (295)                


Total expenses (25,726)           (23,047)           


Surplus/(deficit) for the year (2,427)             3,337              


Other comprehensive income


Net asset revaluation increment/(decrement) 8.1 5,068              (4,049)             


Total comprehensive result 2,641              (712)                


Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment


Items that will not be reclassified to surplus or deficit in future periods


The above comprehensive income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Pyrenees Shire Council Balance Sheet


2017/2018 Financial Report


2018 2017


Note  $'000  $'000 


Assets


Current assets


Cash and cash equivalents 4.1                8,680                5,800 


Other financial assets 4.1                       5                3,755 


Trade and other receivables 4.1                   781                   851 


Non-current assets classified as held for sale 5.1                   155                   870 


Other assets 4.2                   685                   240 


Total current assets              10,306              11,516 


Non-current assets


Trade and other receivables 4.1                     65                     96 


Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 5.2            228,070            224,269 


Total non-current assets            228,135            224,365 


Total assets            238,442            235,881 


Liabilities


Current liabilities


Trade and other payables 4.3                1,679                1,598 


Trust funds and deposits 4.3                   120                   103 


Employee provisions 4.4                1,924                2,022 


Total current liabilities                3,723                3,723 


Non-Current liabilities


Employee provisions 4.4                     80                   160 


Total non-current liabilities                     80                   160 


Total liabilities                3,803                3,883 


Net assets            234,639            231,998 


Equity


Accumulated surplus              84,200              86,627 


Reserves 8            150,439            145,371 


Total equity            234,639            231,998 


As at 30 June 2018


The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Pyrenees Shire Council Statement of Changes in Equity


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Total


Accumulated 


surplus


2018 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 


Balance at beginning of the financial year 231,998           86,627            145,362           9                     


(Deficit) for the year (2,427)             (2,427)             -                      -                      


Net asset revaluation (increment) 8.1 5,068              -                  5,068              -                      


Balance at end of the financial year 234,639           84,200            150,430           9                     


2017


Balance at beginning of the financial year 232,710           83,290            149,411           9                     


Surplus for the year 3,337              3,337              -                      -                      


Net asset revaluation (decrement) 8.1 (4,049)             -                      (4,049)             -                      


Balance at end of the financial year 231,998           86,627            145,362           9                     


Note


Recreational 


land reserve


Asset 


revaluation 


reserve


The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Pyrenees Shire Council Statement of Cash Flows


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
2018 2017


Inflows/ Inflows/


(Outflows) (Outflows)


Note $'000 $'000 


Cash flows from operating activities


Rates and service charges 9,601              9,205              


Statutory fees and fines 201                 184                 


User charges 630                 941                 


Grants - operating 9,476              12,505            


Grants - capital 2,515              2,811              


Contributions - monetary 20                   173                 


Interest received 175                 113                 


Trust funds and deposits taken 19                   1,502              


Other receipts 471                 163                 


Net GST refund 1,557              1,273              


Employee costs (6,572)             (6,419)             


Materials and services (13,677)           (10,093)           


Trust funds and deposits repaid (3)                    (1,581)             


Other payments (321)                (362)                


Net cash provided by operating activities 8.2 4,092              10,415            


Cash flows from investing activities


Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (5,861)             (6,291)             


Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 360                 402                 


Payments for land held for resale (55)                  (11)                  


Proceeds from sale of land held for resale 594                 389                 


Proceeds from sale of other financial assets 3,750              (247)                


Net cash (used in) investing activities (1,212)             (5,758)             


Cash flows from financing activities     


Finance costs -                  (5)                    


Repayment of borrowings -                  (500)                


Net cash (used in) financing activities -                  (505)                


Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2,880              4,152              


Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 5,800              1,648              


Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year     4.1(a) 8,680              5,800              


Financing arrangements 4.5


Restrictions on cash assets 4.1


The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Pyrenees Shire Council Statement of Capital Works


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018
2018 2017


$'000 $'000


Property


Land - specialised 50                   162                 


Land improvements 75                   71                   


Total land 125                 233                 


Buildings - specialised 91                   388                 


Building improvements 128                 


Total buildings 219                 388                 


Total property 344                 621                 


Plant and equipment


Plant, machinery and equipment 754                 1,085              


Fixtures, fittings and furniture 20                   2                     


Computers and telecommunications 93                   44                   


Library  collection 31                   23                   


Total plant and equipment 898                 1,154              


Infrastructure


Roads 3,835              3,388              


Footpaths and cycleways 43                   10                   


Drainage 168                 382                 


Bridges 67                   123                 


Recreational, leisure and community facilities 188                 131                 


Other Structures 9                     -                      


Total infrastructure 4,310              4,034              


Total capital works expenditure 5,552              5,809              


Represented by:


New asset expenditure 50                   579                 


Asset renewal expenditure 4,849              4,695              


Asset expansion expenditure 38                   -                      


Asset upgrade expenditure 615                 535                 


Total capital works expenditure 5,552              5,809              


The above statement of capital works should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Overview


Introduction


Significant accounting policies


Rounding


Unless otherwise stated, amounts in the financial report have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. Figures in the


financial statements may not equate due to rounding 


The Pyrenees Shire Council was established by an Order of the Governor in Council on 23 September 1994 and is a body


corporate.  The Council's main office is located at 5 Lawrence Street Beaufort.  


These financial statements are a general purpose financial report that consists of a Comprehensive Income Statement,


Balance Sheet, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash Flows, Statement of Capital Works and Notes


accompanying these financial statements. The general purpose financial report complies with the Australian Accounting


Standards (AAS), other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, the Local


Government Act 1989, and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014.


The accrual basis of accounting has been used in the preparation of these financial statements, whereby assets, liabilities,


equity, income and expenses are recognised in the reporting period to which they relate, regardless of when cash is


received or paid. 


Judgements, estimates and assumptions are required to be made about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are


not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated judgements are based on professional judgement


derived from historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.


Actual results may differ from these estimates.


Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and also in future periods


that are affected by the revision. Judgements and assumptions made by management in the application of AAS's that


have significant effects on the financial statements and estimates relate to:


Basis of accounting


Statement of compliance 


 - the fair value of land, buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.2)


 - the determination of depreciation for buildings, infrastructure, plant and equipment (refer to Note 5.2)


 - the determination of employee provisions (refer to Note 4.4)


Unless otherwise stated, all accounting policies are consistent with those applied in the prior year. Where appropriate,


comparative figures have been amended to accord with current presentation, and disclosure has been made of any


material changes to comparatives. 


 -  specific areas requiring judgments including Non current assets classified as held for sale (refer Note 5.1)
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Note 1 Performance against budget 


Budget Actual         Variance


1.1 Income and expenditure 2018 2018 2018


$'000 $'000 $'000 % Ref


Income


Rates and service charges 9,463        9,640        177 2% 1


Statutory fees and fines 143           201           58 41% 2


User charges 868           762            (106) -12% 3


Grants - operating 6,060        9,476        3,416 56% 4


Grants - capital 2,163        2,515        352 16% 5


Contributions - monetary -               18             18 100% 6


84                          52  (32) -38% 7


Other income 254           635           381 150% 8


Total income 19,035      23,299      4,264


Expenses


Employee costs 6,796        6,394        402 6% 9


Materials and services 6,219        12,336       (6,117) -98% 10


Bad and doubtful debts -               1               (1) 0%


Depreciation 6,702        6,704         (2) 0%


Other expenses 328           291           37 11% 11


Total expenses 20,045      25,726      5,681-        


Surplus/(deficit) for the year  (1,010)  (2,427)  (1,417)


The performance against budget notes compare Council’s financial plan, expressed through its annual budget, with actual


performance. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variances.


Council has adopted a materiality threshold of the lower of 10 percent or $100,000 where further explanation is warranted.


Explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality threshold unless the variance is considered to be


material because of its nature.


The budget figures detailed below are those adopted by Council on 13 June 2017. The Budget was based on assumptions that


were relevant at the time of adoption of the Budget. Council sets guidelines and parameters for income and expense targets in


this budget in order to meet Council’s planning and financial performance targets for both the short and long-term. The budget


did not reflect any changes to equity resulting from asset revaluations, as their impacts were not considered predictable.


Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and 


equipment


These notes are prepared to meet the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and


Reporting) Regulations 2014.
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Note 1 Performance against budget (continued)


1.1 Income and expenditure(continued)


Explanation of material variations


Ref Item Explanation


1 Rates and service charges


156


Waste charges arising from the provision of additional bin services 5


Additional interest on rates 11


4


176


2 Statutory fees and fines


3 User charges


4 Grants - operating


376


Natural disaster recovery grants - unbudgeted 2,698


Moonambel Water Supply Planning federal grant (unbudgeted) 180


3,254


5 Grants - capital


Roads to Market grant received but not budgeted 232


Avoca Pool grant received but not budgeted 112


Halls Upgrade Grant received but unbudgeted 92


10


Playing surface grant budgeted but not received  (112)


334


6 Contributions - monetary


6              


10             


16


7 Net gain/(loss) on disposal 


of property, infrastructure, 


plant and equipment


8 Other income


229


63


Interest on investments more than budget 29


 (40)


Insurance claims 43


Private works income greater than budget 38


362


Additional windfarm payments in lieu of rates


Planning application fees were $40,000 above budget primarily due to an increase in planning


applications.


During the year Council received the unbudgeted contributions towards the following projects


The level of capital grants received by Council had a number of significant variations to budget


including:


Waterbores grant received but not budgeted


The level of rates and service charges received by Council had a number of significant variations to


budget including:


The level of operating grants received by Council had 3 significant variations to budget including:


General rates arising from supplementary valuations


User charges are lower than budgeted primarily due to fewer building applications than budgeted


Federal Assistance Grants - early receipt of grants


Beaufort Pool Heating


Waubra Recreation Reserve Toilet Block 


The level of other income received by Council had the following significant variations to budget


including:


Workcover wage reimbursements greater than budget


Debt collection legal cost reimbursements less than budget 


Council budgeted for a gain on the disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment of


$84,000 and the actual result was a gain of $52,000.  This variance relates to the trade in of one item 


of plant that Council had budgeted to be replaced in 2017/18 that has been deferred to 2018/19 due


to insufficient plant hours.


Flood related insurance reimbursements (unbudgeted)
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Note 1 Performance against budget (continued)


1.1 Income and expenditure(continued)


Explanation of material variations


Ref Item Explanation


9 Employee costs


210


210


10 Materials and services


5,373


5,373


11 Other Expenses


Flood recovery contractors


Other expenses are lower than budget primarily due to fewer internal audits than budgeted ($35k)


Employee costs were predominantly under budget due temporary staff vacancies during the year.


Some of these vacancies are offset by contractors.


Council incurred signifcant expenditure on flood recovery activities and this was the prime driver in


materials and services expenses being signifcantly over budget. Flood related expenditure is


reimbursed by the Commonwealth Government post analysis of claims. Council was awaiting


reimbursement for part of this expenditure at year end.  


Staff temporarily replaced by contractors
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Note 1 Performance against budget (continued)


Budget Actual Variance


1.2 Capital works 2018 2018 2018


$'000 $'000 $'000 Ref


Property


Land - specialised 562           50              (512) -91% 12


Land improvements 55             75             20 36% 13


Total Land 617           125            (492)


Buildings - specialised 100           91              (9) -9%


Building improvements -           128           128 100% 14


Total Buildings 100           219           119


Total Property 717           344            (373)


Plant and Equipment


Plant, machinery and equipment 967           754            (213) -22% 15


Fixtures, fittings and furniture 21             20              (1) -5%


Computers and telecommunications 90             93             3 3%


Library  collection 50             31              (19) -38% 16


Total Plant and Equipment 1,128        898           (230)         


Infrastructure


Roads 3,604        3,835        231 6% 17


Footpaths and cycleways 174           43              (131) -75% 18


Drainage 513           168            (345) -67% 19


Bridges 101           67              (34) -34% 20


Recreational, leisure and community facilities 212           188            (24) -11% 21


Other Structures -           9              9 100% 22


Total Infrastructure 4,604        4,310        (294)         


Total Capital Works Expenditure 6,449        5,552        (897)         


Represented by:


New asset expenditure 567           50             (517)         


Asset renewal expenditure 5,314        4,849        (465)         


Asset expansion expenditure 160           38             (122)         


Asset upgrade expenditure 408           615           207           


Total Capital Works Expenditure 6,449        5,552        (897)         


Explanation of material variations


Ref Item Explanation


12 Land - specialised


13 Land Improvements The variance relates to the re-opening of the Landsborough Transfer station which was an


unmanned site.  This overspend was funded from the operating budget


Council budgeted to purchase some vacant land to undertake a residential subdivision. The


purchase has been deferred to 2018/19
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Note 1 Performance against budget (continued)


1.2 Capital works(continued)


Explanation of material variations


Ref Item Explanation


14 Building Improvements


15 Plant, machinery and 


equipment


16 Library 


collection


17 Roads


301


 (670)


581


212


18 Footpaths and cycleways


117


117


19 Drainage


20 Bridges


21 Recreational, leisure and 


community facilities


22 Other Structures


The variance relates to the following - 


* Avoca Pool Refurbishment project - (spend in 2017/18 - $38k). This project is partly funded by a


grant ($124k) which was received post adoption of the budget and was in work in progress stage at


30 June 2018 with works to be completed in 2018/19.


During the year, Council resolved to utilise $1.2m of the working capital surplus towards a list of


projects. The two projects below are part of this surplus allocation and were in work in progress


stage at 30 June 2018


* Waubra Tennis Court Refurbishment (spend in 2017/18 - $47k)


* Waubra Recreation Reserve toilet block (spend in 2017/18 - $40k)


Council budgeted to undertake some footpath improvement projects in response to its recently


adopted Walkability Strategy. These projects were partly dependant on funding from a grant


application that has been submitted and on which Council is awaiting an outcome.


One item of plant that Council had budgeted to be replaced in 2017/18 has been deferred to 2018/19


due to insufficient plant hours.


Deferred Roads to Recovery road project 


One bridge project funded by Roads to Recovery commenced in 2017/18 with culverts purchased.


This project is carried forward into 2018/19.


During the year, Council was successful in an insurance claim outcome and these funds are used for


design costs to resolve some of the issues.


Expenditure on library collection renewal was significantly less than budget and this created a budget


saving of $19,000.


During the year Council budgeted to undertake the Hardcourt Renewal Program ($157k) subject to


grant funding ($112k).  Council is awaiting the outcome of this grant application. 


This underspend is offset by the Beaufort Pool Heating project which was carried forward from


2016/17 ($177k)


One drainage project funded by Roads To Recovery was delayed due to design issues. Unspent


funds are carried forward into 2018/19 to complete works.


During the year Council completed one Roads to Recovery road project that was carried forward


from 2016-17 and deferred one Roads to Recovery road project that was budgeted for in 2017-18.


Council was also successful in receiving funding under the Roads to Market program.


Carried forward Roads to Recovery road project completed 


Local Roads to Market funded project


Footpath projects dependant on a grant funding application
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services


2.1 Rates and service charges


Farm and Rural 3,926              3,805              


Residential 2,963              2,874              


Waste service charges 1,194              1,128              


Vacant land 861                 824                 


Wind Farm 267                 260                 


Commercial and Industrial 359                 183                 


Interest on rates and charges 51                   43                   


Recreation and Cultural 18                   17                   


Total rates and service charges 9,640              9,134              


2.2 Statutory fees and fines


Town planning fees                   113                   106 


Environmental health fees                     41                     37 


Land information and building certificate fees                     22                     24 


Fines                     25                     17 


Total statutory fees and fines 201                 184                 


2.3 User charges


Caravan park charges                   214                   192 


Home care charges                   122                   154 


Building charges                     73                   103 


Animal registration charges                     95                     89 


Rental and function charges                     67                     73 


Delivered meals charges                     44                     54 


Swimming pool charges                       -                     35 


Goldfields Recreation Reserve venue hire charges                     35                     27 


Waste disposal charges                     20                     22 


Resource and information centre charges                     16                     17 


Community transport charges                       8                     11 


Other charges                     68                     52 


Total user charges 762                 829                 


Council uses Capital Improved Value (CIV) as the basis of valuation of all properties within the municipal district. The CIV


of a property is its market value (land and buildings inclusive).


The valuation base used to calculate general rates for 2017-2018 was $1,695 million (2016-2017 was $1,681 million). The


2017-2018 general rate - cents in the CIV dollar was 0.4980 (2016-2017, was 0.4826).


The date of the last general revaluation of land for rating purposes within the municipal district was 1 January 2018, and the


valuation was first applied to the rating period commencing 1 July 2018.


Annual rates and charges are recognised as revenues when Council issues annual rates notices. Supplementary rates are


recognised when a valuation and reassessment is completed and a supplementary rates notice issued.


Statutory fees and fines are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided, the payment is received, or when


the penalty has been applied, whichever first occurs.


User  fees are recognised as revenue when the service has been provided or council has otherwise earned the income.
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services (continued)


2.4


Commonwealth funded grants                7,975              10,224 


State funded grants                4,016                5,092 


Total grants received 11,991            15,316            


Operating Grants


Recurrent - Commonwealth Government


Federal Assistance Grants - general purpose                3,251                4,376 


Federal Assistance Grants - local roads                2,094                3,036 


Commonwealth Home Support Program                   372                   476 


Deparment of Veterans' Affairs Care                     27                       7 


Recurrent - State Government


                  143                   168 


Library                   114                   112 


Maternal & child health                   155                   109 


Youth outreach                     17                     33 


Adult day care                       2                     14 


Freeza                     12                     12 


Other                     38                     28 


6,225              8,371              


Non-recurrent - Commonwealth Government


Natural disaster 35                     35 


Roadside weeds & pests 40                       - 


Moonabel Water Supply Planning 180


Avoca swimming pool                       -                     13 


Non-recurrent - State Government


Flood damage natural disaster                2,663                3,704 


Waubra oval water                     20                     80 


Emergency planning                     90                     60 


Beaufort golf/bowls club water                     14                     54 


                    48                     48 


Straw pellet study                       6                     40 


Beaufort framework plan                     30                     30 


Recreation strategy                       -                     27 


L2P learner driver mentor program                     19                     19 


Community Resilience                     52                       - 


Other                     54                     24 


3,251              4,134              


9,476              12,505            


Grants were received in respect of the following :


Funding from other levels of government


Summary of grants


Aged care and senior citizens


Roadside weeds and pests management 


Total recurrent operating grants


Total non-recurrent operating grants


Total operating grants
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 2 Funding for the delivery of our services (continued)


2.4


Capital Grants


Recurrent - Commonwealth Government


Roads to recovery                1,976                2,281 


Recurrent - State Government


Nil                       -                       - 


               1,976                2,281 


Non-recurrent - State Government


Trawalla Road                   232                   291 


Avoca Pool Grant                   112                       - 


 Raglan, Redbank Hall Upgrade Grant                     92                       - 


Moonabel Water Supply Planning                     41                       - 


Landsborough streetscape                     50                   100 


Beaufort swimming pool                       -                     90 


Beaufort-Carngham Road bridge                       2                     27 


Avoca Lions carpark sealing                       -                     22 


Water Bore Refurbishment                     10                       - 


Total non-recurrent capital grants                   539                   530 


Total capital grants                2,515                2,811 


Total grants              11,991              15,316 


Unspent grants received on condition that they be spent in a specific manner


Balance at start of year                3,444                   145 


Received during the financial year and remained unspent at balance date                3,769                3,416 


Received in prior years and spent during the financial year  (3,435)  (117)


Balance at year end                3,778                3,444 


2.5


Monetary - Operating -                      45                   


Monetary - Capital 18                   112                 


Total contributions 18                   157                 


Contributions


Funding from other levels of government (continued)


Grant income is recognised when Council obtains control of the contribution. Control is normally obtained upon receipt (or


acquittal) or upon earlier notification that a grant has been secured.


Monetary contributions are recognised as revenue when Council obtains control over the contributed asset.  


Total recurrent capital grants
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


2.6


Plant and equipment


327                 365                 


 (250)  (199)


77                   166                 


Land classified as held for resale


570                 377                 


Selling costs  (30)  (23)


 (565)  (304)


 (25) 50


52 216


2.7 Other income


Interest on investments 164                 112                 


Reimbursement - Workcover wages 88                   78                   


Reimbursement - State Revenue Office 45                   40                   


Legal fees - rates                       -                     22 


Private works 99                   21                   


Other 239                 2                     


635                 275                 


Note 3


3.1 Employee costs


Wages and salaries 5,664              5,673              


Superannuation 573                 552                 


Fringe benefits tax 76                   92                   


WorkCover insurance premium 81                   72                   


Total employee costs 6,394              6,389              


Superannuation


Council made contributions to the following funds:


Defined benefit fund


Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super) 113                 92                   


113                 92                   


-                      -                      


Accumulation funds


460                 415                 


Employer contributions  - other funds -                      45                   


460                 460                 


Employer contributions payable at reporting date. -                      9                     


Total other income


Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment


Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment


Proceeds of sale 


Written down value of assets disposed


Proceeds of sale 


Carrying value of assets disposed


Net gain on disposal of plant and equipment


Net gain(loss) on disposal of land classified as held for resale


Refer to note 8.3 for further information relating to Council's superannuation obligations.


The cost of delivering services


Interest is recognised as it is earned.


Other income is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is recognised when Council 


gains control over the right to receive the income.


The profit or loss on sale of an asset is determined when control of the asset has passed to the buyer.


Employer contributions to Local Authorities Superannuation Fund (Vision Super)


Defined benefits employer contributions payable at reporting date.
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Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 3 The cost of delivering services (continued)


3.2


Contractors 8,329              5,848              


Consumables 1,179              1,182              


Contracted Service Delivery 1,308              1,098              


Insurance 324                 286                 


Electricity and water 220                 186                 


Plant expenses 117                 186                 


Information technology 169                 170                 


Telecommunications 150                 163                 


Subscriptions and memberships 115                 124                 


Advertising 97                     113                   


Legal fees 81                   109                 


74                   65                   


Conferences and training 65                   66                   


56                   35                   


Valuations 34                   30                   


Fire services levy 17                   14                   


Cleaning 1                       3                     


12,336            9,678              


3.3 Bad and doubtful debts


Planning debtors -                  33                   


Fire hazard infringement debtors 1                     1                     


Total bad and doubtful debts 1                     34                   


3.4 Depreciation


Infrastructure 4,846              4,762              


Property 1,300              1,290              


Plant and equipment 558                 594                 


6,704              6,646              


3.5 Borrowing costs


Interest on borrowings -                      5                     


-                      5                     


3.6 Other expenses


Councillors' allowances 153                 151                 


Operating lease rentals 74                   73                   


Auditors' remuneration - internal auditor 14                   33                   


36                   31                   


Internal audit committee 14                   7                     


Total other expenses 291                 295                 


Auditors' remuneration - audit of the financial statements, performance statements and 


grant acquittals by the Victorian Auditor General's Office (VAGO) 


Materials and services


Contributions and donations


Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred, except where they are capitalised 


as part of a qualifying asset constructed by Council.


Total borrowing costs


Refer to note 5.2 for a more detailed breakdown of depreciation charges and accounting policy.


Provision for doubtful debt is recognised when there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has occurred. Bad debts 


are written off when identified.


Total depreciation


Stationery, postage, photocopying and printing


Total materials and services
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2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 4 Our financial position


4.1 Financial assets


(a) Cash and cash equivalents


Term deposits -                      5,400              


Cash at bank 8,678              398                 


Cash on hand 2                     2                     


Total cash and cash equivalents 8,680              5,800              


(b) Other financial assets


Term deposits - current 5                     3,755              


Total other financial assets 5                     3,755              


- Trust funds and deposits (Note 4.3(b) ) 120                 103                 


- Recreational land reserve (Note 8.1(b) ) 9                     9                     


Total restricted funds 129                 112                 


8,551              5,688


Intended allocations


3,889              2,040              


2,703              2,505              


1,080              939                 


7,672              5,484              


(c) Trade and other receivables


Current


Statutory receivables


Rates debtors 383                 344                 


Net Australian Taxation Office receivable 161                 216                 


Private scheme debtors 11                   11                   


Non statutory receivables


Sundry debtors 226                 280                 


Total current trade and other receivables 781                 851                 


Non-current


Statutory receivables


Private scheme debtors 65                   96                   


Total non-current trade and other receivables 65                   96                   


Total trade and other receivables 846                 947                 


 - Other grant funding received in advance


Council's cash and cash equivalents are subject to external restrictions that limit amounts available for discretionary use.


These include:


Although not externally restricted the following amounts have been allocated for specific future purposes by Council:


 - Net cash held to fund carried forward capital works


Total funds subject to intended allocations


Total unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 


 - Victoria Grants Commission funding received in advance


Short term receivables are carried at invoice amount. A provision for doubtful debts is recognised when there is objective


evidence that an impairment has occurred. Long term receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest


rate method.


Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits at call, and other highly liquid investments with original maturities


of 90 days or less.


Other financial assets are valued at fair value, at balance date. Term deposits are measured at original cost. Any unrealised gains


and losses on holdings at balance date are recognised as either a revenue or expense.  
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2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 4 Our financial position (continued)


4.1 Financial assets (continued)


(c) Trade and other receivables (continued)


Ageing of receivables


Current (not yet due) 111                 205                 


Past due by up to 30 days 37                   47                   


Past due between 31 and 180 days 51                   16                   


Past due between 181 and 365 days 6                     2                     


Past due by more than 1 year 21                   10                   


Total trade and other receivables 226                 280                 


4.2 Non-financial assets


(a) Inventories


Inventories held for sale 4                     6                     


Total inventories 4                     6                     


(b) Other assets


Prepayments 404                   223                   


Accrued Income 277                   11                     


Total other assets 681                   234                   


Inventories held for sale are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 


The ageing of the Council's trade and other receivables (excluding statutory receivables) that are not impaired was:
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2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 4 Our financial position (continued)


4.3 Payables


(a) Trade and other payables


Trade payables 1,448              1,220              


Accrued payables 231                 378                 


Total trade and other payables 1,679              1,598              


(b) Trust funds and deposits


Refundable deposits 62                   57                   


Landsborough Community trust funds 34                   20                   


Camp Hill trust funds 17                   19                   


Other refundable deposits 7                     7                     


Total trust funds and deposits 120                 103                 


4.4 Employee provisions


Balance at beginning of the financial year 2,182              2,212              


Additional provisions 556                 567                 


Amounts used  (709)  (612)


 (25) 15                   


Balance at the end of the financial year 2,004              2,182              


Employee provisions


Annual leave 396                 463                 


Long service leave 477                 479                 


873                 942                 


Annual leave 172                 200                 


Long service leave 879                 880                 


1,051              1,080              


Total current employee provisions 1,924              2,022              


Non-current provisions


Long service leave 80                   160                 


Total non-current provisions 80                   160                 


Current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months


Increase in the discounted amount arising because of time and the effect of any change 


in the discount rate


Amounts received as deposits and retention amounts controlled by Council are recognised as trust funds until they are


returned, transferred in accordance with the purpose of the receipt, or forfeited. Trust funds that are forfeited, resulting in


council gaining control of the funds, are to be recognised as revenue at the time of forfeit.


Total current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months


Total current provisions expected to be wholly settled within 12 months


Current provisions expected to be wholly settled after 12 months


Retention Amounts - Council has a contractual right to retain certain amounts until a contractor has met certain requirements or


a related warrant or defect period has elapsed. Subject to the satisfactory completion of the contractual obligations, or the


elapsing of time, these amounts will be paid to the relevant contractor in line with Council's contractual obligations.


Purpose and nature of items


Refundable deposits - Deposits are taken by council as a form of surety in a number of circumstances, including in relation to


building works, tender deposits, contract deposits and the use of civic facilities.
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2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 4 Our financial position (continued)


4.4 Employee provisions (continued)


Current 1,924              2,022              


Non-current 80                   160                 


2,004              2,182              


Long service leave


The following assumptions were adopted in measuring the present value of employee benefits:


Weighted average increase in employee costs 3.875% 3.813%


Weighted average discount rates 2.647% 2.612%


Weighted average long service leave settlement period 15 years 15 years


4.5 Financing arrangements


Credit card facilities 38                   47                   


Total facilities 38                   47                   


Used credit card facilities 12                   12                   


Unused facilities 26                   35                   


Council does not have a bank overdraft facility.


Total aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions


Liabilities that are not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for


employee benefits as current liabilities, measured at the present value of the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities


are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.


Liability for long service leave (LSL) is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. LSL is measured at present value.


Unconditional LSL is disclosed as a current liability. Conditional LSL that has been accrued, where an employee is yet to reach


a qualifying term of employment, is disclosed as a non-current liability.


The calculation of employee costs and benefits includes all relevant on-costs and are calculated as follows at reporting date.


Wages and salaries and annual leave


Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and annual leave expected to be wholly settled within 12


months of the reporting date are recognised in the provision for employee benefits in respect of employee services up to the


reporting date, classified as current liabilities and measured at their nominal values.


Aggregate carrying amount of employee provisions:
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Note 4


4.6


2018
Not later than 


1 year


Later than 1 


year and not 


later than 2 


years


Later than 2 


years and not 


later than 5 


years


Later than 5 


years Total


$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 


Operating


81               -              -              -              81               


839             -              -              -              839             


264             270             46               -              580             


83               -              -              -              83               


16               17               -              -              33               


1,283          287             46               -              1,616          


Capital


Signage project 18               -              -              -              18               


18               -              -              -              18               


2017


Operating


79               81               -              -              160             


788             818             -              -              1,606          


164             83               -              -              247             


16               16               17               -              49               


1,047          998             17               -              2,062          


Capital


Swimming pool refurbishment 90               -              -              -              90               


90               -              -              -              90               


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


75               75               


8                 83               


-              -              


83               158             


Swimmming pool


At the reporting date, the Council had the following obligations under non-cancellable operating leases for the lease of equipment


for use within Council's activities (these obligations are not recognised as liabilities):


Waste services


Cleaning services


Later than one year and not later than five years


Later than five years


Total operating lease commitments


Not later than one year


(a) Contractual Commitments


Our financial position (continued)


The Council has entered into the following commitments. Commitments are not recognised in the Balance Sheet. Commitments


are disclosed at their nominal value and presented inclusive of the GST payable.


Lease payments for 2017/18 are recognised under the current accounting standard. The impact of application of the new


accounting standard AASB 16 on these operating leases would be that the lease instalments will no longer be recognised as an


expense in the Income Statement. The leased assets will be recognised as Right of Use (RoU) Assets in the Balance Sheet offset


by a lease payment liability. Depreciation and interest associated with the leased asset will be recognised as expenses in the


Income Statement. Principal payments towards the lease will reduce the lease liability in the Balance Sheet. From a cash flow


perspective,  the impact on the bottom-line will be the same.  


Council will apply the new accounting standard for operating leases in the 2018/19 financial statements. Council currently holds


operating leases for photocopiers and one grader, both of these leases expire in Jul/Aug 2019.  


Commitments


(b) Operating lease commitments


Delivered meals


Cleaning services


Internal audit


Total operating commitments


Delivered meals


Waste services


Internal audit


Total operating commitments


Total capital commitments


Total capital commitments
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2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Note 5 Assets we manage


5.1 Non-current assets classified as held for sale


Residential land held for sale 155             780             


Industrial land held for sale -                  90               


155             870             


Movement in non-current assets classified as held for sale


Balance at beginning of financial year 870             1,113          


Additions 50               10               


Disposals  (565)  (304)


Transfers  (200)  (222)


Revaluation increment/(decrement) - 273


Balance at end of financial year 155             870             


Non-current assets classified as held for sale (including disposal groups) are measured at the lower of its carrying amount and fair


value less costs of disposal, and are not subject to depreciation. Non-current assets, disposal groups and related liabilities and


assets are treated as current and classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered through a sale transaction


rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset's sale


(or disposal group sale) is expected to be completed within 12 months from the date of classification.


Total non-current assets classified as held for sale


Valuation of residential and industrial land held for sale


Valuation of residential and industrial land held for sale has been determined in accordance with a valuation by qualified


independent valuer Mr Chris Barrett, BSc., MBA, AAPI, Certified Practicing Valuer, who has recent experience in the location and


category of the property being valued. The valuation is at fair value, based on the current market value for the property. The


residential and industrial land is held at the lower of carrying value or fair value.
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued)


5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment


Summary of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment


At Fair 


Value 30 


June 2017 Additions Revaluation Depreciation Disposal Transfers


At Fair 


Value 30 


June 2018


$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 


Land 7,212       75  (464)  (216) - 200 6,808       


Buildings 26,228     268 2,634  (1,084) - 23 28,069     


Plant and Equipment 3,365       898 -  (558)  (250) - 3,457       


Infrastructure 187,364   4,006 2,898  (4,846) - 28 189,452   


Work in progress 100          253 - - -  (69) 284          


TOTAL 224,269   5,501 5,068  (6,704)  (250) 182 228,070   


Summary of Work in Progress (WIP)


Opening WIP Additions Transfers Write Offs Closing WIP


$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 


Infrastructure 83            128           (52) - 159          


Property 17            125           (17) - 125          


TOTAL 100          253           (69) - 284          


Asset recognition thresholds and depreciation periods


Asset category 2018 2017 $'000 


Property


   land - -                 -   


   land improvements 25 25                10 


Buildings


   buildings 120 120                10 


Plant and Equipment


   plant, machinery and equipment 5-10 5-10                  1 


   fixtures, fittings and furniture 3-10 3-10                  1 


   computers and telecommunications 3-10 3-10                  1 


   library collection 3-10 3-10                  1 


Infrastructure


   sealed roads formation 100.0 100.0                10 


   unsealed roads formation 100.0 100.0                10 


   sealed roads pavement 80.4 80.4                10 


   unsealed roads pavement 25.0 25.0                10 


   sealed surfaces 18.5 18.5                10 


   footpaths 52.1 52.1                10 


   kerb and channel 78.1 78.1                10 


   major culverts, pipes and pits 80-100 80-100                10 


   bridges 108.0 108.0                10 


   other structures 10-25 10-25                  1 


Pyrenees Shire Council


2017/2018 Financial Report


Notes to the Financial Report


For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Depreciation Period (years)


For the year ended 30 June:


Threshold 


Limit
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued)


5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)


(a) Property Land - 


specialised


Land 


improvements


Total 


Land and 


Land 


Improvements


Buildings - 


specialised


Total 


Buildings


Work In 


Progress


Total 


Property


$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 


At fair value 1 July 2017 3,367       5,596       8,963       49,266     49,266     17            58,246     


Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017 -                (1,751)  (1,751)  (23,038)  (23,038) -                (24,789)


Written down value at 1 July 2017 3,367       3,845       7,212       26,228     26,228     17            33,457     


Movements in fair value


Additions -               75            75            268          268          125          468          


Revaluation 610           (1,074) 464-          2,634       2,634       -               2,170       


Transfers 200          - 200          23            23             (17) 206          


Movements in value for year 810           (999)  (189) 2,925       2,925       108          2,844       


Movements in accumulated depreciation


Depreciation -                (216)  (216)  (1,084)  (1,084) -                (1,300)


Transfers -               -               -               -               -               -               -               


-                (216)  (216)  (1,084)  (1,084) -                (1,300)


At fair value 30 June 2018 4,178       4,597       8,775       52,191     52,191     125          61,091     


Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018 -                (1,967)  (1,967)  (24,122)  (24,122) -                (26,089)


Written down value at 30 June 2018        4,178        2,630 6,808       28,069     28,069     125          35,002     


(b) Plant and Equipment Plant, machinery 


and equipment


Fixtures, fittings 


and furniture


Computers and 


telecommun-


ications


Library 


collection


Total plant 


and 


equipment


$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 


At fair value 1 July 2017 5,943       287          1,269       330          7,829       


Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017  (2,799)  (247)  (1,178)  (240)  (4,464)


Written down value at 1 July 2017 3,144       40            91            90            3,365       


Movements in fair value


Additions 754          20            93            31            898          


Disposals  (744) -               -               -                (744)


Movements in value for year 10            20            93            31            154          


Movements in accumulated depreciation


Depreciation  (463)  (11)  (60)  (24)  (558)


Accumulated depreciation of disposals 494          -               -               -               494          


31             (11)  (60)  (24)  (64)


At fair value 30 June 2018 5,954       307          1,362       362          7,985       


Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018  (2,768)  (258)  (1,238)  (264)  (4,528)


Written down value at 30 June 2018        3,186             49           124             98 3,457       


Movements in accumulated 


depreciation for year


Movements in accumulated 


depreciation for year
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued)


5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment


Roads Bridges


Footpaths 


and 


cycleways Drainage


Other 


structures


Work In 


Progress
Total 


Infrastructure


$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 


At fair value 1 July 2017 231,178   51,017     1,975       19,066     813          83            304,132   


Accumulated depreciation at 1 July 2017  (86,288)  (22,543)  (1,022)  (6,465)  (367) -                (116,685)


Written down value at 1 July 2017 144,890   28,474     953          12,601     446          83            187,447   


Movements in fair value


Additions 3,781       29            9              187          -               128          4,134       


Revaluation 2,898 - -               -               -               -               2,898


Transfers 28            -               -               -               -                (52) 24-            


Movements in value for year 6,707 29 9 187 - 76 7,008


Movements in accumulated depreciation


Depreciation  (4,111)  (454)  (37)  (200)  (44) -                (4,846)


Transfers -               -               -               -               -               -               -


 (4,111)  (454)  (37)  (200)  (44) -                (4,846)


At fair value 30 June 2018 237,886   51,047     1,984       19,253     813          159          311,142   


Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2018  (90,399)  (22,997)  (1,059)  (6,665)  (411) -                (121,531)


Written down value at 30 June 2018 147,487   28,050     925          12,588     402          159          189,611   


Movements in accumulated 


depreciation for year


(c) Infrastructure
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued)


5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)


Recognition and measurement of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment


Acquisition


Land under roads


Depreciation


Repairs and maintenance


Valuation of land and buildings 


Level 1 Level 2 Level 3


Specialised land 30.06.2018 -                      -                      4,178              


Land improvements 30.06.2018 -                      -                      2,630              


Specialised buildings 30.06.2018 -                      -                      28,069            


Total property -                      -                      34,877            


Valuation of infrastructure


The purchase method of accounting is used for all acquisitions of assets, being the fair value of assets provided as


consideration at the date of acquisition plus any incidental costs attributable to the acquisition. Fair value is the price that


would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly transaction between market participants at the


measurement date.


Council recognises land under roads that it owns at fair value.  


Valuation of land and buildings was undertaken by qualified independent valuer Mr Chris Barrett, BSc., MBA, AAPI, Certified


Practicing Valuer. The valuation of land and buildings is at fair value, being market value based on highest and best use


permitted by relevant land planning provisions. Where land use is restricted through existing planning provisions the


valuation is reduced to reflect this limitation. This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has


no impact on the comprehensive income statement.   


Specialised land is valued at fair value using site values adjusted for englobo (undeveloped and/or unserviced)


characteristics, access rights and private interests of other parties and entitlements of infrastructure assets and services.


This adjustment is an unobservable input in the valuation. The adjustment has no impact on the comprehensive income


statement.


Details of the Council’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018 are as follows:


Valuation of bridge, footpath and cycleway, kerb and channel, road pavement, road formation and sealed surface assets has


been determined in accordance with an independent valuation undertaken by Mr Peter Moloney, Dip. C.E., MIE Australia.  


Any significant movements in the unobservable inputs for land will have a significant impact on the fair value of these assets.


Where the repair relates to the replacement of a component of an asset and the cost exceeds the capitalisation threshold the


cost is capitalised and depreciated.  The carrying value of the replaced asset is expensed. 


Date of Valuation


Where assets are constructed by Council, cost includes all materials used in construction, direct labour, borrowing costs


incurred during construction, and an appropriate share of directly attributable variable and fixed  overheads.


In accordance with Council's policy, the threshold limits have applied when recognising assets within an applicable asset


class and unless otherwise stated are consistent with the prior year.


Depreciation periods used are listed previously and are consistent with the prior year unless otherwise stated.


Straight line depreciation is charged based on the residual useful life as determined each year.


Where assets have separate identifiable components that are subject to regular replacement, these components are


assigned distinct useful lives and residual values and a separate depreciation rate is determined for each component.


Buildings, land improvements, plant and equipment, infrastructure, and other assets having limited useful lives are


systematically depreciated over their useful lives to the Council in a manner which reflects consumption of the service


potential embodied in those assets. Estimates of remaining useful lives and residual values are made on a regular basis


with major asset classes reassessed annually.  Depreciation rates and methods are reviewed annually.


Road earthworks are not depreciated on the basis that they are assessed as not having a limited useful life.
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Note 5 Assets we manage (continued)


5.2 Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (continued)


Level 1 Level 2 Level 3


Roads  31.12.2015 -                      -                      147,487           


Footpaths and cycleways  31.12.2015 -                      -                      925                 


Drainage   31.12.2015 -                      -                      12,588            


Bridges    31.12.2015 -                      -                      28,050            


Other structures   30.06.2016 -                      -                      402                 


Total infrastructure -                      -                      189,452           


2018 2017


Reconciliation of specialised land $'000 $'000 


Recreation 2,054              1,672              


Industry 439                 305                 


Tourism 638                 391                 


Works 390                 348                 


Waste management 340                 281                 


Children's services 68                   108                 


Roads 181                 176                 


Administration 67                   86                   


Total specialised land 4,177              3,367              


5.3


Committees of management


The valuation is at fair value based on replacement cost less accumulated depreciation as at the date of valuation.


Details of the Council’s infrastructure and information about the fair value hierarchy as at 30 June 2018 are as follows:


Valuation of major culvert, pit and pipe assets has been determined in accordance with a valuation undertaken by Council's


Manager of Assets, Mr Robert Rowe.  


Specialised land and land under roads is valued using a market based direct comparison technique. Significant


unobservable inputs include the extent and impact of restriction of use and the market cost of land per square metre. The


extent and impact of restrictions on use varies and results in a reduction to surrounding land values between 0% and 90%.


The market value of land varies significantly depending on the location of the land and the current market conditions.


Currently land values range between $1 and $266 per square metre.  


Investments in associates, joint arrangements and subsidiaries


All entities controlled by Council that have material revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, such as Committees of


Management, have been included in this financial report. Any transactions between these entities and Council have been


eliminated in full.


Specialised buildings are valued using a depreciated replacement cost technique. Significant unobservable inputs include


the current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of buildings. Current replacement costs is calculated on a square


metre basis and ranges from $141 to $4,575 per square metre. The remaining useful lives of buildings are determined on


the basis of the current condition of buildings and vary from 28 years to 50 years. Replacement cost is sensitive to changes


in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful lives of buildings are


sensitive to changes in expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the useful lives of buildings.


Date of Valuation


Council does not have any investments in associates, joint arrangements or subsidiaries.


The following Local Government Act 1989  Section 86 Committee of Council has been consolidated into this financial report: 


Beaufort Community Bank Complex.


Infrastructure assets are valued based on the depreciated replacement cost. Significant unobservable inputs include the


current replacement cost and remaining useful lives of infrastructure. The remaining useful lives of infrastructure assets are


determined on the basis of the current condition of the asset and vary from one year to 107 years. Replacement cost is


sensitive to changes in market conditions, with any increase or decrease in cost flowing through to the valuation. Useful


lives of infrastructure are sensitive to changes in use, expectations or requirements that could either shorten or extend the


useful lives of infrastructure assets.


Description of significant unobservable inputs into level 3 valuations
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Note 6 People and relationships


6.1 Council and key management remuneration


(a) Related Parties


Pyrenees Shire Council is the parent entity.


Subsidiaries and Associates


As at 30 June 2018 Council does not have any interests in any subsidiaries and/or associates.


(b) Key Management Personnel


Councillors Councillor David Clark (Mayor)


Councillor Ronald Eason


Councillor Michael O'Connor (Mayor 01.07.2017 to 15.05.2018)


Councillor Tanya Kehoe


Councillor Robert Vance


Note - Councillor Michael O'Connor passed away on 15 May 2018 and his seat was vacant till elections were held in August 2018


Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel


Jim Nolan - Chief Executive Officer


Evan King - Director Corporate and Community Services


Doug Gowans - Director Assets and Development


Ray Davies - Manager Economic Development and Tourism


2018 2017


No. No.


Total Number of Councillors                5                5 


Chief Executive Officer and other Key Management Personnel 4              4              


Other people who have acted as Key Management Personnel throughout the year -                          1 


Total Key Management Personnel 9              10             


(c) Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


Short-term benefits 741           814           


Long-term benefits              11              21 


Post-employment benefits              83              95 


Total Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 835           930           


2018 2017


No. No.
               3                3 


1              1              


1              


1              


               1 


               1 


               1 


               1                2 


               1 


$200,000 - $215,999 1                             1 


Total Key Management Personnel 9              10             


$120,000 - $129,999


$180,000 - $189,999


$160,000 - $169,999


Parent entity


Total remuneration of key management personnel was as follows:


The numbers of key management personnel whose total remuneration from Council and any 


related entities, fall within the following bands:


Income Range:


$30,000 - $39,999


$40,000 - $49,999


$110,000 - $119,999


$20,000 - $29,999


$100,000 - $109,999


Details of persons holding the position of Councillor or other members of key management personnel at any time during the 


year are:


$50,000 - $59,999
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Note 6 People and relationships (continued)


6.1 Council and key management remuneration (continued)


6.2 Related party disclosure


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


5              10             


-           2              


1              


70                          69 


76             81             


All of the above transactions were at arms length and in the normal course of Council's business.


2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


                -                 - 


                -                 - 


               1 


                -                1 


                -                 - 


                -                 - 


The aggregate amount of commitments  in existence at balance date that have been made, 


guaranteed or secured by the council to a related party are as follows:


A Senior Officer is an officer of Council, other than Key Management Personnel, who: 


a) has management responsibilities and reports directly to the Chief Executive; or


(d) Senior Officers Remuneration


Total outstanding balances with related parties as at 30 June


Employee remuneration under normal employment terms


During the year Council did not have any staff that were deemed to be Senior Officers under the above definition (nil in


2016/2017).


Payment of community grants under normal funding terms


b) whose total annual remuneration exceeds $145,000


(c) Loans to/from related parties


(d) Commitments to/from related parties


The aggregate amount of loans in existence at balance date that have been made, guaranteed or 


secured by the Council to a related party as follows:


Purchase of goods and services under normal trading terms


(a) Transactions with related parties 


During the period Council entered into the following transactions with related parties.


Purchase of goods and services under normal trading terms


The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to 


transactions with related parties


Payment of community grants under normal funding terms


Total transactions with related parties 


(b) Outstanding balances with related parties 


Employee remuneration under normal employment terms


Leasing out council building facility
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Note 7


7.1 Contingent assets and liabilities


Contingent assets


Contingent liabilities


Superannuation


7.2 Change in accounting standards


Income of Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 1058 ) (applies 2019/20)


Financial Instruments - Disclosures (AASB 7) (applies 2018/19)


The classification of leases as either finance leases or operating leases is eliminated for lessees. Leases will be recognised in the


Balance Sheet by capitalising the present value of the minimum lease payments and showing a ‘right-of-use’ asset, while future


lease payments will be recognised as a financial liability. The nature of the expense recognised in the profit or loss will change.


Rather than being shown as rent, or as leasing costs, it will be recognised as depreciation on the ‘right-of-use’ asset, and an


interest charge on the lease liability. The interest charge will be calculated using the effective interest method, which will result in


a gradual reduction of interest expense over the lease term.


This standard replaces AASB 1004 Contributions and establishes revenue recognition principles for transactions where the


consideration to acquire an asset is significantly less than fair value to enable to not-for-profit entity to further its objectives.


During the year, Council completed flood recovery works of 5.38m, of which reimbursement grants of $2.68m was received prior


to 30 June 2018.  Council expects to be reimbursed the balance of $2.7m upon review of claims in 2018/19.


Managing uncertainties


In addition to the disclosed contributions, Pyrenees Shire Council has paid unfunded liability payments to Vision Super totalling $0


paid during the 2017/18 year ($0 paid during the 2016/17 year). There were no contributions outstanding and no loans issued


from or to the above scheme as at 30 June 2018. The expected contributions to be paid to the Defined Benefit category of Vision


Super for the year ending 30 June 2019 are $72,000


The following new Australian Accounting Standards (AAS's) have been issued that are not mandatory for the 30 June 2018


reporting period. Council has assessed these pending standards and has identified the following potential impacts will flow from


the application of these standards in future reporting periods.


Council has obligations under a defined benefit superannuation scheme that may result in the need to make additional


contributions to the scheme, matters relating to this potential obligation are outlined below. As a result of the volatility in financial


markets the likelihood of making such contributions in future periods exists. 


Future superannuation contributions


This Standard requires entities to provide disclosures in their financial statements that enable users to evaluate: (a) the


significance of financial instruments for the entity’s financial position and performance; and (b) the nature and extent of risks


arising from financial instruments to which the entity is exposed.


Financial Instruments (AASB 9) (applies 2018/19)


The key changes include the simplified requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets, a new hedging


accounting model and a revised impairment loss model to recognise impairment losses earlier, as opposed to the current


approach that recognises impairment only when incurred.


Revenue from contracts with customers (AASB 15) (applies 2019/20 for Local Government sector)


The standard shifts the focus from the transaction-level to a contract-based approach. Recognition is determined based on what


the customer expects to be entitled to (rights and obligations), while measurement encompasses estimation by the entity of the


amount expected to be entitled for performing under the contract. The full impact of this standard is not known however it is most


likely to impact where contracts extend over time, where there are rights and obligations that may vary the timing or amount of the


consideration, or where there are multiple performance elements. This has the potential to impact on the recognition of certain


grant income. 


Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Deferral of AASB 15 for Not-for-Profit Entities (AASB 2016-7) (applies


2019/20)


Leases (AASB 16) (applies 2019/20)


This Standard defers the mandatory effective date of AASB 15 for not-for-profit entities from 1 January 2018 to 1 January 2019.
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Note 7


7.3


 - monitoring of return on investment; and


(d) Credit risk


Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause Council to


make a financial loss. Council have exposure to credit risk on some financial assets included in the balance sheet. To help


manage this risk:


 - Council has a policy for establishing credit limits for the entities it deals with; 


- Council only invests surplus funds with financial institutions which have the recognised credit rating specified in its investment


policy.


Receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across the ratepayer, business and government sectors. Credit risk


associated with the Council's financial assets is minimal because the main debtor is secured by a charge over the rateable


property. 


(b) Market risk


Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of council financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in


market prices.  The Council's exposure to market risk is primarily through interest rate risk with only insignificant exposure to other 


price risks and no exposure to foreign currency risk. 


 - Council may require collateral where appropriate; and


(c) Interest rate risk


Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate


due to changes in market interest rates. Council does not hold any interest bearing financial instruments that are measured at fair


value, and therefore has no exposure to fair value interest rate risk. Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash


flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. Council has minimal exposure to cash


flow interest rate risk through its cash and deposits that are at floating rates. 


Investment of surplus funds is made with approved financial institutions under the Local Government Act 1989. Council manages


interest rate risk by adopting an investment policy that ensures:


 - diversification of investment product;


 - benchmarking of returns and comparison with budget.


There has been no significant change in the Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing interest


rate risk or the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.


Interest rate movements have not been sufficiently significant during the year to have an impact on the Council's year end result.


There are no material financial assets which are individually determined to be impaired.


Council may also be subject to credit risk for transactions which are not included in the balance sheet, such as when Council


provide a guarantee for another party. At balance date Council has not provided any guarantees to any third parties.


The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any


provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the balance sheet and notes to the financial statements. Council does


not hold any collateral.


Financial Instruments


(a)  Objectives and policies


The Council's principal financial instruments comprise cash assets, term deposits, receivables (excluding statutory receivables)


and payables (excluding statutory payables). Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the


criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of


each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument is disclosed in the Notes of the financial statements. Risk


management is carried out by senior management under policies approved by the Council. These policies include identification


and analysis of the risk exposure to Council and appropriate procedures, controls and risk minimisation.


Managing uncertainties (continued)
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Note 7


7.3


(e) Sensitivity disclosure analysis


Taking into account past performance, future expectations, economic forecasts, and management's knowledge and experience of


the financial markets,  Council believes the following movements are 'reasonably possible' over the next 12 months:


 - A parallel shift of +2.0% and -1.0% in market interest rates (AUD) from year-end cash rates of 1.50% (1.50% at 30 June 2018).


These movements will not have a material impact on the valuation of Council's financial assets and liabilities, nor will they have a


material impact on the results of Council's operations.


The Council's maximum exposure to liquidity risk is the carrying amounts of financial liabilities as disclosed on the face of the


balance sheet, and is deemed insignificant based on prior periods' data and current assessment of risk.


There has been no significant change in Council's exposure, or its objectives, policies and processes for managing liquidity risk or


the methods used to measure this risk from the previous reporting period.


All financial liabilities are expected to be settled within normal terms of trade.  


Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of financial instruments reflect their fair value.


Financial Instruments (continued)


 - monitors budget to actual performance on a regular basis.


 - has a liquidity portfolio structure that requires surplus funds to be invested within various bands of liquid instruments;


To help reduce these risks Council:


(e) Liquidity risk


Liquidity risk includes the risk that, as a result of council's operational liquidity requirements it will not have sufficient funds to


settle a transaction when required or will be forced to sell a financial asset at below value or may be unable to settle or recover a


financial asset.


 - has a liquidity policy which targets a minimum and average level of cash and cash equivalents to be maintained;


 - has readily accessible standby facilities and other funding arrangements in place;


Managing uncertainties (continued)
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Note 7


7.4 Fair value measurement


7.5 Events occurring after balance date 


Managing uncertainties


No matters have occurred after balance date that require disclosure in the financial report.


Council measures certain assets and liabilities at fair value where required or permitted by Australian Accounting


Standards. AASB 13 Fair value measurement aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a definition


of fair value and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across Australian


Accounting Standards.


AASB 13 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly


transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Fair value under AASB 13 is an exit price regardless of


whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. 


Council's financial assets and liabilities are not valued in accordance with the fair value hierarchy, Council's financial assets


and liabilities are measured at amortised cost. 


Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities


Revaluation


Subsequent to the initial recognition of assets, non-current physical assets, other than plant and equipment, are measured


at their fair value, being the price that would be received to sell an asset (or paid to transfer a liability) in an orderly


transaction between market participants at the measurement date. At balance date, the Council reviewed the carrying


value of the individual classes of assets measured at fair value to ensure that each asset materially approximated its fair


value.  Where the carrying value materially differed from the fair value at balance date, the class of asset was revalued.


Fair value valuations are determined in accordance with a valuation hierarchy. Changes to the valuation hierarchy will only


occur if an external change in the restrictions or limitations of use of an asset result in changes to the permissible or


practical highest and best use of the asset. In addition, Council undertakes a formal revaluation of land, buildings, and


infrastructure assets on a regular basis ranging from three to five years. The valuation is performed either by experienced


council officers or independent experts.


Where the assets are revalued, the revaluation increments are credited directly to the asset revaluation reserve except to


the extent that an increment reverses a prior year decrement for that class of asset that had been recognised as an


expense in which case the increment is recognised as revenue up to the amount of the expense. Revaluation decrements


are recognised as an expense except where prior increments are included in the asset revaluation reserve for that class of


asset in which case the decrement is taken to the reserve to the extent of the remaining increments. Within the same class


of assets, revaluation increments and decrements within the year are offset.


Impairment of assets


All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within a


fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement


as a whole:


Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 


or indirectly observable; and


Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is


unobservable.


For the purpose of fair value disclosures, Council has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the


nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as explained above.


In addition, Council determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing


categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of


each reporting period.


At each reporting date, the Council reviews the carrying value of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that


these assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the


asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in use, is compared to the assets carrying value. Any excess of the


assets carrying value over its recoverable amount is expensed to the comprehensive income statement, unless the asset is


carried at the revalued amount in which case, the impairment loss is recognised directly against the revaluation surplus in


respect of the same class of asset to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed the amount in the revaluation


surplus for that same class of asset.
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Note 8 Other matters


8.1 Reserves


(a) Asset revaluation reserve $'000 $'000 $'000


2018


Property


Land 1,845              610                 2,455              


Buildings 19,140            1,560              20,700            


Total property revaluation reserve 20,985            2,170              23,155            


Infrastructure


Roads 92,401            2,898              95,299            


Footpaths and cycleways 827                 -                  827                 


Drainage  10,636            -                  10,636            


Bridges   20,172            -                  20,172            


Plant and equipment 301                 -                  301                 


Furniture and fittings 40                   -                  40                   


Total infrastructure revaluation reserve 124,377           2,898              127,275           


Total asset revaluation reserves 145,362           5,068              150,430           


2017


Property


Land 1,845              -                  1,845              


Buildings 19,140            -                  19,140            


Total property revaluation reserve 20,985            -                  20,985            


Infrastructure


Roads 96,450            (4,049)             92,401            


Footpaths and cycleways 827                 -                  827                 


Drainage  10,636            -                  10,636            


Bridges   20,172            -                  20,172            


Plant and equipment 301                 -                  301                 


Furniture and fittings 40                   -                  40                   


Total infrastructure revaluation reserve 128,426           (4,049)             124,377           


Total asset revaluation reserves 149,411           (4,049)             145,362           


Balance at


beginning of 


reporting period


Transfer from 


accumulated 


surplus


Balance at end 


of reporting 


period


(b) Recreational land reserve $'000 $'000 $'000


2018


Recreational land 9                     -                  9                     


Total recreational land reserves 9                     -                  9                     


2017


Recreational land 9                     -                  9                     


Total recreational land reserves 9                     -                  9                     


The recreational land reserve contains contributions paid by developers undertaking the subdivision of residential land.


These funds are required to be expended on the creation or expansion of recreational opportunities for the community, and


are held until such time the relevant expenditure is incurred.


Pyrenees Shire Council Notes to the Financial Report


2017/2018 Financial Report For the Year Ended 30 June 2018


Balance at


beginning of 


reporting period


Increment 


(decrement)


Balance at


 end of 


reporting period


The asset revaluation reserve is used to record the increased (net) value of Council's assets over time.
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Note 8 Other matters (continued)
2018 2017


$'000 $'000 


8.2


Surplus/(deficit) for the year (2,427)             3,337              


Depreciation 6,704              6,646              


(52)                  (216)                


-                  (273)                


Borrowing costs -                  5                     


Change in assets and liabilities:


(Increase)/Decrease in trade and other receivables 101                 95                   


Decrease in inventories 2                     1                     


(Increase) in prepayments (181)                (113)                


(Increase)/Decrease in accrued income (266)                9                     


Increase in trade and other payables 81                   615                 


Increase/(Decrease) in provisions (178)                (30)                  


Increase/(Decrease) in trust funds and deposits 17                   (79)                  


Net GST on operating activities 292                 418                 


Net cash provided by operating activities 4,092              10,415            


8.3 Superannuation


Fair value adjustment for non-current assets classified as held for sale


Net gain on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment


Reconciliation of cash flows from operating activities to surplus/(deficit)


Council makes the majority of its employer superannuation contributions in respect of its employees to the Local Authorities


Superannuation Fund (the Fund). This Fund has two categories of membership, accumulation and defined benefit, each of


which is funded differently. Obligations for contributions to the Fund are recognised as an expense in the Comprehensive


Income Statement when they are made or due.


Accumulation


The Fund's accumulation categories, Vision MySuper/Vision Super Saver, receive both employer and employee


contributions on a progressive basis. Employer contributions are normally based on a fixed percentage of employee


earnings (for the year ended 30 June 2018, this was 9.5% as required under Superannuation Guarantee legislation).   


Defined Benefit


Council does not use defined benefit accounting for its defined benefit obligations under the Fund's Defined Benefit


category. This is because the Fund's Defined Benefit category is a pooled multi-employer sponsored plan. 


There is no proportional split of the defined benefit liabilities, assets or costs between the participating employers as the


defined benefit obligation is a floating obligation between the participating employers and the only time that the aggregate


obligation is allocated to specific employers is when a call is made. As a result, the level of participation of Council in the


Fund cannot be measured as a percentage compared with other participating employers. Therefore, the Fund Actuary is


unable to allocate benefit liabilities, assets and costs between employers for the purposes of AASB 119.


Funding arrangements


Council makes employer contributions to the Defined Benefit category of the Fund at rates determined by the Trustee on


the advice of the Fund Actuary.  


As at 30 June 2017, a full triennial actuarial investigation was completed. The vested benefit index (VBI) of the Defined


Benefit category of which Council is a contributing employer was 103.1%. To determine the VBI, the Fund Actuary used


the following long-term assumptions:


Net investment returns 6.5% pa


Salary information 3.5% pa


Price inflation (CPI) 2.5% pa.


Vision Super has advised that the VBI at 30 June 2018 was 106%. 


The VBI is to be used as the primary funding indicator. Because the VBI was above 100%, the 30 June 2017 actuarial


investigation determined the Defined Benefit category was in a satisfactory financial position and that no change was


necessary to the Defined Benefit category’s funding arrangements from prior years.
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Note 8 Other matters (continued)


8.3 Superannuation (continued)


2018 interim actuarial investigation


The VBI surplus means that the market value of the fund’s assets supporting the defined benefit obligations exceed the


vested benefits that the defined benefit members would have been entitled to if they had all exited on 30 June 2017. 


The total service liability surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category plus


expected future contributions exceeds the value of expected future benefits and expenses as at 30 June 2017.


The discounted accrued benefit surplus means that the current value of the assets in the Fund’s Defined Benefit category


exceeds the value of benefits payable in the future but accrued in respect of service to 30 June 2017.


Council was notified of the 30 June 2017 VBI during August 2017.


In the event that the Fund Actuary determines that there is a shortfall based on the above requirement, the Fund’s


participating employers (including Council) are required to make an employer contribution to cover the shortfall. Using the


agreed methodology, the shortfall amount is apportioned between the participating employers based on the pre-1 July 1993


and post-30 June 1993 service liabilities of the Fund’s Defined Benefit category, together with the employer’s payroll at 30


June 1993 and at the date the shortfall has been calculated. 


Due to the nature of the contractual obligations between the participating employers and the Fund, and that the Fund


includes lifetime pensioners and their reversionary beneficiaries, it is unlikely that the Fund will be wound up. If there is a


surplus in the Fund, the surplus cannot be returned to the participating employers. In the event that a participating employer


is wound-up, the defined benefit obligations of that employer will be transferred to that employer’s successor.


An interim actuarial investigation is being conducted for the Fund’s position as at 30 June 2018 as the Fund provides


lifetime pensions in the Defined Benefit category. It is anticipated that this actuarial investigation will be completed by


October 2018.


A total service liability surplus of $193.5 million. 


A discounted accrued benefits surplus of $228.8 million. 


A VBI surplus of $69.8 million


Employer contributions


(a) Regular contributions


On the basis of the results of the 2017 triennial actuarial investigation conducted by the Fund Actuary, Council makes


employer contributions to the Fund’s Defined Benefit category at rates determined by the Fund’s Trustee. For the year


ended 30 June 2018, this rate was 9.5% of members' salaries (9.5% in 2016/2017). This rate will increase in line with any


increases in the SG contribution rate. In addition, Council reimburses the Fund to cover the excess of the benefits paid as a


consequence of retrenchment above the funded resignation or retirement benefit.


(b) Funding calls


If the Defined Benefit category is in an unsatisfactory financial position at an actuarial investigation or the Defined Benefit


category‘s VBI is below its shortfall limit at any time other than the date of the actuarial investigation, the Defined Benefit


category has a shortfall for the purposes of SPS 160 and the Fund is required to put a plan in place so that the shortfall is


fully funded within three years of the shortfall occurring. The Fund monitors its VBI on a quarterly basis and the Fund has


set its shortfall limit at 97%. 


The 2017 full actuarial investigation surplus amounts


The Fund’s full actuarial investigation as at 30 June 2017 identified the following in the defined benefit category of which


Council is a contributing employer:
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Performance Statement 
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REFERENCES 


Reg R 


Better Practice  BP 


 


R17(1) 
 
 
 
BP 


Description of municipality 


 


Pyrenees Shire is located in the Central West of Victoria, about 130 kilometers North West of 
Melbourne. It is heavily dependent on primary industry and is renowned for its, wool, 
viticulture and forestry activity. Thirty percent of the workforce is involved in agriculture. Key 
areas of production are wool, cereal, hay crops and meat. Grape and wine production has 
expanded significantly in recent times.  Gold, along with sand, gravel and slate all contribute to 
the economy.  
 
The Pyrenees Shire comprises an area of nearly 3,500 square kilometres and a population of 
7,347 residents. The Shire takes its name from the ranges in the north that hold similarity to the 
Pyrenees Ranges in Europe. 
 
Council administration is based in the township of Beaufort, and a number of Council services 
also operate from the township of Avoca. These services include health and aged care, roads 
and infrastructure maintenance, library and information centres. 
 
Excellent educational facilities are available in Pyrenees Shire, including integrated children’s 
centres, primary schools, a secondary college and Community Resource and Information 
Centres incorporating adult education and library services. 
 
Recreational activities are available in abundance in the region, giving community members and 
visitors wonderful opportunities to experience new pastimes. Most townships in the Shire have 
their own sporting facilities, such as sports ovals and netball courts. Avoca and Beaufort also 
have skate parks.  
 
Tourism is ever growing throughout the region. Hang-gliding from Mount Cole, croquet in 
Beaufort, the French game of Petanque in Avoca and the long-running Lake Goldsmith Steam 
Rally, attract large numbers of visitors year round.  In recent years, the action sport of 
mountain bike riding has risen in popularity. 
 
In addition to the sporting opportunities, the Pyrenees is known for its wineries and culinary 
delights. Community markets are a popular attraction, as are the region’s antique fairs, picnic 
horse races and music festivals. 
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Sustainable Capacity Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 


 


 Indicator/measure 
Results 


Material variations 
2015 2016 2017 2018 


R15(3) 


Sch3 


R16(1) 


R17(2) 


Population 


Expenses per head of municipal 


population 


[Total expenses / Municipal 


population] 


$2,995.13 $2,779.24 $3,156.69 $3,501.57 Expenses for 2016/17 and 2017/18 have been higher than normal 


due to flood restoration works. 


 Infrastructure per head of municipal 


population 


[Value of infrastructure / Municipal 


population] 


$40,148.16 $32,563.03 $30,256.40 $30,115.97 Infrastructure per head of municipal population has decreased 


slightly since 2016/17.  Though part of the assets impaired during the 


2016/17 floods have been restored, the decrease is primarily due to 


the capital renewal backlog. 


 Population density per length of road 


[Municipal population / kilometres of 


local roads] 


3.41 3.47 3.71 3.73 Population density per length of road has remained consistent with 


prior years. 


 Own-source revenue 


Own-source revenue per head of 


municipal population 


[Own-source revenue / Municipal 


population] 


$1,347.47 $1,436.68 $1,494.45 $1,536.68 Increase in own source revenue is due to 2% rate cap rise and 1.5% 


higher cap. 


 Recurrent grants 


Recurrent grants per head of 


municipal population 


[Recurrent grants / Municipal 


population] 


$1,261.50 $492.67 $1,458.98 $1,116.24 The early payment of Federal Assistance Grants had inflated the ratio 


in 2016/17 (which received a full allocation for 2016/17 and ½ annual 


allocation for 2017/18).  The 2017/18 ratio is more the norm. 


 Disadvantage 


Relative socio-economic 


disadvantage of the municipality 


[Index of Relative Socio-economic 


Disadvantage by decile] 


1.00 1.00 1.00 1.00 Pyrenees Shire Council SEIFA score of 1 demonstrates the level of 


socio-economic disadvantage experienced by the residents of the 


Shire. 
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BP 
 


Definitions 
 


"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:  
a) Non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and 
b) Non-monetary asset contributions; and 
c) Contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other than those referred to above. 


 “infrastructure” means non-current property, plant and equipment excluding land 
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road 
Management Act 2004 
"population" means the resident population estimated by council 
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council 
(including government grants) 
"relative socio-economic disadvantage", in relation to a municipality, means the relative socio-economic disadvantage, expressed as a decile for the relevant 
financial year, of the area in which the municipality is located according to the Index of Relative Socio-Economic Disadvantage (Catalogue Number 
2033.0.55.001) of SEIFA 
"SEIFA" means the Socio-Economic Indexes for Areas published from time to time by the Australian Bureau of Statistics on its Internet website 
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash. 
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Service Performance Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 


 


 Service/Indicator/measure 
Results 


Material variations 
2015 2016 2017 2018 


R15(1) 


Sch3 


R16(1) 


R17(2) 


Aquatic facilities utilisation 


Utilisation of aquatic facilities 


[Number of visits to aquatic facilities 


/ Municipal population] 


1.69 2.81 1.66 1.66 Over the past couple of years the utilization of aquatic facilities has 


remained consistent. 


Animal management  


Animal management prosecutions 


[Number of successful animal 


management prosecutions] 


0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 There were no animal management prosecutions completed during 


2017/18. 


Food safety 


Critical and major non-compliance 


outcome notifications 


[Number of critical and major non-


compliance outcome notifications 


about a food premises followed up / 


Number of critical and major non-


compliance outcome notifications 


about a food premises] x 100 


100.00% 50.00% 42.86% 75.00% Council’s improved performance in following-up notifications is due 


to increased resourcing provided. 


Governance Satisfaction 


Satisfaction with council decisions 


[Community satisfaction rating out of 


100 with how Council has performed 


in making decisions in the interest of 


the community) 


 


 


 


 


 


57.00 56.00 62.00 57.00 Although Pyrenees Shire Council’s score of 57 decreased from the 


previous year, this remained above Small Rural Council and State-


wide average of 54 and 52 respectively. 
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 Service/Indicator/measure 
Results 


Material variations 
2015 2016 2017 2018 


Home and Community Care (HACC) 


Participation  


Participation in the Home and 


Community Care service 


[Number of people that received a 


community care service / Municipal 


target population for services] x 100 


26.75% n/a n/a n/a Reporting on Home and Community Care ceased on 1 July 2016 due 


to the introduction of Commonwealth Government’s NDIS and CHSP 


programs. 


HACC Participation by CALD people 


Participation in the Home and 


Community Care service by CALD 


people 


[Number of CALD people who 


receive a HACC service / Municipal 


target population in relation to CALD 


people for HACC services] x 1000 


34.85% n/a n/a n/a Reporting on Home and Community Care ceased on 1 July 2016 due 


to the introduction of Commonwealth Government’s NDIS and CHSP 


programs. 


Libraries participation 


Active library members 


[Number of active library members / 


Municipal population] x 100 


13.00% 10.80% 9.78% 11.00% Active library membership remains steady. 


Maternal and child health 


Participation 


Participation in the MCH Service 


[Number of children who attend 


MCH service at least once (in the 


year) / Number of children enrolled 


in the MCH service] x 100 


 


 


 


 


 


87.00% 86.63% 88.56% 83.77% Participation in the MCH service has reduced slightly but overall 


remains consistent. 
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 Service/Indicator/measure 
Results 


Material variations 
2015 2016 2017 2018 


MCH Participation  


Participation in the MCH Service by 


Aboriginal children 


[Number of Aboriginal children who 


attend the MCH service at least once 


(in the year) / Number of children 


enrolled in the MCH service] x 100 


100.00% 66.67% 100.00% 100.00% Low numbers of participants in this service can create high variations 


year on year, however this has remained constant over the past two 


years. 


Roads Satisfaction 


Satisfaction with sealed local roads 


[Community satisfaction rating out of 


100 with how council has performed 


on the condition of sealed local 


roads] 


55.00 54.00 55.00 54.00 Pyrenees Shire Council’s score of 54 is above Small Rural Councils 


and State Wide average of 49 and 53 respectively. 


Statutory Planning – decision 


making 


Council planning decisions upheld at 


VCAT 


[Number of VCAT decisions that did 


not set aside council’s decision in 


relation to a planning application 


/Number of VCAT decisions in 


relation to planning applications] x 


100 


100.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% There were no VCAT Council decisions in relation to planning 


applications in 2017/18. 


Waste Collection – waste diversion 


Kerbside collection waste diverted 


from landfill 


[Weight of recyclables and green 


organics collected from kerbside bins 


/ Weight of garbage, recyclables and 


green organics collected from 


kerbside bins] x 100 


42.00% 38.61% 39.36% 42.02% Council continues to focus on initiatives that reduce the level of 


waste that goes to landfill. 
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BP 


 
Definitions 
 
"Aboriginal child" means a child who is an Aboriginal person 
"Aboriginal person" has the same meaning as in the Aboriginal Heritage Act 2006 
"active library member" means a member of a library who has borrowed a book from the library 
"annual report" means an annual report prepared by a council under sections 131, 132 and 133 of the Act 
“CALD” means culturally and linguistically diverse and refers to persons born outside Australia in a country whose 
national language is not English 
“class 1 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984, that have been declared as class 
1 food premises under section 19C of that Act 
“class 2 food premises” means food premises, within the meaning of the Food Act 1984 , that have been declared as class 2 food premises under section 19C of 
that Act 
"Community Care Common Standards "means the Community Care Common Standards for the delivery of HACC 
services, published from time to time by the Commonwealth 
"critical non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by council under section 19N(3) or (4) of 
the Food Act 1984 , or advice given to council by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that poses an immediate serious threat to public health 
"food premises" has the same meaning as in the Food Act 1984 
"HACC program" means the Home and Community Care program established under the Agreement entered into for the purpose of the Home and Community Care 
Act 1985 of the Commonwealth 
"HACC service" means home help, personal care or community respite provided under the HACC program 
"local road" means a sealed or unsealed road for which the council is the responsible road authority under the Road 
Management Act 2004 
"major non-compliance outcome notification" means a notification received by a council under section 19N(3) or (4) of the Food Act 1984, or advice given to council 
by an authorized officer under that Act, of a deficiency that does not pose an immediate serious threat to public health but may do so if no remedial action is taken 
"MCH" means the Maternal and Child Health Service provided by a council to support the health and development of children within the municipality from birth 
until school age 
"population" means the resident population estimated by council 
“Target population” has the same meaning as in the Agreement entered into for the purposes of the Home 
and Community Care Act 1985 of the Commonwealth 


“WorkSafe reportable aquatic facility safety incident” means an incident relating to a council aquatic facility that is required to be notified to the Victorian 
WorkCover Authority under Part 5 of the Occupational Health and Safety Act 2004. 
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Financial Performance Indicators 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 


 Dimension/indicator/measure 
Results Forecasts 


Material variations 
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 


R15(2) 
Sch3 
R16(1) 
R16(2) 


 
R17(2) 
R17(3) 


Efficiency 


Revenue level 


Average residential rate per 


residential property 


assessment 


[Residential rate revenue / 


Number of residential 


property assessments] 


$842.49 $877.80 $956.16 $987.67 $1,005.00 $1,027.61 $1,050.73 $1,074.38 Increase driven by 2% rate cap and 


1.5% higher rate cap. 


Expenditure level 


Expenses per property 


assessment 


[Total expenses / Number of 


property assessments] 


$3,579.28 $3,216.40 $3,920.89 $4,287.67 $3,474.67 $3,598.00 $3,641.33 $3,706.00 Expenses for 2016/17 and 2017/18 


are higher than normal due to flood 


recovery works associated with three 


flood events – Sep 2016, Apr 2017 


and Nov 2017. 


Workforce turnover 


Resignations and terminations 


compared to average staff 


[Number of permanent staff 


resignations and terminations 


/ Average number of 


permanent staff for the 


financial year] x 100 


12.24% 8.20% 14.81% 23.38% 8.20% 8.20% 8.20% 8.20% Increase in staff turnover has been 


due to retirements, terminations and 


restructure.  Part of the resignations 


related to staff moving into higher 


positions in other organisations 


including councils. 
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 Dimension/indicator/measure 
Results Forecasts 


Material variations 
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 


R15(2) 
Sch3 
R16(1) 
R16(2) 


 
R17(2) 
R17(3) 


Liquidity 


Working Capital 


Current assets compared to 


current liabilities 


[Current assets / Current 


liabilities] x 100 


232.86% 197.02% 309.32% 276.85% 150.11% 139.70% 137.84% 138.99% The 2017/18 ratio is relatively lower 


than 2016/17 because Council 


received $2.5 million advance 


payment of the Victorian Grants 


Commission allocation in addition to 


the normal annual allocation in 


2016/17. 


At 30 June 2018, Council’s cash 


balance included a budget of $3.8m 


of carried forward capital works yet 


to be completed. 


Unrestricted cash 


Unrestricted cash compared 


to current liabilities 


[Unrestricted cash / Current 


liabilities] x 100 


140.31% -6.50% 5.48% 23.85% 70.17% 68.02% 66.83% 65.68% As at 30
th


 June 2018 there were no 


investments like prior years. 


Obligations 


Asset renewal 


Asset renewal compared to 


depreciation 


[Asset renewal expenses / 


asset depreciation] x 100 


61.69% 60.25% 70.64% 72.33% 72.76% 76.83% 87.09% 88.30% Council continues to be committed 


to renewal of assets and in particular 


road assets. 


Loans and borrowings 


Loans and borrowings 


compared to rates 


[Interest bearing loans and 


borrowings / Rate revenue] x 


100 


 


 


 


15.15% 5.76% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% Council repaid all outstanding debts 


in 2016/17 and is now debt free. 
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 Dimension/indicator/measure 
Results Forecasts 


Material variations 
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 


 


 


 


 


Loans and borrowings 


Loans and borrowings 


repayments compared to 


rates 


[Interest and principal 


repayments on interest 


bearing loans and borrowings 


/ Rates revenue] x 100 


10.06% 8.81% 5.53% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% Council repaid all outstanding debts 


in 2016/17 and is now debt free. 


Indebtedness 


Non-current liabilities 


compared to own source 


revenue 


[Non-current liabilities / Own 


source revenue] x 100 


5.46% 1.59% 1.47% 0.71% 1.51% 1.51% 1.47% 1.51% Council is debt free and non-current 


liabilities held reflect employee 


provisions. 


Obligations 


Adjusted underlying result 


Adjusted underlying surplus 


(or deficit) 


[Adjusted underlying surplus 


(deficit) / Adjusted underlying 


revenue] x 100 


-10.53% -39.98% 10.47% -13.12% -10.41% -8.56% -3.96% -3.02% The deficit is primarily due to 


completed flood recovery works.  


Council is awaiting grant 


reimbursements from the 


Commonwealth Government. 


Stability 


Rates concentration 


Rates compared to adjusted 


underlying revenue 


[Rate revenue / Adjusted 


underlying revenue] x 100 


43.18% 64.29% 35.48% 42.39% 53.03% 52.52% 54.56% 54.58% The ratio is lower than expected due 


to underlying revenue being lower 


than expected due to the completed 


flood recovery works.  Council is 


awaiting grant reimbursement from 


the Commonwealth Government. 
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 Dimension/indicator/measure 
Results Forecasts 


Material variations 
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 


 


 


 


 


Rates effort 


Rates compared to Property 


values 


[Rate revenue / Capital 


Improved Value of rateable 


properties in the municipality] 


x 100 


0.52% 0.54% 0.54% 0.57% 0.47% 0.49% 0.53% 0.54% The rate revenue compared to 


property values have gone up due to 


the value of a new sub-station that 


has come on board in 2018/19. 
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  BP Definitions 
 
"adjusted underlying revenue" means total income other than:  


a) Non-recurrent grants used to fund capital expenditure; and 
b) Non-monetary asset contributions; and 
c) Contributions to fund capital expenditure from sources other 


than those referred to above. 
"adjusted underlying surplus (or deficit)" means adjusted underlying revenue less total expenditure 
"asset renewal expenditure" means expenditure on an existing asset or on replacing an existing asset that returns the service capability of the asset to 
its original capability 
“current assets” has the same meaning as in the AAS 
"current liabilities" has the same meaning as in the AAS 
“non-current assets” means all assets other than current assets 
"non-current liabilities" means all liabilities other than current liabilities 
“non-recurrent grant” means a grant obtained on the condition that it be expended in a specified manner and is not expected to be received again 
during the period covered by a council's Strategic Resource Plan 
"own-source revenue" means adjusted underlying revenue other than revenue that is not under the control of council (including government 
grants 
"population "means the resident population estimated by council 
“rate revenue” means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges 


"recurrent grant "means a grant other than a non-recurrent grant 
"residential rates" means revenue from general rates, municipal charges, service rates and service charges levied on residential properties 
"restricted cash" means cash and cash equivalents, within the meaning of the AAS, that are not available for use other than for a purpose for 
which it is restricted, and includes cash to be used to fund capital works expenditure from the previous financial year 
"unrestricted cash" means all cash and cash equivalents other than restricted cash. 
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Other Information 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 
  BP 1. Basis of preparation 


 
Council is required to prepare and include a performance statement within its annual 
report. The performance statement includes the results of the prescribed sustainable 
capacity, service performance and financial performance indicators and measures together 
with a description of the municipal district and an explanation of material variations in the 
results. This statement has been prepared to meet the requirements of the Local 
Government Act 1989 and Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
Where applicable the results in the performance statement have been prepared on 
accounting bases consistent with those reported in the Financial Statements. The other 
results are based on information drawn from council information systems or from third 
parties (e.g. Australian Bureau of Statistics). 
 
The performance statement presents the actual results for the current year and for the 
prescribed financial performance indicators and measures, the results forecast by the 
council’s strategic resource plan. The Local Government (Planning and Reporting) 
Regulations 2014 requires explanation of any material variations in the results contained 
in the performance statement. 


 
Council has adopted materiality thresholds relevant to each indicator and measure and 
explanations have not been provided for variations below the materiality thresholds unless 
the variance is considered to be material because of its nature. 
 
The forecast figures included in the performance statement are those adopted by council in 
its strategic resource plan on 26 June 2018 and which forms part of the council plan. The 
strategic resource plan includes estimates based on key assumptions about the future that 
were relevant at the time of adoption and aimed at achieving sustainability over the long 
term. Detailed information on the actual financial results is contained in the General 
Purpose Financial Statements. The strategic resource plan can be obtained by contacting 
council. 
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Certification of the Performance Statement 
 


R18(1) 
R18(2) 


 


In my opinion, the accompanying performance statement has been prepared in accordance with 
the Local Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 
2014. 


 


 
 


_________________________ 


Shana Johnny 
Principal Accounting Officer 
Dated: 
 


 
In our opinion, the accompanying performance statement of the (council name) for the year ended 
30 June 2018 presents fairly the results of council’s performance in accordance with the Local 
Government Act 1989 and the Local Government (Planning and Reporting) Regulations 2014. 
 
The performance statement contains the relevant performance indicators, measures and results 
in relation to service performance, financial performance and sustainable capacity. 
 
At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances that would render any particulars 
in the performance statement to be misleading or inaccurate. 
 
We have been authorised by the council and by the Local Government (Planning and 
Reporting) Regulations 2014 to certify this performance statement in its final form. 


 
 
 


_____________________________ 


Cr David Clark 
Mayor 
Dated:  


 
 
 
_____________________________ 


Cr Tanya Kehoe 
Councillor 
Dated:  
 
 
 
 


_____________________________ 


Jim Nolan 
Chief Executive Officer 
Dated:  


 


 








 
 


 


 


18 September 2018 


Cassandra Gravenall 


Partner 


Crowe Horwath Melbourne. PO Box 1, Geelong VIC 3220 


 


 


Via email: cassandra.gravenall@crowehorwath.com.au 


 


 


Dear Ms Gravenall, 


Representations by the Chief Executive Officer in relation to the financial report of Pyrenees 


Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 2018 


This representation letter is provided in connection with your audit of the financial report and 


performance statement of Pyrenees Shire Council for the year ended 30 June 2018.  The audit is 


undertaken for the purpose of you being able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on 


which to express an opinion as to whether the financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, 


in accordance with applicable Australian Accounting Standards, and the financial reporting 


requirements of the Local Government Act 1989 and whether the performance statement presents 


fairly in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government Act 1989. 


We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the representations we make below are 


based on information available to us, having made such enquiries as we considered necessary to 


appropriately inform ourselves on these matters.  


Preparation of the financial report 


We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the audit engagement dated 25 July 


2017, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian 


Accounting Standards and the requirements of Local Government Act 1989 . 


1. We have prepared the financial report as a not-for-profit entity for the purpose of reporting 


under Australian Accounting Standards. 


2. All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial 


report.
1
  


3. Proper accounts and records of the transactions and affairs of the council and such other 


records as sufficiently explain the financial operations and financial position of the council have 


been kept in accordance with the Local Government Act 1989, where applicable. 


4. The effects of uncorrected misstatements are immaterial, both individual and in the aggregate, 


to the financial report as a whole. A list of all uncorrected misstatements is attached to this 


representation letter (refer Attachment A)
2
.  


 


                                                           
1
 ASA 580 Written Representations, paragraph 11(b) 


2
 ASA 450 Evaluation of Misstatements Identified during the Audit, paragraph 14 







 
 


Access to information 


5. We have provided you with: 


a. access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation of the 


financial report such as records, documentation and other matters 


b. any additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the audit 


c. unrestricted access to persons within the council from whom you determined it 


necessary to obtain audit evidence
3
 


Controlled entities 


6. We have undertaken a control assessment using the criteria outlined in AASB 10 Consolidated 


Financial Statements. Our assessment has not identified any controlled or jointly controlled 


entities that require consolidation. 


Joint arrangements 


7. We have undertaken an assessment of our contractual arrangements to determine whether 


they are joint arrangements as per the requirements of AASB 11 Joint Arrangements. Our 


assessment has not identified any joint arrangements that require disclosure.  


Fraud disclosure 


8. We are not aware of any actual or suspected fraud affecting Pyrenees Shire Council that 


involves:  


a. management 


b. employees who have significant roles in internal control or  


c. others where the fraud could have a material effect on the financial report.
4
 


9.  We are not aware of any allegations of fraud, or suspected fraud, affecting Pyrenees Shire 


Council’s financial report communicated by employees, former employees, analysts, regulators 


or others
5
. 


Internal control 


10. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 


control to prevent and detect fraud and/or error
6
. We have established and maintained an 


adequate internal control structure to facilitate the preparation of a reliable financial report, and 


adequate financial records have been maintained.  We have disclosed to you details of all 


deficiencies in internal control of which we are aware. 


                                                           
3
 ASA 580.11(a)/ASA 210 Agreeing the Terms of Audit Engagements, paragraph 6 


4
 ASA 240 The Auditor’s Responsibilities Relating to Fraud in an Audit of a Financial Report, paragraph 39(c) 


5
 ASA 240.39(d) 


6
 ASA 240.39(b) 







 
 


Legal 


11. There are no known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws or regulations whose 


effects should be considered when preparing the financial report. 


12. There is no known actual or possible litigation and claims whose effects should be considered 


when preparing the financial report. 


13. The council has satisfactory title to all assets (excluding those assets held in the name of the 


Crown), and there are no liens or encumbrances on such assets nor has any asset been 


pledged as collateral. 


14. The council has complied with all aspects of contractual agreements that would have a material 


effect on the financial report in the event of noncompliance. 


15. Pyrenees Shire Council has been properly managed in accordance with the requirements of 


the Local Government Act 1989. 


16. We have complied with, in all material respects, the requirements of Local Government Act 


1989 for the establishment and keeping of relevant accounts, registers and other appropriate 


records. 


Accounting estimates 


17. We believe that the significant assumptions and judgements we have used in making 


accounting estimates for inclusion in the financial report are reasonable, appropriately 


supported and, where required, disclosed
7
. 


Financial statement disclosures 


18. The financial report discloses all significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the 


financial report. We considered the substance of the underlying transactions as well as their 


legal form in selecting the appropriate accounting policies and related disclosures for the 


financial report. 


Asset and liability fair values (including property, plant and equipment) 


19. We consider the measurement methods, including related assumptions, used to determine fair 


values relating to assets and liabilities to be appropriate based on the nature and purpose of 


the asset/liability. These have been consistently applied and appropriately disclosed in the 


financial report. 


In addition, we have considered the requirements of AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement relating 


to the fair value of property, plant and equipment. These assets have been valued on the basis 


that the highest and best use of the asset is obtained from its current use, taking into 


consideration what is physically possible, legally permissible and financially feasible. Our fair 


value assessment did not identify any internal or external events that would trigger a 


reassessment of the assets’ highest and best use.  


Further, we confirm that the assumptions used by us in the categorisation of observable and 


un-observable inputs within the fair value valuation hierarchy are reasonable and have been 


                                                           
7
 ASA 540 Auditing Accounting Estimates, Including Fair Value Accounting Estimates, and Related Disclosures, 


paragraph 22 







 
 


fully disclosed in accordance with the accounting standards and other applicable financial 


reporting requirements. 


20. We have considered the requirements of AASB 136 Impairment of Assets when assessing the 


impairment of assets and in ensuring that no assets are stated in excess of their recoverable 


amount. 


21. Asset useful lives have been reviewed and we are satisfied that they reflect the assets' 


expected period of use. 


22. Allowances for depreciation have been adjusted for all important items of property, plant and 


equipment that have been abandoned or are otherwise unusable. 


Related parties and key management personnel 


23. We have determined who are the key management personnel of Pyrenees Shire Council in 


accordance with AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures and we are satisfied that our 


assessment is completed and appropriate.  


24. We are satisfied that the compensation paid to key management personnel has been properly 


reported in note 6 to the financial statements in accordance with AASB 124 Related Party 


Disclosures, and includes all required components of compensation. 


25. We have not identified any significant transactions with government-related entities that would 


require disclosure in accordance with AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. 


26. We have disclosed to you the identity of all non-government related parties (including any 


controlled entities), related party relationships and transactions of which we are aware. We 


have assessed these transactions to be material to the financial statements and therefore 


required to be disclosed in the financial report under AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. 


Appropriate disclosure has been made.  


27. We have appropriately accounted for and disclosed in the financial report all material related 


party relationships and transactions in accordance with AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures. 


Responsible persons and executive officer disclosures 


28. We have disclosed the number and names of any individual who held a responsible person 


position for Pyrenees Shire Council at any time during the year, including all remuneration 


received/receivable by those individuals as per the requirements of Local Government Victoria 


FG3-2017. 


29. We have disclosed the names of the relevant responsible Ministers at any time during the year. 


30. We have disclosed the remuneration of all executive officers as per the requirements of Local 


Government Victoria FG3-2017. This includes all short-term, post-employment, other long-term 


benefits and any termination benefits. 


Future plans 


31. There were no material commitments for construction or acquisition of property, plant and 


equipment or to acquire other non-current assets, such as investments or intangibles, other 


than those disclosed in the financial report. 







 
 


32. We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying values or classification of 


any assets and liabilities. 


Going concern 


33. We have assessed the council's ability to continue as a going concern and believe there are 


reasonable grounds to believe that the entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall 


due. 


Subsequent events 


34. No events have occurred subsequent to the balance sheet date that would require adjustment 


to, or disclosure in, the financial report. 


Preparation of the performance statement 


35. We have prepared and presented the performance statement in conformity with the 


requirements of Local Government Performance Reporting framework. We consider the 


indicators to present fairly the performance of the council. 


36. All relevant matters have been recorded in the council’s records and are reflected in the 


performance statement
8
. 


37. We believe the effects of uncorrected misstatements are not material, both individually and in 


the aggregate, to the performance statement taken as a whole. A list of all uncorrected 


misstatements is attached to this representation letter (refer Appendix A)
9
. 


38. We acknowledge our responsibility for the design, implementation and maintenance of internal 


control to prevent and detect fraud and/or error. We have established and maintained an 


adequate internal control structure to facilitate the preparation of a reliable performance 


statement. We have disclosed to you details of all deficiencies in internal control of which we 


are aware
10


. 


Publication of the financial report 


39. With respect to publication of the financial report and performance statement in hard copy, we 


will ensure that: 


a. the financial report and performance statement accurately reflects the audited financial 


report and performance statement and 


b. the independent auditor’s report has been reproduced accurately and in full. 


40. The electronic presentation of the financial report and performance statement is our 


responsibility. Our responsibility includes ensuring that the electronic version of the financial 


report, the performance statement and the independent auditor’s report presented on the 


website are the same as the final signed version of the financial report, the performance 


statement and independent auditor’s report. 


                                                           
8
 ASAE 3000 Assurance Engagements Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, 


paragraph 56(b) 
9
 ASAE 3000.A137 


10
 ASAE 3000.A137 







 
 


41. The Annual Report may include additional financial and/or non-financial information other than 


the financial report, the performance statement and the independent auditor’s report (referred 


to as ‘other information’). With respect to other information that is included in the council’s 


Annual Report, we have informed you of all the sections/separate documents that we expect to 


issue that may comprise other information. The financial report and any other information 


obtained by you prior to the date of the auditor's report is consistent with one another, and the 


other information does not contain any material misstatements. 


Conclusion 


We understand that your examination was made in accordance with the Audit Act 1994 and Australian 


Auditing Standards and was, therefore, designed primarily for the purpose of expressing an audit 


opinion on the financial report and performance statement of the council taken as a whole, and that 


your tests of the financial records and other auditing procedures were limited to those which you 


considered necessary for that purpose. 


This letter is provided for and on behalf of Pyrenees Shire Council.  


Yours sincerely 


 


 


 


Jim Nolan 


Chief Executive Officer 


18 September 2018 


 


 


 


 


  







 
 


Attachment A 


Provided below is a list of the uncorrected financial report misstatements: 


Component(s) affected Amount of adjustment Underlying cause of 


difference 


Nil to report   
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Maddocks Delegations and Authorisations 
 


S11. Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Pyrenees Shire Council 
 
 
 
 


Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation 
 
 
 
 


 


 [CEO]       means Chief Executive Officer 


 [DADS] means Director of Assets and Development Services 


 [DCCS] means Director of Corporate and Community Services 


 [MPD] means Manager Planning and Development 


 [MBS] means Municipal Building Surveyor 


 [BS] means Building Surveyor 


 [LBI] means Limited Building Inspector 


 [CSAO] means Community Safety & Amenity Officer (formerly Local Laws) 


 [SP] means Statutory / Strategic Planner 


 [EHO] means Environmental Health Officer 


 [MFPO] means Municipal Fire Prevention Officer 


 [ESO] means Environment and Sustainability Officer 


 [MW] means Manager Works 


 [MAE] means Manager Assets and Engineering 


 [MF] means Manager Finance 


 [MGRC] means Manager Governance, Risk and Compliance 


 [Valuer] means Council Valuer 
  
 


 
 


September 2018 
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Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation 


In this instrument "officer" means - 


CEO - Jim Nolan 
DADS - Douglas Gowans 
DCCS - Kathy Bramwell 
MPD - Katie Gleisner 
MBS - Craig Fletcher 
BS -  
LBI - Rory Thompson 
CSAO - Dennis Nikoltsis, Jillian Pearce, Ernie Welsh, Philip Diprose 
SP - Matthew Novacevski, Helen Swadling 
EHO - Tori Cochrane, Stephanie Wellicome, Ellen Brown, Kelly Richards, Rupa 


Gordon, Sean Lan Fontaine 
MFPO - Ernie Welsh 
ESO - Terry McAliece 
MW - Phillip Hoare 
MAE - Robert Rowe 
MF - Shana Johnny 
MGRC -  
Valuer - Chris Barrett (VRC Property) 
 
By this instrument of appointment and authorisation Pyrenees Shire Council - 


 


PART A 


1. under section 224 of the Local Government Act 1989 - appoints the following officers to be  
authorised officers for the administration and enforcement of – 


 
the Building Act 1993   [MPD, MBS, BS, EHO, LBI] 
the Country Fire Authority Act 1958 [MFPO] 
the Domestic Animals Act 1994 [MPD, CSAO, EHO] 
the Emergency Management Act 1986 [DADS, MW, MAE] 
the Environment Protection Act 1970 [CEO, DADS, EHO, MPD, SP, CSAO] 
the Fire Services Property Levy Act 2012 [DCCS, MFPO] 
the Food Act 1984   [EHO, MPD] 
the Graffiti Prevention Act 2007 [MBS, EHO, CSAO]  
the Housing Act 1983   [EHO, MBS, LBI, BS, CSAO] 
the Impounding of Livestock Act 1994 [CSAO, MPD] 
the Land Act 1958 [CEO, DCCS, DADS] 
the Local Government Act 1989   [CEO, DADS, DCCS, MPD, EHO, MBS, CSAO, MFPO, LBI, MGRC] 
the Metropolitan Fire Brigades Act 1958 [MFPO] 
the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008


1
 [EHO, MPD] 


Part 14 of the Residential Tenancies Act 1997 [EHO, MPD] 
the Road Management Act 2004 [DADS, MW, MAE] 
the Road Safety Act 1986   [CSAO] 
the Sex Work Act 1994 [MPD] 
the Summary Offences Act 1966   [DADS, MPD, EHO, CSAO] 
the Tobacco Act 1987


2
   [EHO, MPD] 


the Valuation of Land Act 1960 [Valuer] 
 
the regulations made under each of those Acts; 
the local laws made under the Local Government Act 1989; 
and any other Act, regulation or local law which relates to the functions and powers of the Council; 


                                                      
1
 Council only to appoint a person suitably qualified or trained under section 31(2). 


2
 This Act provides for the CEO of a council to nominate a person to be an inspector for the purposes of the Act 


and the Secretary may then appoint them to be an inspector (see section 36).  An environmental health officer 
appointed under the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 is also regarded as an inspector under this Act. 
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PART B 
 
1. under section 3 of the Building Act 1993 (Building Act), appoints the officer to be Municipal 


Building Surveyor for the purposes of the Building Act 1993. 
 [MBS] 


 


2. under section 96A(1)(a) of the Country Fire Authority Act 1958 – appoints the officer to be 
the fire prevention officer.           


[MFPO] 


 


3. under section 72 of the Domestic Animals Act 1994 - appoints the officers to be authorised 
officers for the purposes of the Domestic Animals Act 1994.  


[MPD, CSAO, EHO] 
OR 


4. under section 72A(1) of the Domestic Animals Act 1994 - appoints the officers to be 
authorised officers for the purposes of the Domestic Animals Act 1994 and such appointment 
is for a period of 24 months from the date of this document. [CSAO, EHO] 


 


 


5. under section 21 of the Emergency Management Act 1986 – appoints the officers to be 
Municipal Emergency Resource Officers.  


[DADS, MW, MAE] 


 


6. under section 4(1) of the Environment Protection Act 1970 - appoints the officers to be litter 
enforcement officers for the purposes of the Environment Protection Act 1970.  


[EHO, CSAO, MPD] 
AND/OR 


7. under section 48A of the Environment Protection Act 1970 – appoints the officers to be 
authorised officers for the purposes of section 48A. [EHO, CSAO, MPD] 


 
 


 


8. under section 23 of the Fire Services Property Levy Act 2012  – appoints the officer to be  
authorised officers for the purposes of the Fire Services Property Levy Act 2012


3
  . 


 [MFPO] 


 


9. for the purposes of 20 of the Food Act 1984 - appoints the officer to be an authorised officer 
for the purposes of the Food Act 1984   


[EHO, MPD] 


 


10. under section 19(1) of the Graffiti Prevention Act 2007 – appoints the officers to be  
authorised persons for the purposes of carrying out Council's functions under section 18


4
 


                                                      
3
 Persons appointed or authorised officers under the Local Government Act 1989 are taken to be authorised 


officers for the purposes of the Fire Services Property Levy Act 2012 (except in Part 4 of that Act) 
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[MBS, EHO, CSAO] 


 


11. under section 71(1) of the Housing Act 1983 – appoints the officer to be an authorised 
person for the purposes of entering a house or building and conducting an inspection under 
section 71. 


[MBS, BS, EHO, CSAO, LBI] 


 


12. under section 190 of the Land Act 1958 – authorises the officers for the purposes of section 
190 of that Act.


5
  


[DADS, DCCS, CEO] 


 


13. under section 81Y of the Local Government Act 1989 – appoints the officer to be the 
Principal Conduct Officer .


6
  


[DCCS] 


 


14. under section 5A(1)(a) of the Metropolitan Fire Brigades Act 1958 – appoints the officer to be 
the fire prevention officer for the purposes of the Metropolitan Fire Brigades Act 1958. 


[MFPO] 


 


15. under section 29 of the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008, - appoints the officer to be an 
Environmental Health Officer


7
 for the purposes of enforcing the Public Health and Wellbeing 


Act 2008 and the Food Act 1984.  
[EHO] 


AND 


16. under section 147(1)(b)(i) of the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008, - authorises the 
officer to issue immunisation status certificates under section 148 of the Public Health and 
Wellbeing Act 2008.  


[EHO] 


 


17. under section 525(2) of the Residential Tenancies Act 1997 - appoints the officers to 
exercise the powers set out in section 526 of that Act.  


[EHO] 


 


18. under section 71(3) of the Road Management Act 2004 – appoints the officers to be  
authorised officers for the purposes of the Road Management Act 2004. 


[DADS, MW, MAE] 


 


19. under section 59(1)(a)(ii) of the Road Safety Act 1986 – authorises the officers to exercise 
the powers under section 59(1)(a) of that Act.  


                                                                                                                                                                      
4
 Authorised person must agree in writing to exercise functions and powers of an authorised person under Part 4 


of the Graffiti Prevention Act 2007 and in accordance with any performance criteria determined by Council (see 
section19(2)). 
5
 Authorisation requires the consent of the Minister (see section 190 of the Land Act 1958). 


6
 Only an 'eligible person' may be appointed (see the requirements in section 81Y of the Local Government Act 


1989). 
7
 Council must be sure that the EHO is suitably trained or qualified under section 31(2) of the Public Health and 


Wellbeing Act 2008. 
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[DADS, CSAO] 
AND 


20. under section 59(1)(d) of the Road Safety Act 1986 – authorises the officers to exercise the 
powers under section 59(1)(d) of that Act.  


[DADS, CSAO] 
AND 


21. under section 87(1A) of the Road Safety Act 1986 – authorises the officer to exercise the 
power in section 87(1A) of that Act.


8
  


[DADS, CSAO] 
AND 


22. under section 87(1B)(c) of the Road Safety Act 1986 – authorises the officer to exercise the 
power in section 87(1B)(c). 


[DADS, CSAO] 
AND/OR 


23. under section 87(8) of the Road Safety Act 1986 – authorises the persons who are not 
members of Council's staff for the purposes of section 87 of that Act.  


[CSAO] 


 


24. under regulation 84(c)(ii) of the Road Safety (General) Regulations 2009 – authorises the 
officers for the purposes of filing a charge or an offence under section 90E of the Road 
Safety Act 1986 or under a regulation under that Act. 


[DADS, CSAO] 


 


25. under section 3(1) of the Sex Work Act 1994 - appoints the officer to be an authorised officer 
of the responsible authority for the purposes of enforcing Parts 4 and 5 of that Act.  


[MPD] 


 


26. under section 13DA(1) of the Valuation of Land Act 1960 – appoints Chris Barrett, VRC 
Property who is not a members of Council's staff for the purposes of section 13DA of that 
Act.


9
  


[Valuer] 
AND/OR 


27. under section 13J of the Valuation of Land Act 1960 – appoints the persons for the purposes 
of section 13J of that Act.


10
 


[Valuer] 


 
 
  


                                                      
8
 Council must ensure that a person appointed under section 87 is competent, of good repute and character and 


has agreed in writing to exercise the functions conferred on an authorised person (see section 87(1C)  
9
 Council must ensure that the person appointed holds the qualifications or experience specified from time to time 


by the Minister by notice published in the Government Gazette. 
10


 Council must ensure that the person appointed holds the qualifications or experience specified from time to 
time by the Minister by notice published in the Government Gazette. 
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PART C 


28. under - 
 section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989


11
 


  section 527 of the Residential Tenancies Act 1997 
section 77(2)(b) of the Road Safety Act 1986


12
 


section 77(4) of the Road Safety Act 1986  
sections 48A(9)(c) and 59(3)of the Environment Protection Act 1970 


  section 241 of the Building Act 1993 
  section 92 of the Domestic Animals Act 1994


13
 


  section 96 of the Road Management Act 2004 
  section 33A of the Impounding of Livestock Act 1994 


 section 10(4) of the Graffiti Prevention Act 2007                                                           
section 219 of the Public Health and Wellbeing Act 2008 


 section 45AC of the Food Act 1984 
 


authorises the officers generally to institute proceedings and represent Council in proceedings for 
offences against the Acts, regulations and local laws described in this instrument. 
 
It is declared that this Instrument - 


(a) comes into force immediately upon its execution; 
(b) remains in force until varied or revoked. 


 
 
 
This Instrument is authorised by a resolution of the Pyrenees Shire Council made on  20


th
 March 2018. 


 
 
 
 
 
The Common Seal of the  
Pyrenees Shire Council was 
Here unto affixed in the presence of: 
 


 
 
 
 


Councillor  


 


Chief Executive Officer  


 


Dated:  


 


                                                      
11


 A person authorised under section 232 of the Local Government Act 1989 is also authorised to bring 
proceedings under the Fire Services Property Levy Act 2012  (see section 22 of the Fire Services Property Levy 
Act 2012).   
12


 A person authorised under sections 77(2)(b) and/or 77(4) of the Road Safety Act 1986 is also an authorised 
officer for the purposes of rules 203 and 307 of the Road Safety Road Rules 2009. 
13


 Council may only appoint an authorised officer who is also appointed under section 72 of the Act. 








 


 


Minutes - Audit and Risk Committee Meeting  
Tuesday 28 August 2018 at 4:00pm in the Council Chambers 
 


Present  
Members: Mr Geoff Price (Chair) 


Ms Wendy Honeyman  
  Cr Robert Vance 
  Cr Ron Eason 
 


Officers: Mr Jim Nolan – Chief Executive Officer 
  Mr Martin Walmsley – Acting Director Assets and Development Services 


Ms Kathy Bramwell – Acting Director Corporate and Community Services 
  Ms Shana Johnny – Manager Finance 


  Ms Jane Bowker – Executive Assistant to the CEO and Councillors 
 


Guests:  Mr Damian Ferrari – Councillor elect 
  Ms Karen McDevitt – Crowe Horwath 


Ms Cassandra Gravenall – Crowe Horwath 
Mr Brad Ead – AFS & Associates 


 
Geoff Price, as Chair, opened the meeting at 3.56pm as all attendees were present.  Geoff welcomed 
everyone to the meeting and introduced the new Councillor elect Damian Ferrari and Manager Finance 
Shana Johnny.       


 
1. Apologies 


Mr Rod Poxon 
Mr Douglas Gowans 


 
2. Conflict of Interest Declarations 


Nil 
 
3. Confirmation of previous Minutes - Chair 
   Meeting held 22 May 2018.  (Appendix A – Minutes of meeting held on 22 May 2018) 


 
RECOMMENDATION: 
That the minutes of the meeting held 22 May 2018, as tabled, be adopted. 


 
Moved: Ms Wendy Honeyman  2nd: Cr Robert Vance  


CARRIED 
 


4. Reports 
 


5.1  Year End Financials (Crowe Horwath/Shana Johnny) 
Attached are the draft Pyrenees Shire Financials 2017-2018 and the Pyrenees Shire Council 
Performance Statement 2017-2018. 
 


 (Appendix B – Draft Pyrenees Shire Financials 2017-2018) 
 (Appendix C – Pyrenees Shire Council Performance Statement 2017-2018) 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: 


That the Audit Committee: 
 


a) Adopt the draft Financial Report and Performance Statement in principal in their final 
form after any changes recommended or agreed to by the auditors have been made for 
the year ended 30 June 2018. 
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b) Recommends that two Councillors and the Chief Executive Officer sign the Final 


Financial Report and Performance Statement in their final form after any changes 
recommended or agreed to by the auditors have been made for the year ended 30 June 
2018. 


c) That the Principal Accounting Officer, Ms Shana Johnny, is authorised to make non 
material changes to the Financial Report and Performance Statement that may arise as 
a result of the audit. 


d) Receive the Draft Closing Report to the Audit & Risk Committee for the financial year 
ended 30 June 2018 including the Draft Final Management Letter via email once 
completed. 


 
Moved: Ms Wendy Honeyman  2nd: Cr Robert Vance 


CARRIED 
 
 


5.2  Internal Audit – 2018-03 Legislative Compliance (Kathy Bramwell) 
AFS conducted an internal audit to assess the effectiveness of the legislative compliance 
function. 
 


 (Appendix D – Internal Audit Report 2018-03 Legislative Compliance) 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: 


That the Audit and Risk Committee receives the AFS – Internal Audit Report 2018-03 Legislative 
Compliance May 2018. 


 
Moved: Cr Ron Eason   2nd: Ms Wendy Honeyman 


 CARRIED 
 
 


5.3  Internal Audit – 2018-04 Past Issues Status Update Review (Kathy Bramwell) 
AFS conducted a review of actions taken by the Pyrenees Shire Council to address 
recommendations made by us in previously issued internal audit reports. 
 


 (Appendix E – Internal Audit Report 2018-04 Past Issues Status Update Review June 2018) 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: 


That the Audit and Risk Committee receives the AFS – Past Issues Status Update Review June 
2018. 


 
Moved: Ms Wendy Honeyman  2nd: Cr Robert Vance 


 CARRIED 
 


 
5.4  Internal Audit – 2018-05 Review of Waste Charges (Kathy Bramwell) 


AFS conducted an internal audit to provide assurance over three key risks: 


 Non-compliance with the Local Government Act 1989; 


 Setting waste service charges in excess of the cost of delivering the service; and 


 Application of income from waste service charges to non-waste management costs. 
 


 (Appendix F – Internal Audit Report 2018-05 Review of Waste Charges) 
 (Appendix F.1 – Waste Charges Action Plan) 
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 RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit and Risk Committee receives the AFS – Internal Audit Report 2018-05 Review of 
Waste Charges June 2018. 


 
Moved: Cr Robert Vance   2nd: Cr Ron Eason 


CARRIED 
 
 


5.5  VAGO Audit of Local Government Insurance Risk (Kathy Bramwell) 
VAGO conducted an audit of local government insurance risk in which the Pyrenees Shire 
Council was one of seven councils chosen to participate.  The report from this audit was tabled 
in Parliament in July 2018.   
 


Council accepted all recommendations targeted at councils and in response reviewed its 
insurance program strategy for the 2019-2020 financial year, resolving to maintain the current 
insurance procurement arrangements as well as: 


 Undertake an independent loss limit validation to quantify and gain understanding of 
Council’s insurable risks; 


 Identify insurable risk within strategic and operational risk registers; 


 Utilise Council’s existing broker to undertake a commercial marketing program of 
insurance products to provide assurance that Council’s insurance procurement 
processes are providing best value; 


 Gain an understanding of the potential risks posed by the Liability Mutual Insurance 
(LMI) scheme to its members and assurance from the MAV of its long-term 
sustainability; and 


 Continue to utilise MAV / broker audit reports in the mitigation of potential loss. 
 


 (Appendix G – Report – PSC Insurance Program)  
 (Appendix G.1 – Published Report – Local Government Insurance Risks July 2018) 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: 


That the Audit and Risk Committee receives the Victorian Auditor-General’s Office report on 
Local Government Insurance Risks and notes Council’s insurance procurement and assurance 
strategy for the 2019-2020 financial year. 


 
Moved: Cr Ron Eason   2nd: Ms Wendy Honeyman 


CARRIED 
 
 
5.6  Australian Aged Care Quality Audit follow-up outcome (Martin Walmsley) 


The Australian Aged Care Quality Agency conducted a follow-up to the audit conducted in 
November 2017, to review planned improvements. 
 


 (Appendix H – Report – CHSP Audit follow-up outcome) 
 (Appendix H.1 – Report – Australian Aged Care Quality Agency, Home Care Assessment Contact 


Report) 
 
 RECOMMENDATION: 


That the Audit and Risk Committee receives the CHSP Audit follow-up report.  
 


Moved: Cr Robert Vance   2nd: Ms Wendy Honeyman 
CARRIED 
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5.7  IBAC report – Corruption and misconduct risks associated with employment practices in the 
Victorian public sector (Kathy Bramwell) 
The IBAC conducted research into corruption and misconduct risks associated with employment 
practices in the Victorian public sector.  The tabled report highlights the corruption 
vulnerabilities associated with employment practices across the Victorian public sector and 
alerts public sector agencies to opportunities to strengthen systems and practices to mitigate 
those vulnerabilities. 


 
 (Appendix I – Report – Corruption and misconduct risks associated with employment practices in 


the Victorian public sector August 2018) 
  


 RECOMMENDATION: 
That the Audit Committee receives the IBAC report into corruption and misconduct risks 
associated with employment practices in the Victorian public sector August 2018.   


   
Moved: Ms Wendy Honeyman  2nd: Cr Ron Eason 


CARRIED 


 
 


5.8  Governance, Culture & Risk Report (Kathy Bramwell) 
Attached is a report from the Governance, Risk & Compliance Department providing an update 
on governance, risk, compliance and related activities: 


 
 (Appendix J – Governance, Culture and Risk Report) 
 (Appendix J.1 – Pyrenees Shire Council Strategic Risk Register 21.05.2018) 


  
 RECOMMENDATION: 


That the Audit Committee receives the Governance, Culture and Risk Report.   
   


Moved: Cr Ron Eason   2nd: Ms Wendy Honeyman 
CARRIED 


 
 


5.9 AFS Recent Reports and Publications of Interest to Councils (Kathy Bramwell) 
 
 (Appendix K – AFS Recent Reports and Publications of Interest to Councils) 


 
 RECOMMENDATION: 


That the Audit Committee notes for information in the AFS Recent Reports and Publications of 
Interest to Councils. 


     
Moved: Cr Robert Vance   2nd: Cr Ron Eason 


CARRIED 
 
 
 


5.10 Compliance Update (Kathy Bramwell) 
 


 Fraud 
 There have been no identified instances of fraud since the last Audit and Risk Committee 


meeting. 
 


 Protected Disclosures 
 Council has not received a protected disclosure since the last Audit and Risk Committee 


meeting. 
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RECOMMENDATION: 
 That the Audit and Risk Committee notes the information provided in the Compliance Update.  
 
 Moved: Cr Robert Vance   2nd: Ms Wendy Honeyman 


CARRIED  
   
  
5.11 CEO’s Report – Current Issues for Pyrenees Shire Council (Jim Nolan) 
   


 (Appendix L – CEO’s Report)  
 


 RECOMMENDATION 
That the Audit and Risk Committee receives the CEO’s report. 
 
Moved: Ms Wendy Honeyman  2nd: Cr Ron Eason 


CARRIED  
 


5. General Business - All 
 


Wendy Honeyman noted that according to her records the next review of the Audit & Risk Committee 
Charter was due November 2017.  Kathy Bramwell responded that the Charter was reviewed in 
December 2017.  
 


6. Meeting closed at 5.15pm 
 


7. Next Meeting 27 November 2018 4.00pm. 


 


 


 
Reviewed and signed by the Chairman 


 
 


------------------------------------------ 
Mr Geoff Price 
Chairman 
 
Date:  
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Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 
 


RURAL COUNCILS VICTORIA 
INCORPORATED RULES 


 
Associations Incorporation Reform Regulations 2012 
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Model Rules for an Incorporated Association 


Note 
The persons Councils who from time to time are members of the Association are an incorporated association by the 
name given in rule 1 of these Rules. 


Under section 46 of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012, these Rules are taken to constitute the terms of 
a contract between the Association and its members. 


 


PART 1 — PRELIMINARY 


  


1 Name 


The name of the incorporated Aassociation is "Rural Councils Victoria Incorporated". 


Note 
Under section 23 of the Act, the name of the Aassociation and its registration number must appear on all 
its business documents. 


2 Purposes 


The purposes of the Aassociation are to— 


(1) heighten awareness and understanding of issues that impact on rural 
communities; 


(2) assist with building the capacity of rural councils to face challenges; 


(3) provide leadership on local governance; 


(4) develop and support rural councils; and 


(5) develop policy and advocate for rural councils. 


(1) Promote a collective voice for rural Councils and provide an avenue for 
engagement with State and Federal Governments; 


(2) Heighten awareness and understanding of issues that impact on rural 
communities; 


(3) Build the capacity of rural Councils to face current and future challenges and 
provide effective and sustainable services; 


(4) Develop and advocate for policies, strategies and initiatives to improve outcomes 
for rural Councils and their communities; and 


(5) Provide leadership on local governance. 


3 Financial year 


The financial year of the Association is each period of 12 months ending on 30 June. 


4 Definitions 


In these Rules— 


absolute majority of the Committee, means a majority of the Ccommittee members 
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currently holding office and entitled to vote at the time (as distinct from a majority of 
Ccommittee members present at a Ccommittee meeting); 


associate member means a member referred to in rule 14(1); 


CEO means the Chief Executive Officer of each a member which is not an associate 
member; 


Chairperson of a general meeting or Ccommittee meeting, means the person chairing 
the meeting as required under rule 465; 


Chairperson appointment meeting means a meeting of all of the CEOsCommittee 
members, in accordance with rule 543; 


Committee means the Committee having management of the business of the 
Association; 


Ccommittee meeting means a meeting of the Committee held in accordance with 
these Rules; 


Ccommittee member means a member of the Committee elected or appointed under 
Division 3 of PART 5; 


Council has the same meaning as it has in section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 
1989 (Vic); 


Councillor means a person who holds the office of a Council of each a member which 
is not an associate member; 


disciplinary appeal meeting means a meeting of the members of the Association 
convened under rule 232(3); 


disciplinary meeting means a meeting of the Committee convened for the purposes of 
rule 221; 


disciplinary subcommittee means the subcommittee appointed under rule 20 19; 


Election Day has the same meaning as it has in section 3(1) of the Local Government 
Act 1989 (Vic); 


financial year means the 12 month period specified in rule 3; 


general meeting means a general meeting of the members of the Association 
convened in accordance with PART 4 and includes an annual general meeting, a 
special general meeting and a disciplinary appeal meeting; 


member means a member of the Association; 


member entitled to vote means a member who under rule 13(2) is entitled to vote at a 
general meeting; 


special resolution means a resolution that requires not less than three -quarters of the 
members voting at a general meeting, whether in person or by proxy, to vote in favour 
of the resolution; 


Schedule means a schedule to these Rules; 


the Act means the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and includes any 







[6707455: 16656163_1] 


6 
 


regulations made under that Act; 


the Registrar means the Registrar of Incorporated Associations. 
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PART 2 — POWERS OF ASSOCIATION 


 


5 Powers of Association 


(1) Subject to the Act, the Association has power to do all things incidental or conducive 
to achieve its purposes. 


(2) Without limiting subrule (1), the Association may— 


(a) acquire, hold and dispose of real or personal property; 


(b) open and operate accounts with financial institutions; 


(c) invest its money in any security in which trust monies may lawfully be invested; 


(d) raise and borrow money on any terms and in any manner as it thinks fit; 


(e) secure the repayment of money raised or borrowed, or the payment of a debt 
or liability; 


(f) appoint agents to transact business on its behalf; 


(g) enter into any other contract it considers necessary or desirable. 


(3) The Association may only exercise its powers and use its income and assets 
(including any surplus) for its purposes. 


6 Not for profit organisation 


(1) The Association must not distribute any surplus, income or assets directly or 
indirectly to its members. 


(2) Subrule (1) does not prevent the Association from paying a member— 


(a) reimbursement for expenses properly incurred by the member; or 


(b) for goods or services provided by the member— 


if this is done in good faith on terms no more favourable than if the member was not a 
member. 


Note 
Section 33 of the Act provides that an incorporated association must not secure pecuniary profit for its 
members. Section 4 of the Act sets out in more detail the circumstances under which an incorporated 
association is not taken to secure pecuniary profit for its members. 
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PART 3 — MEMBERS, DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES AND GRIEVANCES 


 


Division 1 — Membership 


7 Minimum number of members 


The Association must have at least 5 members. 


8 Who is eligible to be a member 


(1) Subject to subrule (2), oOnly Councils located in the State of Victoria and listed in 
Schedule 1 are eligible for membership. 


(2) Any other person who is approved by the Committee (at its absolute discretion) in 
accordance with rule 63 is eligible for associate membership. 


9 Application for membership 


(1) To apply to become a member of the Association, a person Council must submit a 
written application to a the cCommittee member stating that the personCouncil— 


(a) wishes to become a member of the Association; and 


(b) supports the purposes of the Association; and 


(c) agrees to comply with these Rules. 


(2) The application— 


(a) must be signed by the CEO of the applicant; and 


(b) may be accompanied by the joining fee (if any). 


Note 
The joining fee is the fee (if any) determined by the Association under rule 12(3). 


10 Consideration of application 


(1) As soon as practicable after an application for membership is received, the 
Committee must decide by resolution whether to accept or reject the application. 


(2) The Committee must notify the applicant in writing of its decision as soon as 
practicable after the decision is made. 


(3) If the Committee rejects the application, it must return any money accompanying 
the application to the applicant. 


(4) No reason need be given for the rejection of an application. 


11 New membership 


(1) If an application for membership is approved by the Committee— 


(a) the resolution to accept the membership must be recorded in the minutes of 
the Ccommittee meeting; and 


(b) the Secretary must, as soon as practicable, enter the name and address of 
the new member, and the date of becoming a member, in the register of 
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members. 


(2) A person Council becomes a member of the Association and, subject to rule 13(2), 
is entitled to exercise his or herits rights of membership from the date, whichever 
is the later, on which— 


(a) the Committee approves the person's Council's membership; or 


(b) the person Council pays the joining fee (if any). 


12 Annual subscription and fee on joining 


(1) At each annual general meeting, the Association must determine— 


(a) the amount of the annual subscription (if any) for the following financial year; 
and 


(b) the date for payment of the annual subscription. 


(2) The Association may determine that a higher or lower annual subscription is 
payable by associate members. 


(3)(2) The Association may determine that any new member who joins after the start of a 
financial year must, for that financial year, pay a fee equal to— 


(a) the full annual subscription; or 


(b) a pro rata annual subscription based on the remaining part of the financial 
year; or 


(c) a fixed amount determined from time to time by the Association. 


(4)(3) The rights of a member (including the right to vote) who that has not paid the 
annual subscription by the due date are suspended until the subscription is paid. 


13 General rights of members 


(1) A member of the Association who that is entitled to vote has the right— 


(a) to receive notice of general meetings and of proposed special resolutions in 
the manner and time prescribed by these Rules; and 


(b) to submit items of business for consideration at a general meeting; and 


(c) to attend and be heard at general meetings; and 


(d) to vote at a general meeting; and 


(e) to have access to the minutes of general meetings and other documents of 
the Association as provided under rule 754; and 


(f) to inspect the register of members. 


(2) A member is entitled to vote if— 


(a) the member is a member other than an associate member; and 


(b)(a) more than 10 business days have passed since he or sheit became a 
member of the Association; and 
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(c)(b) the member's membership rights are not suspended for any reason. 


14 Associate members 


(1) Associate members of the Association include any members who are not listed in 
Schedule 1 to these Rules. 


(2) An associate member must not vote but may have other rights as determined by 
the Committee or by resolution at a general meeting. 


1514 Rights not transferable 


The rights of a member are not transferable and end when membership ceases. 


1615 Ceasing membership 


(1) The membership of a person Council ceases on resignation or, expulsion or death. 


(2) If a person Council ceases to be a member of the Association, the Secretary must, 
as soon as practicable, enter the date the person Council ceased to be a member 
in the register of members. 


1716 Resigning as a member 


(1) A member may resign by notice in writing given to the Association. 


Note 
Rule 74(3) sets out how notice may be given to the Aassociation. It includes by post or by handing the 
notice to a member of the Ccommittee. 


(2) A member is taken to have resigned if— 


(a) the member's annual subscription is more than 12 months in arrears; or 


(b) where no annual subscription is payable— 


(i) the Secretary has made a written request to the member to confirm that 
he or sheit wishes to remain a member; and 


(ii) the member has not, within 3 months after receiving that request, 
confirmed in writing that he or sheit wishes to remain a member. 


1817 Register of members 


(1) The Secretary must keep and maintain a register of members that includes— 


(a) for each current member— 


(i) the member's name; 


(ii) the address for notice last given by the member; 


(iii) the date of becoming a member; 


(iv) if the member is an associate member, a note to that effect; 


(v)(iv) any other information determined by the Committee; and 


(b) for each former member, the date of ceasing to be a member. 
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(2) Any member may, at a reasonable time and free of charge, inspect the register of 
members. 


Note 
Under section 59 of the Act, access to the personal information of a person recorded in the register of 
members may be restricted in certain circumstances. Section 58 of the Act provides that it is an offence 
to make improper use of information about a person obtained from the Register of Members. 


 


Division 2 — Disciplinary action 


1918 Grounds for taking disciplinary action 


The Association may take disciplinary action against a member in accordance with this 
Division if it is determined that the member— 


(1) Has failed to comply with these Rules; or 


(2) Refuses to support the purposes of the Association; or 


(3) Has engaged in conduct prejudicial to the Association. 


2019 Disciplinary subcommittee 


(1) If the Committee is satisfied that there are sufficient grounds for taking disciplinary 
action against a member, the Committee must appoint a disciplinary 
subcommittee to hear the matter and determine what action, if any, to take against 
the member. 


(2) The members of the disciplinary subcommittee— 


(a) may be Committee members, members of the Association or anyone else; 
but 


(b) must not be biased against, or in favour of, the member concerned. 


2120 Notice to member 


(1) Before disciplinary action is taken against a member, the Secretary must give 
written notice to the member— 


(a) stating that the Association proposes to take disciplinary action against the 
member; and 


(b) stating the grounds for the proposed disciplinary action; and 


(c) specifying the date, place and time of the meeting at which the disciplinary 
subcommittee intends to consider the disciplinary action (the disciplinary 
meeting); and 


(d) advising the member that he or sheit may do one 1 or both of the following— 


(i) attend the disciplinary meeting and address the disciplinary 
subcommittee at that meeting; 


(ii) give a written statement to the disciplinary subcommittee at any time 
before the disciplinary meeting; and 


(e) setting out the member's appeal rights under rule 232. 
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(2) The notice must be given no earlier than 28 days, and no later than 14 days, 
before the disciplinary meeting is held. 


2221 Decision of subcommittee 


(1) At the disciplinary meeting, the disciplinary subcommittee must— 


(a) give the member an opportunity to be heard; and 


(b) consider any written statement submitted by the member. 


(2) After complying with subrule (1), the disciplinary subcommittee may— 


(a) take no further action against the member; or 


(b) subject to subrule (3)— 


(i) reprimand the member; or 


(ii) suspend the membership rights of the member for a specified period; or 


(iii) expel the member from the Association. 


(3) The disciplinary subcommittee may not fine the member. 


(4) The suspension of membership rights or the expulsion of a member by the 
disciplinary subcommittee under this rule takes effect immediately after the vote is 
passed. 


2322 Appeal rights 


(1) A person whoseCouncil that has had its membership rights have been suspended 
or who has been expelled from the Association under rule 221 may give notice to 
the effect that he or sheit wishes to appeal against the suspension or expulsion. 


(2) The notice must be in writing and given— 


(a) to the disciplinary subcommittee immediately after the vote to suspend or 
expel the person Council is taken; or 


(b) to the Secretary not later than 48 hours after the vote. 


(3) If a person Council has given notice under subrule (2), a disciplinary appeal 
meeting must be convened by the Committee as soon as practicable, but in any 
event not later than 21 days, after the notice is received. 


(4) Notice of the disciplinary appeal meeting must be given to each member of the 
Association who is entitled to vote as soon as practicable and must— 


(a) specify the date, time and place of the meeting; and 


(b) state— 


(i) the name of the person Council against whom which the disciplinary 
action has been taken; and 


(ii) the grounds for taking that action; and 


(iii) that at the disciplinary appeal meeting the members present must vote 
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on whether the decision to suspend or expel the person Council should 
be upheld or revoked. 


2423 Conduct of disciplinary appeal meeting 


(1) At a disciplinary appeal meeting— 


(a) no business other than the question of the appeal may be conducted; and 


(b) the Committee must state the grounds for suspending or expelling the 
member and the reasons for taking that action; and 


(c) the person whoseCouncil that has had its membership has been suspended 
or who has been expelled must be given an opportunity to be heard. 


(2) After complying with subrule (1), the members present and entitled to vote at the 
meeting must vote by secret ballot on the question of whether the decision to 
suspend or expel the person Council should be upheld or revoked. 


(3) A member may not vote by proxy at the meeting. 


(4) The decision is upheld if not less than three quarters of the members voting at the 
meeting vote in favour of the decision. 


 


Division 3 — Grievance procedure 


2524 Application 


(1) The grievance procedure set out in this Division applies to disputes under these 
Rules between— 


(a) a member and another member; 


(b) a member and the Committee; 


(c) a member and the Association. 


(2) A member must not initiate a grievance procedure in relation to a matter that is the 
subject of a disciplinary procedure until the disciplinary procedure has been 
completed. 


2625 Parties must attempt to resolve the dispute 


The parties to a dispute must attempt to resolve the dispute between themselves within 
14 days of the dispute coming to the attention of each party. 


2726 Appointment of mediator 


(1) If the parties to a dispute are unable to resolve the dispute between themselves 
within the time required by rule 265, the parties must within 10 days— 


(a) notify the Committee of the dispute; and 


(b) agree to or request the appointment of a mediator; and 


(c) attempt in good faith to settle the dispute by mediation. 
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(2) The mediator must be— 


(a) a person chosen by agreement between the parties; or 


(b) in the absence of agreement— 


(i) if the dispute is between a member and another member—a person 
appointed by the Committee; or 


(ii) if the dispute is between a member and the Committee or the 
Association—a person appointed or employed by the Dispute 
Settlement Centre of Victoria. 


(3) A mediator appointed by the Committee may be a member or former member of 
the Association but in any case must not be a person who— 


(a) has a personal interest in the dispute; or 


(b) is biased in favour of or against any party. 


2827 Mediation process 


(1) The mediator to the dispute, in conducting the mediation, must— 


(a) give each party every opportunity to be heard; and 


(b) allow due consideration by all parties of any written statement submitted by 
any party; and 


(c) ensure that natural justice is accorded to the parties throughout the 
mediation process. 


(2) The mediator must not determine the dispute. 


2928 Failure to resolve dispute by mediation 


If the mediation process does not resolve the dispute, the parties may seek to resolve 
the dispute in accordance with the Act or otherwise at law. 
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PART 4 — GENERAL MEETINGS OF THE ASSOCIATION 


 


3029 Annual general meetings 


(1) The Committee must convene an annual general meeting of the Association to be 
held within 5 months after the end of each financial year. 


(2) Despite subrule (1), the Association may hold its first annual general meeting at 
any time within 18 months after its incorporation. 


(3) The Committee may determine the date, time and place of the annual general 
meeting. 


(4) The ordinary business of the annual general meeting is as follows— 


(a) to confirm the minutes of the previous annual general meeting and of any 
special general meeting held since then; 


(b) to receive and consider— 


(i) the annual report of the Committee on the activities of the Association 
during the preceding financial year; and 


(ii) the financial statements of the Association for the preceding financial 
year submitted by the Committee in accordance with PART 7 of the Act; 


(c) to elect the members of the Committee; 


(d)(c) to confirm or vary the amounts (if any) of the annual subscription and joining 
fee. 


(5) The annual general meeting may also conduct any other business of which notice 
has been given in accordance with these Rules. 


3130 Special general meetings 


(1) Any general meeting of the Association, other than an annual general meeting or a 
disciplinary appeal meeting, is a special general meeting. 


(2) The Committee may convene a special general meeting whenever it thinks fit 


(3) No business other than that set out in the notice under rule 332 may be conducted 
at the meeting. 


General business may be considered at the meeting if it is included as an item for 
consideration in the notice under rule 332 and the majority of members at the meeting 
agree. 


3231 Special general meeting held at request of members 


The Committee must convene a special general meeting if a request to do so is made 
in accordance with subrule (2) by at least 10% of the total number of members. 


(1) A request for a special general meeting must— 


(a) be in writing; and 
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(b) state the business to be considered at the meeting and any resolutions to be 
proposed; and 


(c) include the names and signatures of the members requesting the meeting; 
and 


(d) be given to the Secretary. 


(2) If the Committee does not convene a special general meeting within one 1 month 
after the date on which the request is made, the members making the request (or 
any of them) may convene the special general meeting. 


(3) A special general meeting convened by members under subrule (32)— 


(a) must be held within 3 months after the date on which the original request 
was made; and 


(b) may only consider the business stated in that request. 


(4) The Association must reimburse all reasonable expenses incurred by the 
members convening a special general meeting under subrule (3). 


3332 Notice of general meetings 


(1) The Secretary (or, in the case of a special general meeting convened under rule 
321(3), the members convening the meeting) must give to each member of the 
Association— 


(a) at least 21 days' notice of a general meeting if a special resolution is to be 
proposed at the meeting; or 


(b) at least 14 days' notice of a general meeting in any other case. 


(2) The notice must— 


(a) specify the date, time and place of the meeting; and 


(b) indicate the general nature of each item of business to be considered at the 
meeting; and 


(c) if a special resolution is to be proposed— 


(i) state in full the proposed resolution; and 


(ii) state the intention to propose the resolution as a special resolution; and 


(d) comply with rule 34(7)3. 


(3) This rule does not apply to a disciplinary appeal meeting. 


Note 
Rule 232(4) sets out the requirements for notice of a disciplinary appeal meeting. 


3433 Delegates 


(1) A member must appoint a Councillor or employee of that Council as its delegate to 
vote and speak on its behalf at a general meeting. 


(2) Appointment of a delegate must be notified to the Committee in writing at least 24 
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hours before a general meeting. 


(3) A delegate, once appointed, will remain as the delegate until a member appoints 
a new delegate and notifies the Committee of that appointment. 


(4) A member may appoint another Councillor or employee of that Council as an 
alternate delegate to vote and speak on its behalf at a general meeting. 


(5) The appointment of an alternate delegate must be in writing and signed by the 
CEO member making the appointment. 


(6) The member appointing the alternate delegate may give specific directions as to 
how the alternate delegate is to vote on his or her behalf, otherwise the alternate 
delegate may vote on behalf of the member in any matter as he or she sees fit. 


(7) If the Committee has approved a form for the appointment of an alternate 
delegate, the member may use any other form that clearly identifies the person 
appointed as the member's alternate delegate and that has been signed by the 
member. 


(8)(3) Notice of a general meeting given to a member under rule 332 must state that the 
member may must appoint another member as an alternate delegate for the 
meeting; anda delegate in accordance with subrules (1) and (2). 


(a) include a copy of any form that the Committee has approved for the appointment of an 
alternate delegate. 


(9) A form appointing an alternate delegate must be given to the Chairperson of the 
meeting before or at the commencement of the meeting. 


(10) A form appointing an alternate delegate sent by post or electronically is of no 
effect unless it is received by the Association no later than 24 hours before the 
commencement of the meeting. 


(11) Notice of appointment of an alternative delegate does not affect the continued 
appointment of the delegate originally notified to the Committee. 


3534 Use of technology 


(1) A member not physically present at a general meeting may not participate in the 
meeting by the use of technology. 


3635 Quorum at general meetings 


(1) No business may be conducted at a general meeting unless a quorum of 
members is present. 


(2) The quorum for a general meeting is the presence (physically, by delegate or 
alternate delegate of over 50% of the members delegates entitled to vote. 


(3) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the notified commencement time 
of a general meeting— 


(a) in the case of a meeting convened by, or at the request of, members under 
rule 321—the meeting must be dissolved; 


Note 
If a meeting convened by, or at the request of, members is dissolved under this subrule, the business that 







[6707455: 16656163_1] 


18 
 


was to have been considered at the meeting is taken to have been dealt with. If members wish to have 
the business reconsidered at another special meeting, the members must make a new request under rule 
312. 


(b) in any other case— 


(i) the meeting must be adjourned to a date not more than 21 days after 
the adjournment; and 


(ii) notice of the date, time and place to which the meeting is adjourned 
must be given at the meeting and confirmed by written notice given to 
all members as soon as practicable after the meeting. 


(c) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the time to which a general 
meeting has been adjourned under subrule (3)(b), the members present at 
the meeting (if not fewer than 3) may proceed with the business of the 
meeting as if a quorum were present. 


3736 Adjournment of general meeting 


(1) The Chairperson of a general meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the 
consent of a majority of members delegates present at the meeting, adjourn the 
meeting to another time at the same place or at another place. 


(2) Without limiting subrule (1), a meeting may be adjourned— 


(a) if there is insufficient time to deal with the business at hand; or 


(b) to give the members more time to consider an item of business. 


Example 
The members may wish to have more time to examine the financial statements submitted by the 
Committee at an annual general meeting. 


(3) No business may be conducted on the resumption of an adjourned meeting other 
than the business that remained unfinished when the meeting was adjourned. 


(4) Notice of the adjournment of a meeting under this rule is not required unless the 
meeting is adjourned for 14 days or more, in which case notice of the meeting 
must be given in accordance with rule 332. 


3837 Voting at general meeting 


(1) On any question arising at a general meeting— 


(a) subject to subrule (3), each member who that is entitled to vote has one 1 
vote; and 


(b) members may must vote by their delegates or by alternate delegate; and 


(c) except in the case of a special resolution, the question must be decided on a 
majority of votes. 


(2) If votes are divided equally on a question, the Chairperson of the meeting has a 
second or casting vote. 


(3) If the question is whether or not to confirm the minutes of a previous meeting, only 
members who were present at that meeting may vote. 
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(4) This rule does not apply to a vote at a disciplinary appeal meeting conducted 
under rule 243. 


3938 Special resolutions 


A special resolution is passed if not less than three quarters of the members delegates 
voting at a general meeting (whether in person or by alternate delegate) vote in favour 
of the resolution. 


Note 
In addition to certain matters specified in the Act, a special resolution is required— 


(a) to remove a Ccommittee member from office ; 


(b) to alter these Rules, including changing the name or any of the purposes of the Association. 


4039 Determining whether resolution carried 


(1) Subject to subrule (2), the Chairperson of a general meeting may, on the basis of 
a show of hands, declare that a resolution has been— 


(a) carried; or 


(b) carried unanimously; or 


(c) carried by a particular majority; or 


(d) lost— 


and an entry to that effect in the minutes of the meeting is conclusive proof of that 
fact. 


(2) If a poll (where votes are cast in writing) is demanded by three 3 or more members 
on any question— 


(a) the poll must be taken at the meeting in the manner determined by the 
Chairperson of the meeting; and 


(b) the Chairperson must declare the result of the resolution on the basis of the 
poll. 


(3) A poll demanded on the election of the Chairperson or on a question of an 
adjournment must be taken immediately. 


(4) A poll demanded on any other question must be taken before the close of the 
meeting at a time determined by the Chairperson. 


4140 Minutes of general meeting 


(1) The Committee must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each general 
meeting. 


(2) The minutes must record the business considered at the meeting, any resolution 
on which a vote is taken and the result of the vote. 


(3) In addition, the minutes of each annual general meeting must include— 


(a) the names of the members attending the meeting; and 


(b) alternate delegate forms given to the Chairperson of the meeting under rule 
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34(8); and 


(c)(b) the financial statements submitted to the members in accordance with rule 
2930(4)(b)(ii); and 


(d)(c) the certificate signed by two 2 Ccommittee members certifying that the 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position and 
performance of the Association; and 


(e)(d) any audited accounts and auditor's report or report of a review 
accompanying the financial statements that are required under the Act. 


 


PART 5 — COMMITTEE 


 


Division 1 — Powers of Committee 


4241 Role and powers 


(1) The business of the Association must be managed by or under the direction of a 
Committee. 


(2) The Committee may exercise all the powers of the Association except those 
powers that these Rules or the Act require to be exercised by general meetings of 
the members of the Association. 


(2)  


(a) The Committee may— establish subcommittees with terms of reference it 
considers appropriate. 


appoint and remove staff; and 


(3) establish subcommittees consisting of members with terms of reference it considers 
appropriate. 


4342 Delegation 


(1) The Committee may delegate to a member of the Committee or, a subcommittee 
or staff, any of its powers and functions other than— 


(a) this power of delegation; or 


(b) a duty imposed on the Committee by the Act or any other law. 


(2) The delegation must be in writing and may be subject to the conditions and 
limitations the Committee considers appropriate. 


(3) The Committee may, in writing, revoke a delegation wholly or in part. 


 


Division 2 — Composition of Committee and duties of members 


4443 Composition of Committee 
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The Committee consists of— 


(1) a Chairperson; and 


(2) a Deputy Chairperson; and 


(3) a Secretary; and 


(4) a Treasurer; and 


(5) ordinary Ccommittee members elected under rule 521. 


4544 General Dduties 


(1) As soon as practicable after being elected or appointed to the Committee, each 
Ccommittee member must become familiar with these Rules and the Act. 


(2) The Committee is collectively responsible for ensuring that the Association 
complies with the Act and that individual members of the Committee comply with 
these Rules. 


(3) Committee members must exercise their powers and discharge their duties with 
reasonable care and diligence. 


(4) Committee members must exercise their powers and discharge their duties— 


(a) in good faith in the best interests of the Association; and 


(b) for a proper purpose. 


(5) Committee members and former Ccommittee members must not make improper 
use of— 


(a) their position; or 


(b) information acquired by virtue of holding their position— 


so as to gain an advantage for themselves or any other person or to cause detriment to 
the Association. 


Note 
See also Division 3 of Part 6 of the Act which sets out the general duties of the office holders of an 
incorporated association. 


(6) In addition to any duties imposed by these Rules, a Ccommittee member must 
perform any other duties imposed from time to time by resolution at a general 
meeting. 


4645 Chairperson 


(1) Subject to subrule (2), the Chairperson or, in the Chariperson's Chair’s absence, 
the Deputy Chairperson, is the Chairperson for any general meetings and for any 
Ccommittee meetings. 


(2) If the Chairperson and the Deputy Chairperson are both absent, or are unable to 
preside, the Chairperson of the meeting must be— 


(a) in the case of a general meeting—a member elected by the other members 
present; or 
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(b) in the case of a Ccommittee meeting—a Councillor Ccommittee member 
elected by the other Ccommittee members present. 


4746 Deputy Chairperson 


(1) The Deputy Chairperson must: 


(a) act as the Chairperson for any meeting from which the Chairperson is 
absent; and 


(b) assist the Chairperson in furthering the purpose of the Association. 


Example 
The Deputy Chairperson might accompany the Chairperson when attending stakeholder meetings with 
Ministers or others responsible for furthering the interests of the members. 


4847 Secretary 


(1) The Secretary must perform any duty or function required under the Act to be 
performed by the secretary of an incorporated association. 


Example 
Under the Act, the secretary of an incorporated association is responsible for lodging documents of the 
association with the Registrar. 


(2) The Secretary must— 


(a) maintain the register of members in accordance with rule 187; and 


(b) keep custody of the common seal (if any) of the Association and, except for 
the financial records referred to in rule 6970(3), all books, documents and 
securities of the Association in accordance with rules 721 and 754; and 


(c) subject to the Act and these Rules, provide members with access to the 
register of members, the minutes of general meetings and other books and 
documents; and 


(d) perform any other duty or function imposed on the Secretary by these Rules. 


(3) The Secretary must give to the Registrar notice of his or her appointment within 14 
days after the appointment. 


4948 Treasurer 


(1) The Treasurer must— 


(a) receive all moneys paid to or received by the Association and issue receipts 
for those moneys in the name of the Association; and 


(b) ensure that all moneys received are paid into the account of the Association 
within 5 working days after receipt; and 


(c) make any payments authorised by the Committee or by a general meeting of 
the Association from the Association's funds; and 


(d) ensure cheques are signed by at least 2 Ccommittee members. 


(2) The Treasurer must— 


(a) ensure that the financial records of the Association are kept in accordance 
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with the Act; and 


(b) coordinate the preparation of the financial statements of the Association and 
their certification by the Committee prior to their submission to the annual 
general meeting of the Association. 


(3) The Treasurer must ensure that at least one 1 other cCommittee member has 
access to the accounts and financial records of the Association. 


 


Division 3 — Election of Committee members and tenure of office 


5049 Committee member composition and term 


(1) The Committee is to be made up of: 


(a) six 6 CEOs (‘CEO Committee member’); and 


(b) six 6 Councillors (‘Councillor Committee member’). 


(2) A CEO Committee member holds office from the date of their election, to the date 
upon which the election of the next CEO Committee members is completed, in 
accordance with rule 521. 


(3) A Councillor Committee member holds office until they cease to be a Councillor or 
until the date upon which the election of the next Councillor Committees members 
is completed, in accordance with rule 51, whichever is earlier. 


(4) For the time between each Election Day and the appointment of new Councillor 
Committee members, in accordance with rule 521, the Committee is made up of 
only the CEO Committee members and those Councillor Committee members 
who remain eligible under rule 49(3). 


5150 Committee members based upon region 


(1) One 1 CEO member and one 1 Councillor Committee member will be elected from 
each of the six 6 Municipal Association of Victoria Regions (‘Regions’) listed in 
Schedule 2 by the Councils in that Region, in accordance with the process set out 
in rule 521. 


(2) The CEO member and Councillor Committee members appointed by each Region 
must hold their relevant position at a Council which is listed in the same Region. 


5251 Committee member elections 


(1) Within 10 weeks after each Election Day, the Committee must call for members 
listed in Schedule 1 to nominate eligible persons for election as CEO and 
Councillor Committee members. 


(2) Each member may only nominate CEOs and Councillors who hold an office of that 
member. 


(3) On the date 10 business days after the date on which nominations are called for in 
accordance with subrule (1), the time during which members may nominate 
persons for election as CEO and Councillor Committee members closes. 


(4) If, after the nominations close, there is only one 1 CEO and one 1 Councillor 
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nominated for a Region, those persons are elected to the relevant position on the 
Committee. 


(5) If the number of CEOs and/or Councillors nominated for a particular Region is 
greater than one1, a ballot must be conducted for that Region, in accordance with 
rule 532. 


5352 Ballot 


(1) If a ballot is required for the election for a CEO member or a Councillor Committee 
member position in a particular Region, the Committee, within 3 business days of 
nominations closing, must send to each of the members listed under that Region, 
an electronic ballot paperform. 


(2) The electronic ballot paper form must list each of the nominated persons for the 
relevant Committee position in that Region. 


(3) Each member provided with an electronic ballot paper form must within 10 
business days, mark it, indicatingselect the single person for whom they wishit 
wishes to vote, and return the ballot papersubmit the electronic ballot form to the 
Association. 


(4) Electronic Bballot papers forms that do not comply with subrule (3) are not to be 
counted. 


(5) Each electronic ballot paper form on which the name of a candidate has been 
marked selected counts as one 1 vote for that candidate. 


(6) The Committee must declare elected the candidate who received the most votes. 


(7) If the returning officer is unable to declare the result of an election under subrule 
(6) because 2 or more candidates received the same number of votes, the 
Committee must decide by lot which of them is to be declared elected. 


Examples 
The choice of candidate may be decided by the toss of a coin, drawing straws or drawing a name out of a 
hat. 


5453 Chairperson appointment meeting 


(1) Within one 1 month of the completion of the election of Committee members, a 
Chairperson appointment meeting must be held. 


(2) At the Chair Committee appointment meeting separate elections must be held for 
each of the following positions— 


(a) Chairperson; and 


(b) Deputy Chairperson; and 


(c) Secretary; and 


(d) Treasurer. 


(3) Only Councillor Committee members may be elected as Chairperson or Deputy 
Chairperson. 


(4) Only CEO Committee members may be elected as Secretary or Treasurer. 
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(5) If only one 1 member is nominated for the position, that person is elected to the 
position. 


(6) If more than one 1 member is nominated, a vote must be held, in accordance with 
this rule. 


(7) The vote is to be conducted by a show of hands of all the cCommittee members 
present at the meeting, each of whom is entitled to one 1 vote. 


(8) The cCommittee member for whom the most votes are cast will be elected to the 
relevant position. 


(9) If the vote does not produce a result of an election under subrule (8) because 2 or 
more candidates received the same number of votes, it will be decided by lot 
which of them is to be declared elected. 


Examples 
The choice of candidate may be decided by the toss of a coin, drawing straws or drawing a name out of a 
hat. 


(10) All appointments are made for a 2 year period. 


5554 Vacation of office 


(1) A Ccommittee member may resign from the Committee by written notice 
addressed to the Committee. 


(2) A person ceases to be a Ccommittee member if he or she— 


(a) ceases to be a CEO or Councillor of a member of the Association; or 


(b) in the case of a CEO Committee member, ceases to be a CEO of a member 
of the Association within the same Region from which they were elected; or 


(b)(c) fails to attend 3 consecutive Ccommittee meetings (other than special or 
urgent Ccommittee meetings) without leave of absence under rule 665; or 


(c)(d) otherwise ceases to be a Ccommittee member by operation of section 78 of 
the Act. 


Note 
A Committee member may not hold the office of secretary if they do not reside in Australia. 


5655 Filling casual vacancies 


(1) The Committee may appoint an eligible person under rule 50 49 to fill a position on 
the Committee that has become vacant under rule 554. 


(2) If the position of Chairperson, Deputy Chairperson, Secretary or Treasurer 
becomes vacant, the Committee must appoint a Committee member to the 
position within 14 days after the vacancy arises. 


(3) Rule 50 49 applies to any Ccommittee member appointed by the Committee under 
subrule (1) or (2). 


(4) The Committee may continue to act despite any vacancy in its membership. 


 


Division 4 — Meetings of Committee 
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5756 Meetings of Committee 


(1) The Committee must endeavour to meet once every month or with such other 
frequency as the Committee determines from time to time, provided that it meets 
at least 4 times in each year at the dates, times and places determined by the 
Committee. 


(2) The date, time and place of the first Ccommittee meeting must be determined by 
the members of the Committee as soon as practicable after the annual general 
meeting of the Association at which the members of the Committee were 
electedcompletion of the election of Committee members. 


(3) Special Ccommittee meetings may be convened by the Chairperson or by any 4 
members of the Committee. 


5857 Notice of meetings 


(1) Notice of each Ccommittee meeting must be given to each Ccommittee member 
no later than 7 days before the date of the meeting. 


(2) Notice may be given of more than one 1 Ccommittee meeting at the same time. 


(3) The notice must state the date, time and place of the meeting. 


(4) If a special committee Committee meeting is convened, the notice must include 
the general nature of the business to be conducted. 


(5) The only business that may be conducted at the meeting is the business for which 
the meeting is convened. 


5958 Urgent meetings 


(1) In cases of urgency, a meeting can be held without notice being given in 
accordance with rule 578 provided that as much notice as practicable is given to 
each cCommittee member by the quickest means practicable. 


(2) Any resolution made at the meeting must be passed by an absolute majority of the 
Committee. 


(3) The only business that may be conducted at an urgent meeting is the business for 
which the meeting is convened. 


6059 Procedure and order of business 


(1) The procedure to be followed at a meeting of a Committee must be determined 
from time to time by the Committee. 


(2) The order of business may be determined by the members present at the meeting. 


6160 Use of technology 


(1) A Ccommittee member who is not physically present at a Ccommittee meeting 
may participate in the meeting by the use of technology that allows that 
Ccommittee member and the Ccommittee members present at the meeting to 
clearly and simultaneously communicate with each other. 


(2) For the purposes of this Part, a Ccommittee member participating in a Ccommittee 
meeting as permitted under subrule (1) is taken to be present at the meeting and, 
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if the member votes at the meeting, is taken to have voted in person. 


6261 Quorum 


(1) No business may be conducted at a Committee meeting unless a quorum is 
present. 


(2) The quorum for a Ccommittee meeting is the presence (in person or as allowed 
under rule 610) of a majority of the Ccommittee members holding office. 


(3) If a quorum is not present within 30 minutes after the notified commencement time 
of a Ccommittee meeting— 


(a) in the case of a special meeting—the meeting lapses; 


(b) in any other case—the meeting must be adjourned to a date no later than 14 
days after the adjournment and notice of the time, date and place to which 
the meeting is adjourned must be given in accordance with rule 587. 


6362 Voting 


(1) On any question arising at a Ccommittee meeting, each cCommittee member 
present at the meeting has one 1 vote. 


(2) A motion is carried if a majority of Ccommittee members present at the meeting 
vote in favour of the motion. 


(3) Subrule (2) does not apply to any motion or question which is required by these 
Rules to be passed by an absolute majority of the Committee. 


(4) If votes are divided equally on a question, the Chairperson of the meeting has a 
second or casting vote. 


(5) A committee member may appoint another person as a proxy to vote and speak 
on its behalf at a general meeting, provided that a committee member who is a: 


(a) Councillor member may only appoint another Councillor of that member of 
the Association as a proxy; and 


(b) CEO member may only appoint another employee of that member of the 
Association as a proxy. 


6463 Conflict of interest 


(1) A Ccommittee member who has a material personal interest in a matter being 
considered at a Ccommittee meeting must disclose the nature and extent of that 
interest to the Committee. 


(2) The member— 


(a) must not be present while the matter is being considered at the meeting; and 


(b) must not vote on the matter. 


Note 
Under section 81(3) of the Act, if there are insufficient Ccommittee members to form a quorum because a 
member who has a material personal interest is disqualified from voting on a matter, a general meeting 
may be called to deal with the matter. 
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(3) This rule does not apply to a material personal interest— 


(a) that exists only because the member belongs to a class of persons for whose 
benefit the Association is established; or 


(b) that the member has in common with all, or a substantial proportion of, the 
members of the Association. 


6564 Minutes of meeting 


(1) The Committee must ensure that minutes are taken and kept of each Ccommittee 
meeting. 


(2) The minutes must record the following— 


(a) the names of the Committee members in attendance at the meeting; 


(b) the business considered at the meeting; 


(c) any resolution on which a vote is taken and the result of the vote; 


(d) any material personal interest disclosed under rule 643. 


6665 Leave of absence 


(1) The Committee may grant a Ccommittee member leave of absence from 
Ccommittee meetings for a period not exceeding 3 months. 


(2) The Committee must not grant leave of absence retrospectively unless it is 
satisfied that it was not feasible for the Ccommittee member to seek the leave in 
advance. 


6766 Committee Rresolution oOutside mMeeting 


(1) Where an urgent matter arises for decision and cannot be the subject of a Special 
Committee meeting, the wording of the proposed resolution may be circulated to 
all Ccommittee members by email. 


(2) The resolution is made by a majority of the Ccommittee members replying to that 
email indicating that they are in favour of it. 


(3) Such a resolution must be ratified by votes in person at the next Ccommittee 
meeting. 


(4) This rule should not be relied upon except in cases of urgency, where the 
Chairperson forms the view that the matter cannot properly be left until the next 
Ccommittee meeting. 


 


PART 6 — FINANCIAL MATTERS 


 


6867 Source of funds 


The funds of the Association may be derived from joining fees, annual subscriptions, 
donations, fund-raising activities, grants, interest and any other sources approved by the 
Committee. 
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6968 Management of funds 


(1) The Association must open an account with a financial institution from which all 
expenditure of the Association is made and into which all of the Association's 
revenue is deposited. 


(2) Subject to any restrictions imposed by a general meeting of the Association, the 
Committee may approve expenditure on behalf of the Association. 


(3) The Committee may authorise the Secretary to expend funds on behalf of the 
Association (including by electronic funds transfer) up to a specified limit without 
requiring approval from the Committee for each item on which the funds are 
expended. 


(4) All cheques, drafts, bills of exchange, promissory notes and other negotiable 
instruments must be signed by 2 cCommittee members. 


(5) All funds of the Association must be deposited into the financial account of the 
Association no later than 5 working days after receipt. 


(6) The Committee may maintain a cash float provided that all money paid from or 
paid into the float is accurately recorded at the time of the transaction. 


7069 Financial records 


(1) The Association must keep financial records that— 


(a) correctly record and explain its transactions, financial position and 
performance; and 


(b) enable financial statements to be prepared as required by the Act. 


(2) The Association must retain the financial records for 7 years after the transactions 
covered by the records are completed. 


(3) The Treasurer must keep in his or her custody, or under his or her control— 


(a) the financial records for the current financial year; and 


(b) any other financial records as authorised by the Committee. 


7170 Financial statements 


(1) For each financial year, the Committee must ensure that the requirements under 
the Act relating to the financial statements of the Association are met. 


(2) Without limiting subrule (1), those requirements include— 


(a) the preparation of the financial statements; 


(b) if required, the review or auditing of the financial statements; 


(c) the certification of the financial statements by the Committee; 


(d) the submission of the financial statements to the annual general meeting of 
the Association; 


(e) the lodgement with the Registrar of the financial statements and 
accompanying reports, certificates, statements and fee. 
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PART 7 — GENERAL MATTERS 


 


7271 Common seal 


(1) The Association may have a common seal. 


(2) If the Association has a common seal— 


(a) the name of the Association must appear in legible characters on the 
common seal; 


(b) a document may only be sealed with the common seal by the authority of the 
Committee and the sealing must be witnessed by the signatures of two 2 
Ccommittee members; 


(c) the common seal must be kept in the custody of the Secretary. 


7372 Registered address 


The registered address of the Association is— 


(1) the address determined from time to time by resolution of the Committee; or 


(2) if the Committee has not determined an address to be the registered address— 
the postal address of the Secretary. 


7473 Notice requirements 


(1) Any notice required to be given to a member or a Ccommittee member under 
these Rules may be given— 


(a) by handing the notice to the delegate of a member personally; or 


(b) by sending it by post to the member at the address recorded for the member 
on the register of members; or 


(c) by email or facsimile transmission to the delegate of the member. 


(2) Subrule (1) does not apply to notice given under rule 598. 


(3) Any notice required to be given to the Association or the Committee may be 
given— 


(a) by handing the notice to a member of the Committee; or 


(b) by sending the notice by post to the registered address; or 


(c) by leaving the notice at the registered address; or 


(d) if the Committee determines that it is appropriate in the circumstances— 


(i) by email to the email address of the Association or the Secretary; or 


(ii) by facsimile transmission to the facsimile number of the Association. 


7574 Custody and inspection of books and records 
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(1) Members may on request inspect free of charge— 


(a) the register of members; 


(b) the minutes of general meetings; 


(c) subject to subrule (2), the financial records, books, securities and any other 
relevant document of the Association, including minutes of Committee 
meetings. 


Note 
See note following rule 18 for details of access to the register of members. 


(2) The Committee may refuse to permit a member to inspect records of the 
Association that relate to confidential, personal, employment, commercial or legal 
matters or where to do so may be prejudicial to the interests of the Association. 


(3) The Committee must on request make copies of these rules available to members 
and applicants for membership free of charge. 


(4) Subject to subrule (2), a member may make a copy of any of the other records of 
the Association referred to in this rule and the Association may charge a 
reasonable fee for provision of a copy of such a record. 


(5) For purposes of this rule— 


relevant documents means the records and other documents, however 
compiled, recorded or stored, that relate to the incorporation and management of 
the Association and includes the following— 


(a) its membership records; 


(b) its financial statements; 


(c) its financial records; 


(d) records and documents relating to transactions, dealings, business or 
property of the Association. 


7675 Winding up and cancellation 


(1) The Association may be wound up voluntarily by special resolution. 


(2) In the event of the winding up or the cancellation of the incorporation of the 
Association, the surplus assets of the Association must not be distributed to any 
members or former members of the Association. 


(3) Subject to the Act and any court order made under section 133 of the Act, the 
surplus assets must be given to a body that has similar purposes to the 
Association and which is not carried on for the profit or gain of its individual 
members. 


(4) The body to which the surplus assets are to be given must be decided by special 
resolution. 


7776 Alteration of Rules 


These Rules may only be altered by special resolution of a general meeting of the 
Association. 
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Note 
An alteration of these Rules does not take effect unless or until it is approved by the Registrar. If these 
Rules (other than rule 1, 2 or 3) are altered, the Association is taken to have adopted its own rules, not 
the model rules. 
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Schedule 1 — Eligible Members 


 


 Alpine Shire Council 


 Ararat Rural City Council 


 Bass Coast Shire Council 


 Baw Baw Shire Council 


 Benalla Rural City Council 


 Buloke Shire Council 


 Campaspe Shire Council 


 Central Goldfields Shire Council 


 Colac Otway Shire Council 


 Corangamite Shire Council 


 East Gippsland Shire Council 


 Gannawarra Shire Council 


 Glenelg Shire Council 


 Golden Plains Shire Council 


 Hepburn Shire Council 


 Hindmarsh Shire Council 


 Indigo Shire Council 


 Loddon Shire Council 


 Macedon Ranges Shire Council 


 Mansfield Shire Council 


 Mitchell Shire Council 


 Moira Shire Council 


 Moorabool Shire Council 


 Mount Alexander Shire Council 


 Moyne Shire Council 


 Murrindindi Shire Council 


 Northern Grampians Shire Council 


 Pyrenees Shire Council 


 Borough of Queenscliffe 


 South Gippsland Shire Council 


 Southern Grampians Shire Council 


 Strathbogie Shire Council 


 Surf Coast Shire Council 


 Swan Hill Rural City Council 


 Towong Shire Council 


 Wellington Shire Council 


 West Wimmera Shire Council 


 Yarriambiack Shire Council 
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Schedule 2 — Municipal Association of Victoria Regions 


 


Rural south-west Ararat Rural City Council  Colac Otway Shire Council 


Corangamite Shire Council  Glenelg Shire Council 


Moyne Shire Council    Southern Grampians Shire Council 


 


Rural north-central: Campaspe Shire Council  Central Goldfields Shire Council  


Gannawarra Shire Council   Loddon Shire Council 


Macedon Ranges Shire Council  Mount Alexander Shire Council 


 


Rural south-central: Golden Plains Shire Council  Hepburn Shire Council 


Moorabool Shire Council  Pyrenees Shire Council 


Borough of Queenscliffe  Surf Coast Shire Council 


 


Rural north-west: Buloke Shire Council    Hindmarsh Shire Council 


 Northern Grampians Shire Council Swan Hill Rural City Council 


 West Wimmera Shire Council   Yarriambiack Shire Council 


 


Gippsland: Bass Coast Shire Council   Baw Baw Shire Council 


East Gippsland Shire Council  South Gippsland Shire Council 


Wellington Shire Council 


 


Rural north-east:  Alpine Shire Council    Benalla Rural City Council 


Indigo Shire Council    Mansfield Shire Council 


Mitchell Shire Council    Moira Shire Council 


Murrindindi Shire Council   Strathbogie Shire Council 


Towong Shire Council 








 


 


PROPOSED CHANGES TO RULES OF INCORPORATION 
 


Rule (using existing rule 


numbering) 


Proposed change Rationale 


2 


Purposes 


The purposes of the association are to— 


(1) heighten awareness and understanding of issues that impact on rural 


communities; 


(2) assist with building the capacity of rural councils to face challenges; 


(3) provide leadership on local governance; 


(4) develop and support rural councils; and 


(5) develop policy and advocate for rural councils. 


The purposes of the Association are to– 


(1) Promote a collective voice for rural councils and provide an avenue for 


engagement with State and Federal governments; 


(2) Heighten awareness and understanding of issues that impact on rural 


communities; 


(3) Build the capacity of rural councils to face current and future challenges 


and provide effective and sustainable services; 


(4) Develop and advocate for policies, strategies and initiatives to improve 


outcomes for rural Councils and their communities; and 


(5) Provide leadership on local governance. 


The current purposes of the association do 


not encompass the scope of the work that 


RCV is undertaking. The proposed purposes 


have a great focus on outcomes for rural 


communities, as well as rural councils. 


4 


Definitions 


associate member means a member referred to in rule 14(1); Associate memberships have been removed. 


All references to associate memberships have 


been deleted/ changed throughout the 


document. 


Chairperson of a general meeting or committee meeting, means the person 


chairing the meeting as required under rule 46; 


To reflect the modern accepted term of Chair. 


All references to Chairperson have been 


changed throughout the document. 







 


Chairperson appointment meeting means a meeting of all of the of the 


CEOsCommittee members, in accordance with rule 53; 


The Chair is appointed by all committee 


members, not solely the CEO members. 


special resolution means a resolution that requires not less than three 


quarters of the members voting at a general meeting, whether in person or 


by proxy, to vote in favour of the resolution; 


Member Councils nominate a delegate for 


each general meeting who must attend in 


person, so do not require a proxy. 


5 


Powers of Association 


(a) raise and borrow money on any terms and in any manner as it thinks fit; RCV does not borrow money. 


(e) secure the repayment of money raised or borrowed, or the payment of a 


debt or liability; 


RCV does not borrow money. 


8 


Who is eligible to be a 


member 


(1) Subject to subrule (02) oOnly Councils located in the State of Victoria 


and listed in Schedule 1 are eligible for membership. 


Subrule (2) has been deleted to remove 


references to associate members. 


(2) Any other person who is approved by the Committee (at its absolute 


discretion) in accordance with rule 63 14 is eligible for associate 


membership. 


Associate membership has been removed. 


References to persons, he, she, they and 


whom have been changed throughout the 


document. 


9 


Application for members 


(a) must be signed by the CEO of the applicant; and To clarify who must sign the application for 


membership. 


12 


Annual subscription and 


fee on joining 


(2) The Association may determine that a higher or lower annual 


subscription is payable by associate members. 


Associate membership has been removed. 


13 


General rights of 


members 


(a) The member is a member other than an associate member; and Associate membership has been removed. 


14 


Associate members 


(1) Associate members of the Association include any members who are not 


listed in Schedule 1 to these Rules; 


(2) An associate member must not vote but may have other rights as 


determined by the Committee or by resolution at a general meeting. 


Associate membership has been removed. 


18 


Register of members 


(iv) if the member is an associate member, a note to that effect; Associate membership has been removed. 


29 


Annual general meetings 


(c) To elect the members of the Committee; Committee members are not elected at AGMs, 


but through the Committee election process 







 


34 


Delegates 


(2) Appointment of a delegate must be notified to the Committee in writing 


at least 24 hours before a general meeting. 


To ensure proper governance of the delegate 


appointment process. 


(3) A delegate, once appointed, will remain as the delegate until a member 


appoints a new delegate and notifies the Committee of that 


appointment. 


The alternate delegate provision has proven 


confusing and difficult to administer. It is 


considered more efficient for each council to 


nominate a delegate for each meeting. 


(4) A member may appoint another Councillor or employee of that Council 


as an alternate delegate to vote and speak on its behalf at a general 


meeting. 


As above. 


(5) The appointment of an alternate delegate must be in writing and signed 


by the CEO member making the appointment. 


As above. 


(6) The member appointing the alternate delegate may give specific 


directions as to how the alternate delegate is to vote on his or her 


behalf, otherwise the alternate delegate may vote on behalf of the 


member in any matter as he or she sees fit. 


As above. 


(7) If the Committee has approved a form for the appointment of an 


alternate delegate, the member may use any other form that clearly 


identifies the person appointed as the member's alternate delegate and 


that has been signed by the member. 


As above. 


(8) Notice of a general meeting given to a member under rule 33 must state 


that the member must appoint another member as an alternate 


delegate for the meetinga delegate in accordance with subrules (1) and 


(2).; and 


(a) include a copy of any form that the Committee has approved for 


the appointment of an alternate delegate. 


As above. 


(9) A form appointing an alternate delegate must be given to the 


Chairperson of the meeting before or at the commencement of the 


meeting. 


As above. 


(10) A form appointing an alternate delegate sent by post or electronically is 


of no effect unless it is received by the Association no later than 24 


As above. 







 


hours before the commencement of the meeting. 


(11) Notice of appointment of an alternative delegate does not affect the 


continued appointment of the delegate originally notified to the 


Committee. 


As above. 


36 


Quorum at general 


meetings 


(2) The quorum for a general meeting is the presence (physically, by 


delegate or alternate delegate of over 50% of the members delegates 


entitled to vote. 


As above. 


37 


Adjournment of general 


meeting 


(1) The Chairperson of a general meeting at which a quorum is present may, 


with the consent of a majority of members delegates present at the 


meeting, adjourn the meeting to another time at the same place or at 


another place. 


To clarify that it is member delegates who are 


present at the meeting. 


38 


Voting at general 


meeting 


(a) Members may vote by their delegates or by alternate delegate; and The provision for alternate delegates has been 


removed. 


39 


Special resolutions 


A special resolution is passed if not less than three quarters of the members 


delegates voting at a general meeting (whether in person or by alternate 


delegate) vote in favour of the resolution. 


The provision for alternate delegates has been 


removed. 


41 


Minutes of general 


meeting 


(b) alternate delegate forms given to the Chairperson of the meeting under 


rule 34(8); and 


 


The provision for alternate delegates has been 


removed. 


42 


Role and powers 


(c) The Committee may— establish subcommittees with terms of reference it 


considers appropriate. 


appoint and remove staff; and 


(6)(2) establish subcommittees consisting of members with terms of reference 


it considers appropriate. 


 


RCV does not employ staff. 


43 


Delegation 


(1) The Committee may delegate to a member of the Committee or, a 


subcommittee or staff, any of its powers and functions other than— 


RCV does not employ staff. 


46 


Chairperson 


(b) in the case of a committee meeting—a Councillor committee member 


elected by the other committee members present. 


Only Councillors can fulfil the role of Chair. 







 


52 


Committee member 


elections 


(1) Within 10 weeks after each Election Day, the Committee must call for 


member Councils listed in Schedule 1 to nominate eligible persons for 


election as CEO and Councillor committee members. 


Schedule 1 lists eligible member Councils, and 


is not a list of actual member Councils. 


(3) On the date 10 business days after the date on which nominations are 


called for in accordance with subrule (1), the time during which 


members may nominate persons for election as CEO and Councillor 


Committee members closes. 


To clarify that the process is for Committee 


member elections. 


53 


Ballot 


(1) If a ballot is required for the election for a CEO member or a Councillor 


member position in a particular Region, the Committee, within 3 


business days of nominations closing, must send to each of the 


members listed under that Region, a ballot paperan electronic ballot 


form. 


Grammatical change. 


To clarify that ballot processes will be 


conducted electronically to ensure proper 


governance of the ballot process. 


(2) The ballot paperelectronic ballot form must list each of the nominated 


persons for the relevant Committee position in that Region. 


As above. 


(3) Each member provided with a ballot paperan electronic ballot form must 


within 10 business days, mark it, indicatingselect the single person for 


whom they wish to vote, and return the ballot paper to the Association 


and submit the electronic ballot form. 


As above. 


(4) Ballot papers Electronic ballot forms that do not comply with subrule (3) 


are not to be counted. 


As above. 


(5) Each ballot paperelectronic ballot form on which the name of a 


candidate has been marked selected counts as one vote for that 


candidate. 


As above. 


54 


Chairperson appointment 


meeting 


(2) At the Committee Chair appointment meeting separate elections must 


be held for each of the following positions— 


To clarify that the meeting is a Chair 


appointment meeting. See Division 3 for 


explanation of committee member election 


process. 


(4) Only CEO members may be elected as Secretary or Treasurer. To clarify that the Treasurer role can only be 


fulfilled by a CEO member. 







 


(10) All appointments are made for a 2 year period.  To set a term appointment period for office 


bearers. 


55 


Vacation of office 


(3) in the case of a CEO Committee member, ceases to be a CEO of a 


member of the Association within the same Region from which they 


were elected; or 


To clarify the circumstances in which a CEO 


ceases to be a Committee member. 


57 


Meetings of Committee 


(2) The date, time and place of the first committee meeting must be 


determined by the members of the Committee as soon as practicable 


after the annual general meeting of the Association at which the 


members of the Committee were electedcompletion of the election of 


committee members. 


Committee members are not elected at 


annual general meetings. See Division 3 for 


explanation of committee member election 


process. 


63 


Voting 


(5) A committee member may appoint another person as a proxy to vote 


and speak on its behalf at a general meeting, provided that a committee 


member who is a: 


(a) Councillor member may only appoint another Councillor of that 


member of the Association as a proxy; and 


(b) CEO member may only appoint another employee of that member 


of the Association as a proxy. 


A committee member who is absent from a 


committee meeting relinquishes their right to 


vote. 


Various Minor punctuation, formatting and spacing changes. To ensure consistency throughout the 


document. 
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A Three Priority Process to Achieve International 
Heritage Recognition and Strengthen the Economy 
of an Iconic Region: the Central Victorian Gold�elds.
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� � �� � � 
 � �� �
Recognise the Central Victorian Gold�elds 
as Australia's Premier National Heritage Region 
and drive the economic regeneration of the region


� � �� � � 
 � �� �
Establish the case for a Serial Listing of selected places, sites, 
buildings and artefacts in the Central Victorian Gold�elds 
for World Heritage Listing 


� � �� � � 
 � �� �
Work with the Federal Government and State Government to submit 
the Serial Listing of the Central Victorian Gold�elds to UNESCO for 
World Heritage Listing and capitalise on its unique assets


Artwork by Travis Price. Photo by Chippy Rivera. (Ballarat 2018). 







� � � �	 �� � � � � � � �� � � � � � �
The �nancial bene�ts to the region of World Heritage Listing has 
been identi�ed as up to $68 million each year in added income 
which will �ow to jobs and local economies. It is estimated that for 
every 1% increase in tourism in the Central Victorian Gold�elds 
Region $11M is added to the regional economy.


Each step in the project will assist in diversifying our economy 
and strengthening our communities, enhancing civic pride and 
providing opportunities to work together to build our region. 
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Australia’s Premier National Heritage Region project is a 
collaborative partnership between 13 local governments, 
regional organisations, communities, academia and the 
private sector to build on one of the region’s major strengths. 
The whole project is designed to recognise and celebrate a 
unique history, heritage, character and experience, assist in 
driving the economic regeneration of the region, and build 
community pride and understanding.


The ultimate goal is a World Heritage serial listing of the 
Central Victorian Gold�elds. 


A serial listing embraces a carefully curated systematic 
collection of places, sites, buildings and artefacts located on 
public land from across the region which collectively expresses 
the narrative of one of the remarkable eras in world history. 


BUILD TOURISM AND ECONOMIC REGENERATION 
EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITIES THROUGH RECOGNISING 
AND LEVERAGING OUR UNIQUE GOLDFIELDS HERITAGE


COMPLETE COMPREHENSIVE FIRST-STAGE 
RESEARCH FOR A WORLD HERITAGE LISTING BID 
DEVELOPMENT AND LAUNCH 


2 -YEAR PROJECT
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The central Victorian gold�elds are home to ½ million people 
across a diverse range of regional and rural settings. The 
regional opportunity of leveraging our unique gold�elds 
heritage through a World Heritage serial listing is increased 
awareness, visitation, and liveability of the entire Central 
Victorian Gold�elds region, through partnership opportunities 
and joined-up government projects. 
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The case for UNESCO World Heritage listing is clear -  the 
global rush for gold changed the world forever. The Central 
Victorian Gold�elds played a major part in this 
never-before-seen wave of globalisation and modernisation.1  
This legacy is still strongly and uniquely represented across the 
whole region today.


1 Fayad, S., Buckley, K., [forthcoming]


Con�dence
Multiculturalism
Parliamentary democracy
Industrial innovation
New global economy
Trade unionism
Making Marvellous Melbourne
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Malmsbury 1907, SLV.







� � � � � �� � �� � � �� � � �� � � �� �
Leverage our unique gold�elds 
heritage and capitalise on existing 
strengths to position the Central 
Victorian Gold�elds as Australia’s 
Premier National Heritage Region.
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Strengthen the economy through 


 creating employment 
  Enhance pro�le and reputation
  Attract private sector investment 


 to the region


� �     � � �
 �
Enhance civic pride
Provide opportunities for      


      communities to work together on                   
  gold�elds heritage-related projects


Enhance liveability for locals with 
 increased social and economic 
 opportunities


Share the rich stories of the gold�elds
Provide opportunities for learning  


 and education assets
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Improve conservation of and         


 regenerate unique heritage assets,  
 streetscapes and historic places


Each step in the World Heritage 
Listing nomination process will 
add value by building awareness of 
and better promoting the Central 
Victorian Gold�elds Region as a 
premier destination, driving 
increased visitation, economic 
growth and job creation.


� � �� � �� �� � � � � � �
The Central Victorian Gold�elds 
Region is home to unique and 
rich heritage assets and has an 
unrealised potential to be 
developed as a premier 
destination for international and 
domestic tourists. The region 
needs to diversify its regional and 
local economy and address low 
income levels and limited 
employment opportunities 
among many communities. 
Investment in this regional asset 
is especially important to small 
Councils who are the custodians 
of substantial and ageing 
heritage assets but are limited by 
restricted income and revenue 
sources.
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� � � � �   ��
 Partnership – joined up government 


  and joined up resources
 Signi�cantly increase investment  


  into the region, strengthening and  
  diversifying local and regional   
  economies


 Create jobs in the visitor economy, 
  especially youth jobs


  Increase tourism visitation and   
   spend (local and international) and  
  build new experiences


 Regeneration – built, cultural and 
  natural environment, local   
  economies


Ararat 1880, SLV.


'Daylesford. Panning for Gold.' 1969, photograph by J.T. Collins (SLV).


S.T. Gill 1869, SLV.


We need to �nd ways to diversify
and strengthen our local and 
regional economies
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13 Councils with City of Ballarat, 
City of Greater Bendigo, Central Gold�elds 
Shire Council and Mt Alexander Shire taking the lead.
Heritage Victoria
Parks Victoria
National Trust of Australia, Victoria
Regional Partnerships - Central Highlands 
and Loddon-Campaspe
Regional Development Australia (RDA) -
Grampians and Loddon Mallee
Regional Development Victoria
Victorian Gold�elds Tourism 
Private Industry
Researchers, Universities and professional
heritage bodies


Craig Niemann
CEO, City of Greater Bendigo
c.niemann@bendigo.vic.gov.au  |  03 5434 6106


Justine Linley
CEO, City of Ballarat
justinelinley@ballarat.vic.gov.au  |  03 5320 5527  
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  Co-contribution from local governments, regional    
 stakeholders and State Government to deliver the    
 outcome, when delivered through this model


  It is strategically aligned in local, state and federal    
 strategies


  It focusses on leveraging World Heritage listing from the   
 start by building on UNESCO’s own Historic Urban    
 Landscape (HUL) approach that is being piloted in the   
 City of Ballarat. This model works by aligning social and   
 economic development goals with the goals of conservation.  
 With its focus on broader economic and social bene�ts, the   
 gold�elds region will bene�t greatly from the World Heritage  
 Listing bid journey, even if World Heritage Listing status isn’t   
 ultimately achieved.


  It is focussed on region-wide regeneration - building the 
 visitor experience, the local and regional economy 
 and local pride.


  It has a strong focus on community and stakeholder 
 engagement, including special-interest groups such as   
 Registered Aboriginal Parties, the gold mining industry,   
 prospectors, academics, researchers, universities, tourism   
 industry and historical groups.


HIGH-PROFILE PROJECT CHAMPIONS


Multi-partner, high-level
PROJECT STEERING COMMITTEE


COMMUNICATIONS +
STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT


MUNICIPAL
 REFERENCE GROUP


WORLD HERITAGE 
BID PROJECT MANAGER


Industry +
stakeholder reference


groups


Local government +
local community 


focus groups


Working parties,
consultancies,
universities + 


support resources


� � � �� � � � � � � �� � �� �� � � � � �


� � � �� � �
$400,000 – Government 
$220,000 – Regional
$100,000 – Municipal
$  50,000 – Other regional stakeholders  


To bring the business case up-to-date
To build the brand 
To scope the Central Gold�eld’s Outstanding Universal Value
To scope the Central Gold�eld’s unique selling proposition 


 � � � � � � � �� � �� � �
 � � �� 
 � 
 � � �and drawing power of World 
 Heritage Listing and partnering to achieve success is core  
 to the model. It focusses on joined-up resources and  
 strategically aligned economic regeneration across 13  
 local government areas and �ve regional organisations.


 � 
 �� �� � 
 
� � � � � 
 �� � �� � � ��� � 
� � �� � � To get the greatest   
 bene�t it is crucial that the World Heritage bid is not  
 siloed to individual organisations and has strong shared  
 local and regional buy-in, support and leadership.


 The World Heritage serial listing model is based on the 
 Cornwall West Devon Mining Landscape which involved  
 listing ten distinct and highly signi�cant areas to form a  
 region of heritage signi�cance. The project and the   
 process ensures the � � 
 � � � �� � � �� � �� � � � � 
 � �


Bacchus Marsh 1908, SLV





